
Cancer Institute NSW
Australian Technology Park 

Biomedical Building 
Suite 101, 1 Central Avenue 

Eveleigh NSW 2015
Australia

PO Box 41
Alexandria NSW 1435
Tel: + 61 2 8374 5600
Fax: + 61 2 8374 5700

Email: information@cancerinstitute.org.au
Web: www.cancerinstitute.org.au

Service and business hours: 8.30am – 5.00pm

Quitline: 13 7848 (13 QUIT)

BreastScreen NSW: 13 2050
info@bsnsw.org.au

Cervical Screening: 13 1556
cervicalscreening@cancerinstitute.org.au

Bowel Screening: 1800 118 868
(National Bowel Cancer Screening Program Information Line)

C
ancer Institute N

SW
 A

nnual R
epo

rt 2009 
T

he cancer jo
urney

Prevention

Screening

Data  
collection

Patient care
Research

Cure

ANNUAL REPORT 2009

The cancer journey

!



Contents

Overview
1 The cancer journey 
2 About the Cancer Institute NSW 
4 Our highlights 
5 Chairperson’s report 
6 CEO and Chief Cancer Officer’s report 
8 Overview of financial performance 
10 Financial highlights 
11 Where we operate

Our divisions
12 Preventing cancer    
16 Detecting cancer early 
20  Improving services and education 
24  Accelerating improvements through research
28 Relevant cancer information for the people of NSW

Our support
32 Information technology 
33 Communication 
34 Finance and administration

Our management and staff
35 Organisational structure 
36 Corporate governance 
38 Board of the Cancer Institute NSW 
40 Our Executive Team 
42 Our people 
46  Our business processes

Financial report
50 Understanding our financials 
51 Cancer Institute NSW 
87 Cancer Institute Division 
113 Appendixes 
129 Glossary 
130 Index 

Legislation administered 
Cancer Institute (NSW) Act 2003

Cancer Institute NSW catalogue number: IR-2009-01

National Library of Australia Cataloguing-in-Publication data:

Cancer Institute NSW Annual Report 2009

State Health Publication Number: (CI) 090200

ISSN: 1836-134X

Key words: Cancer, New South Wales, Australia.

Suggested citation for manuscripts and publications: 
Cancer Institute NSW Annual Report 2009. Cancer Institute NSW, Sydney, 
October 2009

Published by the Cancer Institute NSW, October 2009.

Further copies of this publication can be downloaded from:

www.cancerinstitute.org.au/publications

Cancer Institute NSW 
Australian Technology Park 
Biomedical Building 
Suite 101, 1 Central Avenue 
EVELEIGH NSW 2015

PO Box 41 Alexandria NSW 1435

Telephone (02) 8374 5600 
Facsimile (02) 8374 5700 
Homepage www.cancerinstitute.org.au 
Email information@cancerinstitute.org.au 
Emails sent to this address are forwarded to the 
appropriate person for action.

Copyright © Cancer Institute NSW October 2009. 
This work is copyright. It may be reproduced in whole  
or part for study or training purposes subject to the  
inclusion of acknowledgement of the source.  
It may not be reproduced for commercial usage or sale.  
Reproduction for purposes other than those indicated 
above requires written permission from the Cancer Institute NSW.

The Honourable Barbara Perry, MP 
Minister for Local Government 
Minister Assisting the Minister for Health (Mental Health and Cancer) 
Governor Macquarie Tower 
Level 33, 1  Farrer Place, SYDNEY NSW 2000

 
30 October 2009

 
Dear Minister,

We have pleasure in submitting the Cancer Institute NSW Annual Report 
2009 for presentation to the Parliament of New South Wales in accordance 
with the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984.

This report summarises our performance for 2008–09 against our  
objectives and targets set out in the NSW Cancer Plan 2007–10. It also 
includes our corporate governance processes, comments on our financial 
results and discusses the year ahead.

We commend to you this report on the progress being achieved in the 
cure and control of cancer in NSW.

Dr Helen Zorbas Prof Rob Sanson-Fisher AO  
MBBS FASBP MAICD BPsyc MPsych PhD FAPS

Acting Chairperson  Acting Chief Cancer Officer and 
Board of the Cancer Institute NSW Chief Executive Officer 
 Cancer Institute NSW
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Cancer touches us all. With the current lifetime risk of being 
diagnosed with cancer at one in two for men and one in three 
for women, most people have a story to tell about a loved one, 
a friend, a colleague or their personal cancer journey. 

In our own cancer journey, we are dedicated to working alongside 
doctors, nurses, researchers, policy makers, funders, academics, 
patients, carers and survivors; giving them the tools and information 
they need to control and cure cancer in New South Wales. 

We give advice and information about preventing cancer; manage 
services for early detection screening programs; fund cancer 

nurses and doctors; fund researchers and set new agendas  
for research priorities; and report data about cancer in NSW 
to inform future policy and health planning.

Cancer is now the largest cause of disease in Australia, surpassing 
cardiovascular disease. In 2007, 361,041 people were diagnosed  
with cancer in NSW and 13,241 died from the disease. Based  
on current trends, it is projected there will be over 30 per cent 
more cases of cancer in the next 10 years.

A cure for cancer has never been as urgent for the people of 
NSW than it is today.

The cancer journey
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Our funding

Key statistics
 2007–08 2008–09 % +/–

People diagnosed with cancer in NSW  35,159* 36,041** +2.5%

Cancer deaths in NSW 13,124* 13,241** +0.9%

Income (million) 138.7  150.6 +8.6%

Expenditure (million) 135.5 145.0 +7.0%

Quit smoking expenditure (million) 11.8 14.1 +19.5%

Smoking rate in NSW 18.6 18.4 –0.2%

Women attending BreastScreen NSW (two-yearly) 401,228 407,397 +1.5%

Women having a Pap tests for cervical screening (two-yearly) 1,177,830 1,163,874 –1.2%

Number of staff employed 148 131 –11.5%

* Tracey et al. Cancer in NSW: Incidence and Mortality 2006. Sydney: Cancer Institute NSW, November 2008 ** Latest data from 2007 (Central Cancer Registry)
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About the Cancer Institute NSW

Who we are and what we do
The Cancer Institute NSW is Australia’s first statewide, 
government-supported cancer control agency.  

We were established six years ago by the NSW Government 
and supported unanimously by the NSW Parliament under the 
Cancer Institute (NSW) Act 2003. 

We are committed to curing cancer in NSW through promoting 
the best cancer prevention, early-detection, treatment and 
education initiatives, and research. 

Our goal is to substantially improve cancer control in NSW by:

f reducing the incidence of cancer in the community

f increasing the survival rate of cancer patients

f improving quality of life for cancer patients and their carers

f operating as a source of expertise on cancer control for the 
 government’s health service providers, medical researchers  
 and the general community.

How we control cancer in NSW
In 2006, the Cancer Institute NSW released the NSW Cancer 
Plan 2007–2010: a blueprint to assist all people who are 
working to improve the cancer burden in NSW.  From the 
Cancer Plan, our priorities of cancer control in NSW are:

f preventing cancer

f detecting cancer early

f improving cancer services

f accelerating improvement through cancer research

f providing relevant cancer data and information.

The Cancer Institute NSW programs also align with two 
measures in the NSW State Plan and quarterly progress 
reports are provided to the NSW State Government:

f Priority S2: Improve survival rates and quality of life 
 for people with potentially fatal or chronic illness through  
 improvements in health care.

f Priority F3: Opportunity and support for the most vulnerable.

Our vision is to control and cure cancer in NSW

Our stakeholders

Our main objective is to alleviate the burden of cancer for the people of NSW, who are our stakeholders. 

We work with cancer patients, carers, family and friends, survivors, medical practitioners, researchers, NSW Health, the NSW 
Government and Ministers, national bodies, universities and teaching hospitals.

The Cancer Institute NSW has engaged NSW cancer charities in discussions on non-intrusive ways in which the Cancer Institute 
NSW can facilitate and assist them in strengthening their positions in the public fundraising market. In accordance with the Cancer 
Institute (NSW) Act 2003 we keep a voluntary register of cancer charities who meet specific criteria. This information is published 
on the Cancer Institute NSW website. We also have a five-year memorandum of understanding with The Cancer Council NSW. 

Our people
At 30 June 2009, we employed 131 people (permanent/
fixed term) (148 in 2008) in a variety of roles. Our offices are 
located at the Australian Technology Park in Eveleigh, NSW.

Benchmarking
We use the most up-to-date data from sources such as the 
Australian Institute of Health and Welfare to benchmark our 
programs. However, the data is often two or more years 
out of date. The most recent data published for cancer 
incidence is 2005 and for smoking prevalence is 2007. Where 
benchmarking is possible, it is discussed throughout this report. 
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Our history

Key challenges and trends The number of cases of 
cancer is increasing as our population grows and ages. Cancer  
is the largest cause of premature death in our community.

Cancer incidence rates per 100,000 people are expected 
to increase and mortality rates to decrease by 2011. As the 
risk of cancer increases with age, there is expected to be a 
proportionately greater increase in the number of new cases 
due to the aging of the NSW population along with increases 
due to population growth. Numbers of cancer deaths are also 
projected to increase slightly, despite the decreasing mortality 
rate, due to population growth in higher risk age groups.

Increasing numbers of cancers, coupled with increased survival, 
places an additional burden on our health system necessitating 
careful resource planning to meet this demand.

The Cancer Institute NSW is leading the challenge in NSW to 
control and cure cancer through objectives set out in the NSW 
Cancer Plan. 

Our governance The Cancer Institute NSW is a statutory 
body governed by the Cancer Institute NSW Board (page 38) 
appointed by the Minister for Health and the Minister Assisting 
the Minister for Health (Cancer).

Our organisational structure
The Cancer Institute NSW comprises five divisions:

• Cancer Prevention Division (page 12)

• Cancer Screening Division (page 16)

• Cancer Services and Education Division (page 20)

• Cancer Research Division (page 24)

• Cancer Information and Registries Division (page 28).

These divisions are supported by the Finance, Human 
Resources, Information Technology and Communication teams.

This report details our achievements and progress in the 
control of cancer and our goal to find a cure for the many 
cancers that affect the NSW community.

JUNE  
2003

JULY  
2003

 
2004

 
2006

 
2007

 
2008 

 
2009

NSW Parliament 
unanimously passes 
the Cancer Institute 
(NSW) Act 2003.

The Cancer Institute 
NSW is established as 
a response to the Act 

and the need to further 
decrease the devastating 

impact of cancer in 
NSW.

We create 
Australia’s first state 

cancer plan, the 
NSW Cancer Plan 

2004–06.

The first cancer plan is 
successfully completed 
and delivers major 
improvements in 

reducing smoking rates; 
improving screening 

services; providing new 
staff and technology in 
hospitals; and increasing 
cancer research in NSW.

We release the 
NSW Cancer Plan 

2007–2010.

Founding Chief 
Cancer Officer, 
Professor Jim 

Bishop takes on 
a new challenge 
as Chief Medical 
Officer for the 

Commonwealth.

The Cancer Institute 
NSW has been controlling 
cancer in NSW for five 

years.  We set up the 
NSW Clinical Trials Business 

Development Centre.
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14
The Public Health 

(Tobacco) Bill, protecting 
children and young people 
from tobacco, became law 

on 1 July 2009. 
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The highlights

26
We introduced a new 
grant scheme – the Future 
Research Leaders – to 
attract up-and-coming  
high calibre researchers  
to NSW. 

18
We established a  

state-of-the-art digital 
reading room for 

BreastScreen NSW. 

44
We conducted our first 
staff satisfaction survey. 

22
The first Academic Chair  

in Cancer Nursing for 
NSW was appointed.

45
We successfully launched 
a reward and recognition 
program among staff. 
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Changing of the guard In April 2009, founding Chief 
Cancer Officer and CEO, Professor Jim Bishop AO, was 
appointed Chief Medical Officer for the Commonwealth of 
Australia. Jim was one of the main driving forces in establishing 
the Cancer Institute NSW and his dedication to cancer 
control saw the organisation grow to be at the forefront of 
cancer prevention, early detection, innovation, research and 
information in NSW.  We will miss his passion for excellence  
as he takes on a broader challenge for Australia.

We would like to acknowledge and thank Laureate Professor 
Rob Sanson-Fisher AO, for stepping into the role in an acting 
capacity pending the announcement of a permanent appointee 
following an extensive recruitment process. Professor Sanson-
Fisher’s service to the Cancer Institute NSW and to cancer 
control is greatly appreciated.

Cancer control in NSW In six short years the Cancer 
Institute NSW has influenced cancer control in New South 
Wales and has demonstrated leadership nationally. The experience 
gained during this time will provide impetus to further impact: 
cancer prevention and early detection, innovation in cancer 
research and deliver evidenced-based care. The successful 
outcomes provide a solid platform to build on and improve 
cancer control in NSW and a tangible way to measure our 
success into the future.

Tougher new laws in tobacco control We were 
very pleased to be part of the development of new policy 
on tobacco control by the NSW Government. The Public 
Health (Tobacco) Bill, a comprehensive legislative package 
for protecting children and young people from tobacco, was 
introduced to NSW Parliament in September 2008. The Public 
Health (Tobacco) Act 2008 and the Public Health (Tobacco) 
Regulation 2009 came into effect on 1 July 2009. These new 
laws place NSW in the forefront of tobacco control in Australia.

While other jurisdictions have some of these reforms in place, 
NSW has introduced a strong legislative package to further 
reduce smoking rates in this state.

The patient experience The role of the cancer patient 
in forming improvements in cancer care is crucial. Consumers 
can use the knowledge and experience they gained through 
treatment to advance the delivery of health care for cancer 
patients. At the Cancer Institute NSW, we value the experiences 
of consumers in informing our work, including through 
representation on the Board and also in our committees.

In 2007, we took this a step further by introducing a cancer 
patient survey in NSW. We were very pleased to be able to 
repeat this in 2008 to start to benchmark our cancer patient 
services. We plan to deliver valuable feedback to health service 
providers from the findings of the survey.

Our thanks The Cancer Institute NSW thanks the NSW 
Government for its continual and valued support throughout 
2008–09. We thank them for their dedication to informing and 
educating the NSW community about cancer. 

I would like to extend my thanks to my fellow Board members 
for their continued dedication to the Cancer Institute NSW. 

I would also like to acknowledge the commitment of our skilled 
and talented staff to improving cancer control in NSW.  Thanks 
also to the many health professionals who contribute freely of 
their time and expertise to the work of the Cancer Institute NSW.

Dr Helen Zorbas
MBBS FASBP MAICD  

Acting Chairperson 
Board of the Cancer Institute NSW

Chairperson’s report

On behalf of the Board, I am proud to report on a productive year of service to the NSW 
community. This report of the Board of the Cancer Institute NSW is the sixth since our 
establishment in July 2003 under the Cancer Institute (NSW) Act 2003.
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It gives me great pleasure to present the 2008–09 Annual 
Report of the Cancer Institute NSW.

This was the sixth year of the Cancer Institute NSW since its 
establishment under the Cancer Institute (NSW) Act 2003. First 
and foremost our role is to improve the lives of the people of 
New South Wales. We do this through programs to increase 
survival rates from cancer, reduce the incidence of cancer, 
to better the lives of cancer patients and their carers and to 
provide expert advice on cancer control.

A new era For our organisation this was a year of change; 
of challenge; and of success in carrying out our mission for the 
NSW community.

Among the changes to our organisation was the departure of 
Professor Jim Bishop AO, our founding Chief Cancer Officer 
and CEO, who left us in April 2009 to join the Commonwealth 
Government as Chief Medical Officer. 

A great legacy of Jim’s is the dedicated team of staff at the 
Cancer Institute who manage innovative and high quality 
programs to control and cure cancer. It was a great personal 
privilege that I have been asked to act in the role of Chief 
Cancer Officer until a permanent appointment is made and to 
have the opportunity to work alongside this committed team.

A new vision The next year will be one of opportunity. 
We will be defining a new vision that is directed by clear aims 
and objectives; and creating new values for the organisation to 
further underpin our goals. 

Strategic planning to inform the writing of the NSW Cancer 
Plan 2011–2015 is underway. The executive are reviewing the 
environmental context and its influences on the priorities for 
cancer control, describing the role of the Cancer Institute NSW 

in improving cancer control and defining targets as measures of 
the Cancer Plan’s success. 

We will use this information to create indicators and 
benchmarks and to monitor and drive change in each of  
the five cancer control programs. Our staff have recently had 
an opportunity to give feedback on the priorities for cancer 
control via a survey tool and this information is being analysed 
currently. We will then be engaging with staff and external 
stakeholders in the finalisation of the strategic direction over 
coming months.

Making an impact on the community of NSW
We have made successful strides in tobacco control and 
smoking cessation over the past year ; increasing the number 
of women having a regular Pap test and mammogram; adding 
greater depth and capacity in cancer research and clinical trials; 
and expanding our knowledge of cancer through information 
collected by the cancer registries.

Cancer Plan 2007–2010 Good progress has been 
made in all programs of the Cancer Institute NSW as the 
final phase of the Cancer Plan 2007–2010 is well underway. 
Strategic planning for the next cancer plan will incorporate the 
experience gained from our evaluation of the current cancer 
plan. Our goal is to take stock of our progress against the Plan 
and report back on successes and areas of learning.

Valuing our staff As par t of our commitment to the 
continuous improvement of our organisation, the Cancer 
Institute NSW completed a staff satisfaction survey in 2008–09. 
This was the first survey of staff since the organisation was 
established in 2004. The overall response rate for our survey 
was an extremely pleasing 82 per cent (127 responses).

The Cancer Institute NSW has been established to improve cancer survival; reduce incidence rates; 
enhance the quality of life of cancer patients and carers; and to act as a source of expert advice to  
the public about cancer. We believe this focus will accelerate the cure and control of cancer in NSW.

CEO and Chief Cancer Officer’s message
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The survey gave us a more accurate picture of how employees 
feel about working at the Cancer Institute NSW. The results 
have provided us with detailed information regarding their 
opinions about our performance, culture, relationships, how  
we go about our work and where we are headed. 

Managing our finances within budget Within the 
frame of a tighter fiscal situation, I am pleased to report that 
the Cancer Institute NSW has managed our programs within 
budget for the sixth consecutive year. In 2008-09 our operating 
budget was $150.7 million (2007–08: $138.7 million). Our total 
expenses for the year were $145 million (2007–08: $135.5 million). 

My thanks Delivering on our mission requires strong 
collaboration with our partners and the committed support 
from our stakeholders.

Firstly, we are supported by the NSW Government. In particular 
I thank the Hon. Jodi McKay MP and the Hon. John Della Bosca 
MLC, whose support as Ministers responsible for the portfolios 
of Cancer and Health respectively during much of 2008-09 
was deeply appreciated. I also acknowledge and thank the Hon. 
Verity Firth MP and the Hon. Tony Stewart MP who held the 
Cancer portfolio during periods of 2008-09.

Our mission could not be achieved without the ongoing support 
of NSW Health, in particular the Director-General and the Division 
of Population Health.

I thank the Board of the Cancer Institute NSW. The Board 
provides strong and valuable counsel, support and guidance for 
our organisation’s activities. I extend my sincere appreciation 
to Dr Helen Zorbas, Acting Chair of the Board, and all Board 
Members for the dedication to the Cancer Institute NSW.

I would also like to thank Cancer Australia, The Cancer Council 
NSW,  The Cancer Council Australia and other impor tant 
stakeholders. In addition, there are many people who volunteer 
their time with the Cancer Institute NSW through participation 
on committees, attendance at workshops and through the 
provision of their expertise.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge and thank all of the staff 
of the Cancer Institute NSW for their commitment and their 
vision for the control and cure of cancer.

Laureate Professor Rob Sanson-Fisher AO
BPsych MPsych PhD FAPS

Acting Chief Cancer Officer and Chief Executive Officer
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In 2008–09, the Cancer Institute NSW managed all programs 
within the budget. An evaluation of the financial year ending 
June 2009 of the Cancer Institute NSW shows expenditure 
of 96 per cent of the total budget. Including other sources of 
revenue, such as interest earned, other grants received and 
recoveries, the surplus is $5.7m for the year 2008–09.  This 
surplus will be allocated to the 2009–10 expenditure to further 
enhance the screening programs with the implementation of a 
new information system for breast screening.

Delivering all programs within the total Cancer Institute 
NSW budget and achieving the set objectives of programs is 
a tribute to the experience and dedication of our staff, who 
maintained focus on providing quality programs to control 
and cure cancer in NSW, while managing our finances with 
strong discipline.

Overview of financial performance

Financial performance against Budget
Budget 2008–09 $150.7m

The actual spending proportions for the various areas of activity  
in the Cancer Institute NSW are in line with budgeted 
proportions. The expenditure in the Division of Cancer 
Screening was lower than expected due to a delay in 
components of the implementation of a new BreastScreen 
Information System. Surplus funds from 2008–09 will be 
allocated to the 2009–10 budget.   

Our funding The major propor tion of our funding in 
2008–09 was from the NSW Government: $146.3m ($134.6m 
in 2007–08), allocated through the NSW Depar tment of 
Health. We also received $834k ($777k in 2007–08) from the 
Commonwealth Government and funds of $270k from other 
sources. This was supplemented by investment revenue of 
$2.4m and other income and recoveries of $869k. 

 08–09 07–08 06–07 05–06 04–05
REVENUE BY FUNDING SOURCE % $ ‘000 % $ ‘000 % $ ‘000 % $ ‘000 % $ ‘000

NSW Dept of Health budget funding 97% 146,292 97%  134,622  97%  134,158  99%  102,577  97%  37,055 

Commonwealth Government project funding 0% 834 1%  777  0%  60  0%  219  2%  694    

Other Grants 0% 270 1%  950  0%  755  0%  -    0%  -    

Investment revenue 2% 2,399 1%  1,840  2%  2,193  1%  484  0%  241  

Other income 1% 869 0%  550  1%  766  0%  357  1%  350  

Total 100% 150,664 100%  138,739  100%  137,932  100%  103,637  100%  38,340
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EXPENDITURE
ACTUAL 2008–09

$144.98m
PREVENTION 
($18.02m) 12%

SCREENING ($51.4m) 36%

CANCER SERVICES 
& EDUCATION ($27.14m)20%

CANCER INFORMATION 
    & REGISTRIES ($10.62m)7%

COMMUNICATIONS ($0.65m) 0%
ADMINISTRATION ($7.05m) 5%

RESEARCH ($ 29.1m) 20%

EXPENDITURE
BUDGET 2008–09

$150.66m

PREVENTION 
($17.58m) 12%

SCREENING ($59.1m) 38%

CANCER SERVICES 
& EDUCATION ($28.82m) 19%

CANCER INFORMATION 
    & REGISTRIES ($10.57m) 7%

COMMUNICATIONS ($0.87m) 1%
ADMINISTRATION ($5.46m) 4%

RESEARCH ($28.26m) 19%

Expenditure in 2008–09 Expenditure in 2008–09 
was $145.0m. The highest expenditure was in the screening 
programs, which was $51.4m. This included a contribution of 
$5m from the Cancer Institute NSW core budget towards 
improving screening participation rates through enhanced 
services and awareness campaigns. 

The Division of Cancer Services and Education spent $28.1m on 
programs to improve cancer services and to up-skill the cancer 
workforce in the Area Health Services. This also included 
a contribution of $5m to NSW Health for radiotherapy 
recurrent expenditure.

The expenditure on research activities was $29.1m. This was for 
the various grants that the Cancer Institute NSW provides to 
research institutions and hospitals to further the research activity 
in NSW, enabling further breakthrough in research in order to 
achieve the objectives of controlling and curing cancer.

Our spend on prevention for the 2008–09 financial year was 
$18.0m. The majority of the expenditure was for smoking 
cessation programs.  

The Division of Cancer Information and Registries spend for the 
year was $10.6m; which includes expenditure for the Clinical 
Cancer Registry that is funded by the Cancer Institute NSW 
to provide better analysis of cancer information. The Division 
of Cancer Information and Registries is also responsible for the 
production of various reports such as the Cancer Incidence and 
Mortality Report.

Administration and communication expenses totaled $7.7m for 
the year, this is 5.3 per cent of the total expenditure. 

Budget 2009–10 Our total budget allocation for 2009–10 
including BreastScreen NSW capital funding is $139.4m. 

Budget 2009–10 highlights Approximately $125m – 89 
per cent ($122m – 88 per cent in 2008–09) of the 2009–10 
Cancer Institute NSW allocation is for clinical responsibilities that 
would have otherwise been the responsibility of NSW Health. 

The screening programs have been allocated $45.6m, of which 
the Cancer Institute continues to provide $5m from its core 
budget to improve participation rates through enhanced services 
and awareness campaigns.

A further $5m from the 2009–10 budget has been provided 
for radiotherapy recurrent expenditure. 

BUDGET 2009–10
$139.41mPREVENTION 

($13.99m) 10%

SCREENING ($45.56m) 33%

CANCER SERVICES 
& EDUCATION ($29.92m)21%

CANCER INFORMATION 
    & REGISTRIES ($13.05m)9%

COMMUNICATIONS ($0.87m) 1%
ADMINISTRATION ($5.93m) 4%

RESEARCH ($30.12m) 22%

Financial performance against Budget
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Financial highlights

Historical financial analysis and key financial statistics      

 08–09 07–08 06–07 05–06 04–05 Movement
 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE      

Operating revenue 150,664 138,739 137,932 103,637 38,340 112,324

Operating expenditure* (144,102) (134,793) (134,307) (94,474) (33,550) (110,552)

Net Result before depreciation and amortisation 6,562 3,943 3,625 9,163 4,790 1,772

Depreciation and amortisation (873) (708) (673) (439) (306) (567)

Net result 5,689 3,235 2,952 8,724 4,484 1,205

      

FINANCIAL POSITION      

Current assets 39,125 40,936 37,947 30,475 10,076 29,049

Non-current assets 2,929 1,706 2,199 2,567 1,584 1,345

Total assets 42,054 42,642 40,146 33,042 11,660 30,394

Current liabilities 8,216 13,899 14,257 10,143 3,970 4,246

Non-current liabilities 425 306 306 268 58 367

Total liabilities 8,641 14,205 14,563 10,411 4,028 4,613

Net assets 33,413 28,437 25,583 22,631 7,632 25,781

Equity 33,413 28,437 25,583 22,631 7,632 25,781

CASH      

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of reporting period 34,583 36,464 33,159 29,606 3,843 30,740

* Operating Expenditure for 2007–08 has been restated.
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Where we operate

NSW is the most populous state of Australia, with 6,888,014• residents. NSW is situated between latitudes 28°S and 38°S and longitudes 
141°E and 154°E.  Two-thirds (63 per cent) of the population live in the capital city, Sydney. In 2007, there were 36,041• new cases of 
cancer in NSW and 13,241• deaths from cancer.

There are eight Area Health Services (AHS) in NSW that have the main responsibility for health care delivery under the NSW 
Department of Health. The Cancer Institute NSW is a statutory body charged with substantially improving cancer control in 
NSW and covers all the Area Health Services.

•  ABS Estimated Resident Population, June 2007, NSW.

•  NSW Central Cancer Registry, 2007 data file, October 2009.

•  NSW Central Cancer Registry, 2007 data file, October 2009.

GREATER WESTERN

Population•: 300,387
New cancer cases•: 1,666
Cancer deaths•: 648
BreastScreen NSW•: 4 (plus 
1 mobile van)
Clinical staff funded: 7
Clinical trial units funded: 0

HUNTER NEW ENGLAND

Population•: 852,165
New cancer cases•: 5,266
Cancer deaths•: 1,931
BreastScreen NSW: 2 (plus 4 
mobile vans)
Clinical staff funded: 25
Clinical trial units funded: 7

NORTH COAST

Population•: 485,288
New cancer cases•: 3,379
Cancer deaths•: 1,244
BreastScreen NSW: 4 (plus 1 
mobile van)
Clinical staff funded: 8.8
Clinical trial units funded: 4

NORTHERN SYDNEY 
CENTRAL COAST

Population•: 1,113,414
New cancer cases•: 6,463
Cancer deaths•: 2,318
BreastScreen NSW: 7 (plus  
2 mobile vans)
Clinical staff funded: 18
Clinical trial units funded: 5

SYDNEY WEST

Population•: 1,114,027
New cancer cases•: 4,599
Cancer deaths•: 1,604
BreastScreen NSW: 5 (plus  
2 mobile vans)
Clinical staff funded: 16.9
Clinical trial units funded: 8

SYDNEY SOUTHWEST

Population•: 1,359,977
New cancer cases•: 5,647
Cancer deaths•: 2,141
BreastScreen NSW: 6 (plus  
2 mobile vans)
Clinical staff funded: 23.3
Clinical trial units funded: 9

SOUTH EASTERN SYDNEY 
ILLAWARRA

Population•: 1,185,688
New cancer cases•: 6,311
Cancer deaths•: 2,382
BreastScreen NSW: 6 (plus  
2 mobile vans)
Clinical staff funded: 25.7
Clinical trial units funded: 8

GREATER SOUTHERN

Population•: 477,068
New cancer cases•: 2,710
Cancer deaths•: 973
BreastScreen NSW: 7 (plus  
1 mobile van)
Clinical staff funded: 8
Clinical trial units funded: 2



CANCER INSTITUTE NSW ANNUAL REPORT 2009

12/ PREVENTION SCREENING PATIENT CAREffff

When Kathy’s mother passed away at 56 she was devastated. 
That her mother died of a lung disease having never smoked 
was a reality check for the smoker. Not long after, Kathy made 
the decision to take control of her life and her health.

“I came to the realisation that I could not change my mother 
dying (although I wanted to), but there were factors in my life 
that were in my control, so I slowly set about changing them. 
Smoking was the first to go,” says Kathy.

It wasn’t the first time Kathy had tried to quit smoking, but it 
was the first time she woke up thinking ‘I’m a non-smoker’. 
Over the years gum, patches and prescribed medication have 
all featured in Kathy’s quit attempts without long-term success. 
Every time, she went back to cigarettes. The feeling of failure 
was the hardest to deal with. 

Each of these attempts was simply helping Kathy to build up to 
the right frame of mind where she could finally quit. It wasn’t 
until Kathy watched an anti-smoking campaign featuring a mother 
named Zita who was dying of lung cancer that she was set in 
the right frame of mind to give up smoking.

“When Zita talked about not seeing her daughters grow up, that 
hit a nerve with me. In the ad she said that if one person was 
able to quit smoking because of her message, then it is a good 
thing. I decided then and there that I would be that one person.

“For the first time I knew I would be able to finally quit. I wasn’t 
quitting only for myself, I was quitting for all of my family and 
Zita as well.”

* The Zita campaign was a testimonial developed by the Cancer 
Council WA and adopted by the Cancer Institute NSW. It tells 
the story of Zita, a mother diagnosed with smoking-caused lung 
cancer who passed away at the young age of 38.

 

“Zita* said in the ad that if one person was able to quit smoking because of 
her message, then it is a good thing. I decided then and there that I would  
be that one person.”

Kathy Reeves,  
ex-smoker, Sydney
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Priority Target Progress Highlights

Decreased smoking 
prevalence by one per cent 
per annum.

f Continue the downward 
trend in smoking 
prevalence in NSW.

• Continued downward trend since 2003. No 
significant shift in smoking prevalence year on year 
(18.6% in 2007, 18.4% in 2008).

f Gain fresh behavioural 
insights into smoking to 
deliver an evidence-based, 
effective social marketing 
program.

• Smoking and Health Survey was conducted in 
March–April 2009. Extensive qualitative research 
to understand smokers’ intentions and barriers to 
quitting.

f Advance policy and 
influence legislation to 
create supportive social 
environments conducive 
to quitting.

• The Public Health (Tobacco) Bill, a comprehensive 
legislative package for protecting children and young 
people from tobacco, was introduced to NSW 
Parliament in September 2008, and became law on 
1 July 2009.

f Expand support services 
via the NSW Quitline.

• Calls to the Quitline reached 36,173. Work on a new 
13QUIT website continues. 

Improved sun protection 
behaviour in young adults.

f The Dark Side of Tanning 
campaign to be repeated 
in summer 2008–09 with a 
new focus on young men.

• New campaign component targeting young men 
launched November 2008.

Increased cancer avoidance 
through changes in lifestyle, 
including increased fruit 
and vegetable consumption, 
weight reduction, reduced 
alcohol consumption and 
increased physical activity.

f Work with academics, 
government and non-
government organisations 
in the development of a 
new campaign to promote 
healthy lifestyle behaviour.

• Consultation with academics and consolidation 
of research. Overall, staff numbers were reduced, 
so campaign funds and effort were redirected to 
programs with greatest impact.

Increase public knowledge 
and awareness of screening 
recommendations.

f Develop and implement a 
new campaign to 
encourage breast screen 
participation.

• New campaign Take you away implemented in 
May–June 2009.

f Modify the existing bowel 
cancer awareness 
Armchairs television 
advertisement to include a 
bowel screen message.

• Unable to deliver a new campaign due to funding 
limitations.

f Develop Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander 
(ATSI)-specific resources 
for the screening programs.

• Culturally appropriate print resources developed and 
distributed to promote breast and cervical screening 
among ATSI women.

Preventing cancer

• achieved   • in progress   • not achieved

!
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Since 2003, NSW smoking prevalence has declined by 3.9 per 
cent (from 22.3% in 2003 to 18.4% in 2008). In 2008, smoking 
status remained largely unchanged compared to 2007 (NSW 
Population Health Survey 2008).

Encouragingly, over the past five years, there has been a significant 
increase in the number of smokers intending to quit smoking, 
with 61.8 per cent in 2008, compared to 47.9 per cent in 2003. 
There has also been an increase of nearly 5 per cent in the 
proportion of ‘never smokers’ in NSW, from 52.9 per cent 
in 2003 to 57.7 per cent in 2008 (NSW Population Health 
Survey 2008). These results have only been achieved through  
a comprehensive and coordinated approach to tobacco control 
in NSW. 

New changes to laws protecting children

The Public Health (Tobacco) Bill, a comprehensive legislative 
package for protecting children and young people from tobacco, 
was introduced to NSW Parliament in September 2008. 

The Public Health (Tobacco) Act 2008 and the Public Health 
(Tobacco) Regulation 2009 came into effect on 1 July 2009.

The tough new anti-tobacco laws ban drivers from smoking in 
cars when a passenger under the age of 16 is present. They also 
fur ther restrict tobacco advertising by ruling that all tobacco 
products must also be stored out of sight in shops.

Licensing our ads internationally  

The licensing of Cancer Institute NSW campaigns interstate and 
internationally continues to grow. Our campaigns have been 
licensed in regions such as New York, Canada, Russia, China and 
Norway. The Sponge campaign has been used widely by the World 
Lung Foundation for the Bloomberg Global Initiative on Tobacco 
Control to promote anti-smoking messages in India, Russia and 
China, which are experiencing a tobacco epidemic. In 2008–09  
the Everybody Knows campaign was launched in Norway and 
the Bronchoscopy campaign was aired in New York City.

Tobacco smoking is responsible for the largest burden of preventable cancer : around one in five cancer deaths are caused by 
smoking. While research shows that most ex-smokers will eventually successfully quit on their own, smoking is addictive and some 
smokers will need assistance. As well as continuing to implement hard-hitting social marketing campaigns that alert the community 
to the harms of smoking and motivate quitting, we also manage the Quitline, conduct research and evaluation of program work 
and provide strategic policy advice to the NSW Government on a comprehensive approach to tobacco control.

Working towards a smoke free NSW
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How we compare
Latest figures from the National Drug Strategy Household 
Survey 2007 (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare) 
show that NSW current smoking prevalence of 19 per cent 
is in line with the national average of 19.4 per cent. Despite 
being the most populous state, NSW has the third lowest 
smoking prevalence, behind Western Australia (17.4%) and the 
Australian Capital Territory (17.2%). The Northern Territory has 
the highest rate at 27.8 per cent.

Improved sun protection behaviour in young adults 
Our research shows that young adults and males are likely to 
have a greater risk of developing melanoma and are less likely 
to practice sun protection behaviours. With this in mind we 
implemented the Dark Side of Tanning campaign for the second 
time in 2008–09, with a greater focus on male ‘incidental tanning’.

Over summer 2008–09, there was a significant decrease in the 
appeal of getting a sun tan among participants surveyed in the 
National Onlinebus. There was a 6 per cent decline nationally 
(53% pre to 47% post) and a 7 per cent decline in NSW 
(53% pre to 46% post). Measurements were taken before the 
NSW campaign (October 2008) and after the NSW campaign 
(February 2009). 

Queensland Health also ran the Dark Side of Tanning campaign 
for the first time over summer 2008–09.

Increased public knowledge and awareness of 
screening recommendations
Cervical screening
In 2008–09, we continued to run the successful Don’t Just Sit 
There campaign to encourage women to have a regular Pap 
test to guard against cervical cancer.

Post campaign evaluation of the NSW Pap Test Register data shows 
an increasing trend of 2.4 per cent in the screening rates from 
the two year period 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2009 compared 
to 1 April 2005 to 31 March 2007. The greatest increases were 
in women who had not had a Pap test in more than three years 
(31.8%) and in women who had never had a Pap test (14.4%).

Breast screening 
In April 2009 the NSW Acting Premier Carmel Tebbutt and 
Minister Assisting the Minister for Health (Cancer) Jodi McKay 
launched the new $1.5 million BreastScreen NSW awareness 
campaign promoting the importance of regular screening 
mammograms. This campaign included two ads which we ran 
concurrently on NSW television screens.

The Take You Away ad informs women aged 50 years and 
older of the seriousness of breast cancer and highlights the 
consequences of not having a mammogram. Having breast 
cancer affects the entire family, so detecting it early through  
a mammogram offers the best chance of survival.

Future plans Funding for government advertising in NSW 
was reduced by 25 per cent in the 2009–10 State Budget. As the 
majority of our funds are directed toward public education initiatives 
which utilise mass media, this has impacted on our planning for the 
next financial year. This will mean a reduction of the amount of time 
ads are aired on television and may therefore affect our ability to 
impact modifiable behavioural risk factors.

Tobacco control
f Ongoing anti-tobacco campaigns will focus on personalising 
 the health consequences of smoking and providing support  
 to smokers in quitting. We will reduce campaign activity on  
 television by approximately 10 weeks due to budget reductions. 

f We will continue to redevelop the 13QUIT website to 
 provide new online support to NSW smokers. 

f We will use published evidence and conduct research to 
 influence national and state tobacco control policy.

f We will work with NSW Health in developing future 
 tobacco control strategies.

Improved sun protection behaviour in young adults
f We will continue to increase awareness of melanoma, challenge
 attitudes toward tanning and increase sun protection behaviour. 

f The Dark Side of Tanning campaign will be implemented for 
 a third time and an evaluation will help determine its  
 ongoing impact.

Increased cancer avoidance through changes in lifestyle
f We will focus on research to assess the costs of preventable 
 cancers caused by lifestyle choices and to conduct the annual 
 Lifestyle and Cancer Survey.

f We will use published evidence and conduct research to 
 influence national and state policy.

Increase public knowledge and awareness of screening 
recommendations 

f We will conduct a cervical screening advertising campaign. 
 However, budget limitations will not permit a BreastScreen  
 NSW campaign in 2009–10.

f The challenge will be continuing to influence knowledge 
 and awareness of breast screening.  
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Warwick Lee has been helping save lives with breast cancer 
screening for more than 20 years and has been involved with 
BreastScreen NSW since its inception. Today, he holds the position 
of State Radiologist, where he combines clinical practice with 
training up-and-coming radiologists to ensure women in NSW 
get the best care when they have a mammogram.

“There are two parts to my job as State Radiologist,” he explains. 
“First is a clinical role: reading screening mammograms and 
being part of assessment clinics for women recalled following 
abnormal initial screening mammograms. Roughly five to seven 
women out of 1000 who have a screening mammogram are 
found to have breast cancer. 

“My other role as State Radiologist is to help BreastScreen NSW 
provide a high quality service for women screened for breast 
cancer by ensuring there is adequate training of radiologists and 
other screen readers who work for BreastScreen.”

For the past two years, Warwick has been a key part of the 
roll-out of digital mammography across the State, a major  
infrastructure improvement for BreastScreen NSW.

“Digital screening is akin to changing from a film photographic 
camera to a digital camera,” he says.  “It has the advantages of better 
image contrast and for some women, those with dense breast tissue, 
more sensitive mammograms. For NSW, one of the main advantages 
of digital mammography is ease of storage of images and the ability 
to electronically transport those images to sites remote from the 
screening centres for reading.”

The new state-of-the-art BreastScreen Reading and Radiology 
Training and Education Centre is the first of its kind in Australia 
and links rural, regional and metropolitan BreastScreen clinics with 
cutting-edge digital mammogram reading technology and specialised 
staff.  This process, using the very latest digital mammogram 
technology, will lead to faster results and better early detection of 
breast cancers, ultimately saving more lives.

Warwick is very excited about this new development in his job.  
“My hope for breast cancer screening in NSW is that we can build 
upon this opportunity and continue to see falls in the death rate from 
breast cancer,” he says.

 “I gain great satisfaction from the knowledge that we are making a 
real difference to the lives of women in the State.” 

 

“It is a real joy to work in a state-of-the-art environment and with skilful  
and devoted people, all with a common goal to provide an optimal  
screening program.”

Warwick Lee, State Radiologist at the BreastScreen NSW Reading Room

ffff16/ PREVENTION SCREENING PATIENT CARE
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Detecting cancer early

Priority Target Progress Highlights

Increased participation in 
breast screening by the 
target group in the public and 
private sector.    

f Improve access to
appointments.

• The number of after hours appointments was 
increased by over 13,000 to offer more flexibility to 
women. The biennial participation rate of women 
aged 50–69 years was 54.68 per cent as at 30 June 
2009. This is an increase of 0.38 per cent (2,834 
women screened) from January 2009.

Ensure 70 per cent of women 
in the target age group have 
a mammogram every two 
years.   

f Improve client satisfaction. • The BreastScreen NSW client satisfaction survey 
was completed, with 95 per cent of existing clients 
reporting overall satisfaction with BreastScreen 
services.

Increased participation in 
cervical screening by 3 per 
cent to target hard to reach 
groups.   

f Build on previous success 
of media campaigns and 
direct mail strategies 
to increase overall 
participation rate in areas 
identified as having large 
number of women in hard 
to reach areas. 

• Compared to the period before the first media 
campaign in 2007, the majority of high-priority areas 
had participation rate increases at 30 June 2009. 
However, there was a slight decrease (0.44%) in the 
statewide participation rate (59.54%) at 30 June 
2009, compared to 30 June 2008.

• achieved   • in progress   • not achieved

More women taking advantage of  
BreastScreen NSW  
Participation rate and screening numbers  

The number of women aged 50–69 years in NSW who attended 
biennial screening reached 407,397 at the end of June 2009 
(401,228 at the end of June 2008). There was also an increase of 
55,408 in the number of women aged 50–69 screened biennially 
since the Cancer Institute NSW assumed responsibility as program 
manager on 1 July 2005.

The biennial participation rate of women aged 50–69 years 
was 54.7 per cent at 30 June 2009, based on the 2007 
Estimated Resident Population (ERP). However, despite  
the increase in women screened as at 30 June 2009, the 
par ticipation rate has declined from 55.31 per cent at  
30 June 2008 (2006 ERP). This is due to increases in  
the overall target age group population.

Upgrade to digital mammography

In June 2009, the rollout of digital mammography technology 
across NSW was close to completion with seven of the eight 
Screening and Assessment Services fully equipped with digital 
units in their fixed and mobile sites. The remaining few sites in the 
Sydney West Area are scheduled to be completed in early 2009–10.

As part of the rollout of digital technology, we are also 
establishing high-speed communication links between the 
BreastScreen NSW Picture Archiving and Communications 
System (PACS) and four BreastScreen NSW hub sites (Royal 
Prince Alfred Hospital, St George Hospital, Royal North Shore 
Hospital and the Mater Institute, Newcastle) to facilitate digital 
mammography image transfer and archiving. 
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Establishing a state-of-the-art digital image reading room

BreastScreen NSW and the Sydney South West Area Health 
Service collaborated to establish a Screen Reading Centre and 
a State Radiology, Training, Research and Education Centre at 
the Australian Technology Park. The new centre was opened  
in early 2009 by the Minister Assisting the Minister for Health 
(Cancer), the Hon. Jodi MacKay, and provides a central, 
state-of-the-art facility for radiologists to read images sent  
from across the State.

Making breast screening available to more women

As part of the $26m NSW Government Priority package for the 
upgrade of BreastScreen NSW services, funding was distributed 
to Screening and Assessment Services for the expansion of after 
hours appointments. 

One of the challenges for NSW is providing services to a 
continually increasing population base of women in the 50–69 
year target age group. Based on the 2008 Estimated Resident 
Population, there are an additional 21,671 women eligible for 
screening, compared to 20,474 additional women in 2007.

The Cancer Institute is working with Screening and Assessment 
Services to identify and implement targeted recruitment strategies 
to increase participation in Local Government Areas (LGA). One 
such initiative is that after hours funding will continue in 2009–10 to 
enable Screening and Assessment Services to provide after hours 
appointments for women who are unable to attend screening 
during normal business hours.

Surveying participants to create better services

The BreastScreen NSW client satisfaction survey was completed 
and the results have been very positive. The survey had a strong 
response rate and provided a number of useful insights into the 
clients’ perception of BreastScreen NSW. The survey indicated 
that a very large majority of BreastScreen NSW clients were 
satisfied with the services they received and would recommend 
the service to others.

Key findings of the BreastScreen NSW Client Satisfaction Survey:

f 95 per cent overall satisfaction in BreastScreen NSW services

f 96 per cent experienced no difficulty in getting to a 
 BreastScreen NSW clinic

f 92 per cent could get an appointment as soon as they 
 wanted to

f  64 per cent of women made their appointment after 
 receiving a reminder letter from BreastScreen NSW.

A follow up survey of lapsed screeners is scheduled to be 
undertaken in 2009–10 to find out why some women who 
may have attended screening previously now no longer 
participate in the BreastScreen Program.

Increasing participation in cervical screening  
Strategies targeting high priority Local Government Areas  

We trialed a new direct mail strategy to coincide with the second 
month of the Don’t Just Sit There media campaign (page 15) in 
March ’09.  The focus of the direct mail strategy was to determine 
whether sending two reminder letters (at 27 months and 29 
months) to women who were overdue for their Pap test is more 
effective in increasing the cervical screening participation rate 
than sending just the one reminder letter at 27 months (which is 
current PTR practice).  The second reminder letters (29 month 
letters) were only sent out to eligible women residing in 28 high 
priority areas for cervical screening.  In total, 11,178 second reminder 
letters were sent.  Evaluation of this project is still pending. 

Training and support for Pap test providers

We continue to fund training in performing Pap tests for nurses 
and general practitioners to improve the available Pap test 
workforce and the quality of Pap tests.

We also fund the cost of cytology for Pap tests performed by 
women’s health nurses working in rural and remote areas to 
provide better access for women living in these areas.

The challenge of increasing cervical screening with a 

growing population

Increasing participation in cervical screening by 3 per cent per 
annum is one of our main challenges, due to the large size of 
the target population in NSW (approx 1.9 million women). 
Even though numbers of women having a regular Pap test increased 
in the biennial period, there were also more women in the 
target population than previously. The biennial participation rate 
for the period ending 30 June 2009 was 59.54 per cent. This 
was a 0.44 per cent decrease in participation compared to the 
period ending June 2008.

Our goal is to improve cancer survival through screening.
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How we compare with the rest of Australia

The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) 
produces the Cervical Screening in Australia Report which 
provides comparisons against other states and the national 
average. The latest Cervical Screening in Australia Report that 
AIHW has produced is for 2006–07, which doesn’t correlate 
with this annual reporting period.  

Overall, and in comparison with previous years, 2006–07 is a 
positive report for NSW. The NSW biennial cervical screening 
participation rate for 2006–07 (60.4%) was lower than the 
national rate (61.4%). However, the NSW rate has increased by 
2.2 per cent since 2004–05 when the rate was 58.2 per cent. 
This equates to an additional 61,908 Pap tests being conducted 
in NSW in 2006–07.  NSW is one of only two states (the other 
being Queensland) where the participation rate significantly 
increased between 2004–05 and 2006–07. Participation was 
highest in Victoria (64.4%) and lowest in the Northern  
Territory (53.7%).

Future targets 
Breast screening

f Deliver a comprehensive statewide BreastScreen 
 Information System (BIS) before the end of 2010.

f The State Radiology, Training, Research and Education centre 
 will establish a large digital mammography case and  
 teaching library for radiologists, other medical specialists,  
 registrars and fellows to train across a number of medical  
 disciplines associated with breast cancer services.

f High speed communication links to facilitate the transfer 
 of digital images and archiving planned to be rolled out to  
 other hub sites across the State. 

f Survey of lapsed screeners to ascertain the reasons why 
 some women who may have attended screening previously  
 now no longer participate in the BreastScreen Program.

Cervical screening

f Explore further options for direct mail strategies.  

f Implement another phase of the media campaign.

f Continue to target high priority Local Government Areas 
 (LGAs), including exploring potential joint intervention  
 strategies aimed at increasing cervical (and breast) screening 
  participation rates.  

f  Continue to fund AHSs for cost of cytology for a further 
 13,000 Pap tests to be provided by women’s health nurses.

f  Continue to fund Pap test training for practice nurses and 
 general practitioners.
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1.  Screening Rates are adjusted for hysterectomy fractions derived from the  
 ‘NSW Population Health Survey 2006’
2.  Population used is 2006 Census population
3.  Opt offs have been included in this report.    
4.  Interstate clients have been excluded
5.  Biennial screening rates are crude rates

Sources:
1.  Data: NSW Pap Test Register, Cancer Institute NSW
2.  Population: Health Outcomes Information Statistical Toolkit (HOIST),  
 Epidemiology and Surveillance Branch, NSW (population averaged over 2 years)
3.  Hysterectomy Fractions: NSW Population Health Survey 2006, NSW  
 Department of Health

Biennial participation in cervical screening in NSW (women aged 20–69 years, July 2007 to June 2009)
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Cancer nursing wasn’t the most obvious choice for Pauline 
Thomson when she graduated from university. “I was worried 
that there were would be a lot of people dying and I was 
worried how I would cope with that,” she says. Instead, she has 
found it to be one of the most rewarding experiences of her life.

“I initially worked on a combined oncology/haematology and 
radiation oncology inpatient ward,” she explains. “It was 
dynamic, ever changing and challenging. I particularly loved 
building relationships with the patients and their families.”

Pauline is currently working as a prostate cancer nurse coordinator 
at The St George Hospital and sees the impact of her work on 
the people she cares for on a day-to-day basis.

“Cancer is a diagnosis that is often life changing. It changes all facets 
of the patient’s and their family’s life,” she says. “Cancer nursing 
is about trying to make that challenge easier to deal with. It can 
provide the patient and family with expertise in care, therefore 
lessening the impact of the diagnosis and treatment side effects.

“The main part of my role is coordination of care,” says Pauline.  
“I ensure the patient has all the investigations and specialist 
opinions they need to make an informed treatment decision.”

As well as treating people from the metropolitan area, The 
St George Hospital has a program to help rural patients; 
something Pauline believes is of the utmost importance.

“Rural patients are often in a difficult position; their access to 
medical care at times can be very difficult. There is often a 
shortage of GPs in the country. Sometimes it is a three to four 
hour drive to get any medical assistance,” she explains. 

“The rural nurse care coordinators transfer the care of their 
patient to me while they are at St George and I notify them 
once the patient’s treatment has been completed.

“Just after I star ted in this position I had a group of three 
men who came from a variety of rural backgrounds,” she 
remembers. “These men all had treatment around the same 
time and stayed at our cancer lodge, Bezzina House. They 
struck up a very strong friendship with each other. 

“It got to the stage where I had to schedule follow up appointments 
around the same time so we could all get together and catch 
up on how things were going. Doing that not only helped them 
get through their treatment but helped their emotional well 
being as well.” 

The Cancer Institute NSW funds Pauline’s position at the  
St George Hospital.

 

“I see cancer nursing as the linchpin holding together the care of cancer 
patients and good outcomes for those patients.”

Pauline Thomson, Prostate Cancer Nurse Coordinator The St George Hospital
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Improving cancer services and professional 
education

Priority Target Progress Highlights

Coordination of all involved in 
specialised cancer services to 
provide optimal cancer results.

f Develop key performance 
indicators for 
multidisciplinary teams.

• Between 2006 and 2008, 16 new multidisciplinary 
teams (MDTs) were established and performance 
indicators were reviewed.

f Establish key performance
indicators for the Clinical 
Infrastructure Program.

• An external review of the program is being 
undertaken to determine appropriate performance 
measures.

f Review of outreach 
specialist cancer services 
to be developed into a 
business improvement 
approach.

• As outreach clinics are often managed within 
ambulatory care settings, this will form part of the 
Ambulatory Chemotherapy Business Improvement 
project.  

f Externally evaluate 
the Clinical Infrastructure 
Program.

• An external review of the program is being 
undertaken.

Critically examine and 
redesign clinical service 
models in cancer.

f Business process review and 
improvement projects 
to be developed for 
chemotherapy units 
and histopathology 
laboratories.

• Pilot phase of the Ambulatory Chemotherapy 
project due to begin shortly.

Histopathology pilot completed and KPI validation to 
begin shortly. 

f Round 2 of the Health 
Service Innovation (HSI) 
program to be rolled out.

• HSI Round 2 currently underway, with final reporting 
due shortly.

f Rebuild of the CI-SCaT 
website.

• Rebuild of CI-SCaT website is in the final testing 
stage and launch is expected to be October 2009. 
Rebranding as eviQ.

Provide timely individual 
support to the level and detail 
required for patients and carers.

f A review of current 
strategies to be undertaken 
in response to the 2007 
Cancer Patient Survey.

• Health service intervention designed in response 
to the 2007 and 2008 patient survey data (i.e. 
Supportive Care Program). Funding for this initiative 
will commence in 2009–10.

f Repeat patient satisfaction 
in 2008.

• 2008 patient satisfaction survey completed.

Develop highly skilled cancer 
professionals, sub-specialised 
where appropriate, linked to 
future patient demands.

f The Skilled Cancer 
Professionals Program to 
be externally evaluated.

• An external review has been completed and the 
draft report was received in September 2009.
Feedback has been provided and the revised report 
due October 2009.

• achieved   • in progress   • not achieved
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Better coordination of specialised care In 2008–09, 
the Cancer Institute NSW provided funding for 132.7 clinical 
positions, including Directors of Area Cancer Services, cancer 
services development managers, lead clinicians, psycho-oncology 
staff, cancer nurse coordinators and genetic counsellors.

Improving multidisciplinary care

In addition to improving access to specialist advice, treatment 
planning and multidisciplinary care, multidisciplinary teams 
(MDTs) also provide opportunities for patients to be identified 
as suitable for clinical trials and are forums for professional 
development activities for the team.

In order to understand the status of MDTs in NSW – and 
establish a baseline to measure and monitor the development 
of MDTs – a profiling survey was undertaken in 2006. This 
profiling survey was re-administered in October 2008 to 
determine the current status of MDTs. 

From the surveys, we found that there has been a 12 per  
cent increase from 2006 to 2008 of multidisciplinary teams  
in NSW and a 32 per cent increase in regional/rural NSW 
cancer services.

Establishing a baseline and monitoring performance of MDTs 
has provided an effective way of demonstrating broad system 
changes, across multiple tumour groups and consistency of 
service models across MDTs by tumour type, both within the 
public and private sector. In addition, there has been an increase 
in the development of multidisciplinary teams within regional 
and rural areas of NSW, increasing the access to specialist 
advice and treatment planning for patients.

Supporting the development of networks in  

cancer services

Between 2007 and 2009, the Cancer Institute NSW managed 
a project to link cancer services in the North Sydney Central 
Coast, Hunter New England and North Coast Area Health 
Services as part of the national CanNET demonstration 
program.  Outcomes of this project will enhance the delivery 
of multidisciplinary care across Northern NSW through 
improvements in MDT service delivery, an online Cancer 

Services Directory, development of defined referral pathways 
to assist GPs in making timely referrals to cancer specialists and 
the trialling of web-based videoconferencing.

To improve the coordination and quality of training for cancer 
specialists, the Cancer Institute NSW has commissioned a 
review of registrar training in NSW for medical and radiation 
oncologists and palliative care physicians, including recommendations 
for future network governance to improve administration and 
recruitment and placement of registrars.  

Provide timely individual support to the level 
and detail required for patients and carers 
Introducing a new Academic Nursing Chair in NSW

In May 2009, Professor Kate White, Associate Dean (Research), 
Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery at the University of Sydney 
commenced as the inaugural Academic Chair in Cancer Nursing. 

Professor White will provide leadership in areas of cancer 
nursing research, education, models of service provision and 
how to optimise cancer nursing services in NSW.

Surveying patients to create better services

In 2008, we repeated the cancer patient satisfaction survey to 
benchmark areas of best practice and where we needed to 
improve. About 8,500 surveys were mailed and 587 cancer 
inpatients (616 in 2007) and 3780 cancer outpatients (4,129  
in 2007) participated (overall response rate of 53.2%).

In addition to Area Health Service responses to their survey 
results, we are developing a program aimed to address unmet 
needs related to the dimensions of care that received low 
positive score ratings or were identified as areas for improvement. 
The full repor t can be downloaded from our website:  
www.cancerinstitute.org.au/publications.

Our goal is to develop sustainable models, with skilled professionals able to treat and support patients 
throughout the cancer journey.
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Developing highly skilled cancer professionals

We annually provide funding to support learning and training that assists cancer clinicians and supports the promotion of best 
practice clinical care.

Future targets 
Coordination of all involved in specialised cancer 
services to provide optimal cancer results

f An external evaluation of the Clinical Infrastructure program.

f A review of cancer service adverse events.

f Development of cancer service and clinical indicators.

Critically examine and redesign clinical service models 
in cancer
f Process analysis and continuing improvement projects 
 for histopathology and ambulatory chemotherapy services. 

f A review of service models supporting outpatient care of 
 patients with haematological malignancies.  

f Work with NSW Health to integrate cancer services into 
 the statewide redesign program. 

f Continue research to enhance the development of 
 networks in cancer services.   

f A support role for the ongoing use of the electronic 
 radiotherapy business improvement tools for operational  
 management and data extraction is currently being modelled. 

f Launch the eviQ Cancer Treatments Online website and 
 provide education to NSW clinicians following the launch.

f Scope and development of eviQEd, an online education resource.

Provide timely individual support to the level and 
detail required for patients and carers
f The NSW Joint Cancer Patient Information and Support 
 Advisory Committee will hold a planning day to identify  
 supportive care strategies for patients and their carers.

f Work collaboratively with The Cancer Council NSW to 
 maximise effort and to minimise duplication.

f Conduct the cancer patient satisfaction survey.

Develop highly skilled cancer professionals, sub-specialised 
where appropriate, linked to future patient demands
f Conduct an external evaluation of the Skilled Cancer 
 Professionals program.

f The Cancer Nursing in NSW review is complete. 
 Overall findings will be provided to NSW Health.

f Competitive grants will be offered to support oncology 
 professional development with the following grant types on  
 offer : education scholarships; clinical training fellowships,  
 clinical study grants, conference grants and funding to  
 support registrar advanced trainees.  

f New Cancer Institute NSW Academic Chairs will support 
 research and training of oncology professionals.

Clinical Fellowships 

International Sabbatical 
Grants (2008 name)
Clinical Study Grant 
(2009 name)

Registrar Program

Travel grants 2008 Clinical 
conference grants 2009

Academic Chair Grants 
plus senior lecturer support

Education Scholarships

Clinical Research Grants

Health Services Innovation 
Grants Round 2 

*Funds will be from the 2009–10 financial year.

Commitment for one from 2007 (Psycho-oncology). Commitment for eight from 2008. Five 
awarded in Round 2 (May 2009) (to commence in 2010).*

Commitment for six from 2008. One awarded in 2009 (commence July 2009).*

Commitments for five from 2008. Five awarded in 2009 (to commence in 2010).*

Commitment for 10 from 2008. Eight awarded in Round 2 (May 2009) to commence from July 
2009.*  Commitment for nine in 2009 (Round 3).*

One Academic Chair in Cancer Nursing – USYD. One senior lecturer in clinical trials to  
support Cancer Nursing Chair – USYD.

Commitment for nine awarded in 2007. Commitment for 12 awarded in 2008. Five awarded  
in 2009 (commence July 09).*

Commitment for three carried from 2007. None awarded in 2008. Five awarded in 2009 
(commence July 09).*

12 projects supported across 2008–09, including outsourced project management and  
reporting framework.

Award Number awarded
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Just two days before his 40th birthday, father of four Stephen 
Barraclough was diagnosed with melanoma. Little over a year later a 
biopsy confirmed the original melanoma had spread despite surgery, 
radiotherapy and interferon therapy. Knowing that the current 
mainstream treatments for metastatic melanoma were limited, 
Stephen was encouraged by his medical oncologist, Professor Rick 
Kefford, to participate in a clinical trial. 

“Having heard of the early stage results for people taking a similar 
type of drug it sounded very encouraging compared to the 
alternatives. Being in a clinical trial gave me comfort that I would 
be carefully monitored,” explains Stephen. “Rick and his wonderful 
nurses have been amazingly supportive during the whole process. 
I feel like I have had access to the best level of care possible.”

Participating in the trial has also given Stephen a sense of purpose 
for what has been a very stressful 15 months for him and his family. 
“In addition to my illness, my wife was pregnant with twins (Ali and 
Eva pictured) and we had just begun a major renovation of our 
house,” he says. “My employer has been great with giving me time 
off for the treatment. So I have been spending lots of time with my 
family who are a fabulous distraction.”

For Professor Kefford, research and patient care are difficult to 
distinguish from each other. “There is a continuous translation of 
knowledge from basic discovery to improved patient care. 
Research informs best practice and every aspect of patient care is 
a research question that can lead to better treatment and care.” 

“The Cancer Institute’s innovative grant schemes have enabled 
us to make discoveries in the lab that are having a direct effect 
on the lives of people like Stephen. Up until now patients have 
often had to go overseas (USA or Europe) to take part in very 
early (Phase 1) trials of new cancer drugs. Now Australians can 
benefit in Australia and those treatments can be more quickly 
translated to the bedside,” says Professor Kefford.

A greater emphasis on clinical trials is leading to promising 
discoveries. “We are on the threshold of a real quantum leap  
in cancer therapy. We have high hopes for these ‘magic bullets’ 
– they are targeted and have few side effects for the patient,” 
explains Professor Kefford.  

The future for cancer researchers, clinicians and patients looks 
bright in NSW. As Stephen says, “without research there would 
be no advance in the quality of treatment.”

 

“Being in a clinical trial gave me comfort that I would be carefully 
monitored.” 

Stephen Barraclough, clinical trial patient for melanoma
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Accelerating improvement through research

Priority Target Progress Highlights

Rapid uptake of research 
discoveries into clinical 
practice.

f Focus the budget on 
innovation grants in 
2008–09.

• 18 Research Innovation grants were funded out of a 
total of 78 applications.

f Evaluation of existing 
Translational Research 
Program grants.

• One Translational Program grant was evaluated. Site 
visits to the remaining two Translational Research 
grants are scheduled for early October 2009.

Support high quality 
successful and productive 
cancer researchers in NSW.

f Consolidate funding 
programs and implement 
a rigorous evaluation 
process.

• An evaluation framework for research programs was 
developed and presented to the Cancer Research 
Advisory Committee as well as the Research Grants 
Review Committee. The implementation of the 
framework is being undertaken on an ongoing basis.

Provide research platforms 
and processes to facilitate 
high quality cancer research.

f Focus on funding new 
infrastructure grants 
and reviewing key 
infrastructure platforms.

• A total of 16 equipment grants were awarded in the 
financial year and a grant round was conducted to 
provide an opportunity for continuation of funding 
for existing key infrastructure platforms. Successful 
proposals will commence in the financial year 
2009–10.

Increase clinical trials 
participation to 10 per cent of 
new cancer patients.

f Expand the clinical trials 
network with more 
research nurses and data 
managers.

• A Clinical Trials Grants Review Committee was 
established and a competitive grant round for Clinical 
Trials Nurses and Data Managers positions was 
conducted. Six new positions were established as 
well as top up funding provided for a further three 
positions to upgrade them from 0.5 to full-time status.

Increase quality and quantity 
of trials available to cancer 
patients.

f Establish clinical trials capacity
in under-represented 
cancer types.

• The Gastroenterology and Hepatology unit at 
Westmead Hospital was funded to conduct trials in 
the endoscopic treatment of advanced or extensive 
gastro intestinal pre-cancer and early cancer.

2008–09 has been a challenging year for research at the Cancer Institute NSW. From a funding point of view, this financial year 
saw the peak in recurrent commitments, which somewhat limited the capacity to maintain the previously rapid expansion of the 
program. Nonetheless, we were able to retain a funding stream for new awards within a range of schemes.

Personalising treatment

The pace of innovation in cancer research continues to 
accelerate with technological advances, particularly in the field 
of genomics, enabling new understandings of the development 
and progression of the many different diseases that are 
described under the term cancer. The ramifications of these 
advances are profound. 

Personalised medicine, the process whereby each patient will 
be provided with the treatment that has the best chance of 
succeeding based on the biological and genetic characteristics 
of the disease is no longer a distant hope but is increasingly 
becoming a tangible reality. 

The groundwork for personalised medicine has already been laid, 
with the cancer field proving to be the most advanced therapeutic 
area with availability of diagnostic tests and targeted molecular 
therapies, enabling a more effective treatment for many cancer types. 

As exciting and promising as these developments are, 
enormous challenges remain both in terms of scientific 
discovery as well as on a systemic level. Most critically, 
personalised medicine by its nature will have to be based on 
the closer integration of research into clinical practice that 
enables the seamless translation of research findings into 
patient benefits as well as a continuous feedback loop from 
clinical practice into laboratory based research.

• achieved   • in progress   • not achieved
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Rapid uptake of research discoveries into 
clinical practice

Fostering research expertise by supporting careers

Research career support remains a key component of the 
statewide strategy to increase cancer research activity and ensure 
that NSW is at the forefront of international developments within 
the rapidly changing and advancing field.  A further increase in 
capacity will depend on the success of strategies to encourage 
researchers to make cancer their field of endeavour as well as 
attract high calibre researchers from interstate and overseas. 

Ensuring lifesaving equipment is up-to-date
Rapid technological advances pose a particular challenge to 
the volume and nature of the cancer research that can be 
undertaken in NSW. Given the pace of innovation, research 
equipment is superseded and outdated within ever shortening 
timeframes, putting enormous strain on already limited resources. 
Identifying critical infrastructure platforms that can be shared 
among groups of researchers remains crucial to maximising  
the benefits that can be achieved with limited funding.

In 2008–09, we awarded 16 Research Infrastructure Grants 
(none were awarded in 2007–08) to further enhance the 
research capacity in NSW.

Developing a world-class clinical trials network 
Cancer trials nurses and data managers

A new round of grant funding was awarded for additional cancer 
trial nurse and data manager positions in December 2008. There 
were two categories of grants awarded during this round:

f New positions - applications were sought from units to employ 
 new clinical trials nurse or data manager staff. These grants  
 were open to both well established units, as well as units  
 seeking to start clinical trials. The grants are funded by the 
 Cancer Institute NSW and are valued at $84,900 per  
 year, plus $5,000 per grant for establishment.  Six grants were  
 awarded with a total value of $509,400 per annum.

f Top-up funding for units already funded through the 
 program established by The Cancer Council NSW for 0.5  
 full-time equivalent positions. These grants are each valued  
 at $32,000 per year, and three were awarded with a total  
 value of $96,000 per year.  

The NSW Cancer Trials Nurses and Data Mangers Grants 
now provide funding for 55 full-time equivalent positions, and 
employ 74 people across 46 individual units. The total value of 
the program is $4.28m per annum.

Investment in research will lead to improved survival and quality of life for future cancer patients.

26/ PREVENTION SCREENING PATIENT CARE

INTERNATIONAL CLINICAL 
& RESEARCH FELLOWSHIPS

FUTURE RESEARCH 
LEADERSCLINICAL TRIAL NURSE/

DATA MANAGER SUPPORT

RESEARCH EQUIPMENT 
GRANTS

EARLY CAREER 
FELLOWSHIPS

RESEARCH INNOVATION GRANTS

RESEARCH SCHOLARS AWARDS
CLINICAL RESEARCH FELLOWSHIPS

NEW RESEARCH FUNDING 
BY GRANT TYPE 2009

TOTAL: $18,513,100

Award Number awarded Amount Start date

Clinical Research Fellowships 3 1,895,730 Jan 09

International Clinical Research Fellowships 1 158,961 Jan 09

Early Career Development Fellowship 9 5,244,454 Jan 09

Research Scholar Award 14 665,305 Jan 09

Cancer Research Leader Grant – Future Research Leaders 2 2,373,217 Jan 09

We introduced a new grant scheme in this financial year – the Future Research Leaders – to attract up and coming high calibre 
researchers to NSW to undertake a substantial program of research. Two grants were awarded in 2008–09.
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Review of NSW cancer trial network activity

A full review of trial activity for 2008 was undertaken for all 
funded units by the independent Clinical Trials Grants Review 
Committee. This data has been collected for annual review since 
the start of the program in 2004, and tracked against the overall 
aim of the Cancer Plan: to increase trial activity to 10 per cent of 
new cancer patients on trial by 2010.

Based on the review of this data, the beginning of 2008 saw 
a decrease in the number of trials available for recruitment. 
However, this improved in the second half of the year to 
demonstrate an overall increase in recruiting trials compared 
with the previous year.  Similarly, recruitments to trials saw a slight 
decrease in 2008, although there have been increases in activity 
within specific tumour groups. 

Although significant increases in patient numbers enrolled on 
clinical trials have been achieved since 2004, participation in 
cancer clinical trials remains short of our goal of 10 per cent 
of new cancer patients in trials. We intend to help improve the 
capacity, efficiency and recruiting practices of clinical trials units  
to reach this challenging target.

Re-evaluating our programs for the next cancer 
plan We are now moving towards the final phase of the 
2007–2010 Cancer Plan and we have an increased emphasis on 
measuring and evaluating the impact of our diverse programs. To 
this end, a consultancy was commissioned to provide a critical 
review of best practice in research evaluation. Subsequently, the 
Division of Cancer Research’s evaluation team has developed 
an evaluation framework based on program logic, which has 
since been presented to and endorsed by our Cancer Research 
Advisory Committee. This will serve as the guiding document for 
our ongoing evaluation activities in the final year of the current 
cancer plan. Concurrent with the development of this framework 
we have collated a summary of funding outcomes which 
provides a high level overview of where and how the research 
program funding has been allocated. The new funding programs 
show a strong emphasis on treatment research, followed by 
biology and to a lesser extent cover all other common scientific 
outline categories.

Future plans 
Rapid uptake of research discoveries into clinical practice

f We will establish a new funding stream supporting the 
 development of integrated cancer research centres, which will  
 facilitate and accelerate the integration of research into clinical  
 practice.

f Translational health services research grant scheme to be 
 introduced, aimed at bringing together academic researchers 
 and clinicians in collaboration. 

Support high quality successful and productive cancer 

researchers in NSW

f A number of career development support schemes will be 
 offered in 2009–10.

Provide research platforms and processes to facilitate 

high quality cancer research

f Funding for both physical and non-physical key infrastructure 
 will be continued in 2009–10. 

Increase clinical trials participation to 10 per cent of 

new cancer patients

f In 2009–10 Clinical Trial Network support grants will be 
 established to further strengthen trials activity in Area  
 Health Services.

Increase quality and quantity of trials available to 

cancer patients

f In 2009–10 a new round of Cooperative Cancer Trials Group 
 Infrastructure support funding will be implemented.
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The daughter of German-Jewish immigrants, Phyllis Butow 
was determined to make a difference in other peoples’ lives. 
This is something she has achieved through her study in clinical 
psychology and research into the psychological adjustment 
of cancer patients, particularly migrants who may not have 
immediate access to information about the disease.

“Cancer is a disease that can affect any of us and our families,” 
she says. “Knowledge is continually growing in this arena, 
throwing up new questions regarding the best way to inform 
and support cancer patients and their families.” 

Phyllis is now conducting a series of studies with the Psycho-
Oncology Co-operative Research Group (PoCoG), to investigate 
the unmet needs, quality of life, psychological morbidity and patterns 
of care in Chinese, Greek and Arabic speaking migrants with cancer.   
“We are conducting two large studies, one through the cancer 
registries in NSW,  Victoria and Queensland and the other through 
oncology clinics in NSW and Victoria to determine the prevalence 
and predictors of difficulties in this population as compared to 
English-speaking Australian born patients.” 

“The NSW Central Cancer Registry has provided invaluable 
assistance in refining the recruitment strategy – including 
developing algorithms to identify people whose birthplace 
and name suggests that they fit our eligibility criteria– and 
procedures to contact patients through referring doctors,” she 
says. “The procedures we developed in NSW are now being 
rolled out in other states. 

“The Central Cancer Registry staff have bent over backwards 
to accommodate our needs and support the project.”

The project is a complex one, involving translating and back-
translating, multiple ethics applications and the employment of 
multicultural staff to ensure the material is culturally sensitive. 
However, Phyllis is confident that the outcome will be worth the 
effort. “We hope that this project will give us accurate, national 
data on the needs of migrants with cancer in Australia, and the 
factors affecting whether those needs are met,” she says. 

“These data will guide the development of interventions to 
better support our migrants when they get cancer, and training 
materials to better prepare our health professionals when they 
treat these people.” 

 

“I would like to see that all patients have access to relevant, personalised, evidence-
based information and resources in their own language, to help them understand 
their situation and make informed choices about their treatment.”

Prof Phyllis Butow, Chair, Psycho-Oncology Co-operative Research Group, The University of Sydney

ffff28/ PREVENTION SCREENING PATIENT CARE



ffff ff

CANCER INSTITUTE NSW ANNUAL REPORT 2009

RESEARCH DATA COLLECTION /29

Relevant cancer information for the people of NSW

Priority Target Progress Highlights

Provide a single, accessible, 
credible source of clinical and 
population data on cancer.

f Develop a mechanism 
for incorporating clinical 
information into the NSW 
Central Cancer Registry.

• Comparison of the scope and data in the  
NSW Central Cancer Registry and AHS Clinical Cancer 
Registries in progress.

f Establish a governance 
framework and 
operational arrangements.

• Establishment of data governance framework for 
NSW Central Cancer Registry and Clinical Cancer 
Registries in progress. Privacy Framework for Clinical 
Cancer Registries developed.

Linking existing health data 
to enable others to answer 
important questions about 
the quality of services and 
document cancer outcomes.

f Continue existing program
of Master Linkage Key 
updates.

• The Master Linkage Key now contains 26.8 million 
records, compared to 20 million in 2007–08.

f Increase number of linkage
projects undertaken in 
2008–09.

• Thirty-five linkage projects were completed in 
2008–09, compared to six in 2007–08.

Provision of accessible cancer 
data to key users.

f Develop an online reporting
and analysis solution to 
enable stakeholders to 
aggregate data according to 
their needs.

• The tender for selection of a solution is under 
evaluation.

f Produce the report, Cancer
in NSW: Incidence and 
Mortality 2006 and update 
the 2006 web-based module.

• Completed and published in print and online.

f Publish five reports in the 
tumour series.

• Oesophageal Cancer in NSW, Kidney Cancer in NSW, 
Bladder Cancer in NSW, Liver Cancer in NSW and 
Prostate Cancer in NSW all published in 2009.

f Submit papers on bladder 
cancer, brain cancer and 
cancer in adolescents and 
young adults to peer-
reviewed journals.

• Two bladder cancer papers were published. A 
comparative study of breast cancer in the UK and 
NSW was published in March and May 2009.  The 
papers on brain cancer and cancer in adolescents 
and young adults have not been completed.

Understanding cancer in NSW

Cancer is a notifiable disease in NSW. Detailed information 
about every new case diagnosed or treated is given to the 
NSW Central Cancer Registry under strict privacy and security 
measures. We then use this data to report cancer incidence,  

 

mortality and survival, which in turn supports the work of 
clinicians, policy makers, planners and researchers. We also 
make sure this information is available to the general public, 
cancer patients, carers and survivors. 

• achieved   • in progress   • not achieved
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Increasing the credibility of our data

The Cancer Institute NSW secured funding in February 2008 
from the Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing 
(Quality Use of Pathology Programs) to work with the Royal 
College of Pathologists Australasia (RCPA) and Cancer Australia 
to develop six reporting protocols (lung, melanoma, breast, 
colorectal, lymphoma and prostate) and a toolkit in partnership 
with national clinician and pathologist organisations. 

This process is underway and all six protocols are in final 
editing. The objectives are to: improve the usability of pathology 
repor ts by clinicians, registries and researchers; improve 
decision support for cancer treatment; improve the feedback 
of pathology reports to cancer patients during consultation; 
ensure better practice by pathologists by repor ting to a 
minimum data set but not limited to the data set; and provide 
structured reports that will enable data items to be easily 
extracted for electronic health records, electronic medical 
records, clinical information systems and clinical audits.

Following stakeholder consultation, it is intended for the new 
protocols to standardise the reporting and information collected 
by all pathologists.

Collecting data more efficiently 

The Cancer Notification Por tal (CNP) was implemented 
in more than 60 per cent of private hospitals in 2008–09. 
The por tal enables private hospitals to notify cancer cases 
electronically via a secure website. Before the CNP was 
developed, private hospitals notified cancer cases using paper 
forms. This required manual data entry of patient’s demographic 
details and coding of the patient’s cancer diagnosis. The 
implementation of the CNP has removed the requirement for 
manual data entry and coding. This has reduced the resources 
and time required to process these notifications and has 
allowed us to focus on quality assurance activities.

Upgrading the clinical cancer registry web module

The Clinical Cancer Registry (ClinCR) was set up in 2005 to 
collect treatment and cancer-stage information to monitor 
quality of care (at a clinician, facility and state level) and to 
facilitate service planning (at an Area and State level). We 
provide funding for five Area Health Services (AHSs) to 
provide this information.

The ClinCR web module was upgraded in June 2009 to version 
3.02 to move from a facility-based record to a person-centric 
record. This will enable us to consolidate the data from all 
hospitals for one patient, rather than duplication in records 
if the person has attended more than one facility. We also 

implemented four data set extensions in the web module 
for colorectal, breast, gynaecology and FIGO (International 
Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics); capturing more 
detailed information about these specific tumour groups. 

The Data Completeness and Cancer Services Report 2006 was 
also developed and presented the ClinCR steering committee 
for discussion and advice. This was a milestone for the ClinCR 
program to provide statewide information on the completeness 
of the data collection.

Linking existing health data to answer questions about 

the quality of services and document cancer outcomes

Data linkage can be used to enable monitoring and research 
on cancer risk factors, patterns of care and health service 
utilisation, as well as patient outcomes. 

In the past year alone the Centre for Health Record Linkage 
(CHeReL) has enabled more than 35 linkage projects (six in 
2007–08) across a range of fascinating subjects. Data linkage by 
CHeReL hit the headlines earlier this year when new research 
by the Cancer Institute NSW provided the strongest indication 
yet that smoking during pregnancy increases a child’s likelihood 
of developing cancer.

Provision of accessible cancer data to key users

In 2008–09, we received 170 ad hoc requests for data from the 
NSW Central Cancer Registry (200 in 2007–08), 36 of which 
required ethical approval. Some of the 170 requests were 
related to cancer cluster investigations raised by members of 
the general public.

Using data to improve services in NSW

We encourage external organisations and health care providers 
to access information from the NSW Central Cancer Registry 
for service planning and improvement. In 2008–09, we received 
the following requests for information:

f Extensive analysis of risk factor, cancer incidence, mortality, 
 projections of cancer incidence and mortality by LGA,  
 survival analysis, service planning and clinical cancer registry  
 overview and indicators was undertaken to support the  
 South Eastern Sydney Illawarra AHS review of cancer services.

f Projections of incidence for lymphohaematopoetic cancers 
 and projections of bone marrow transplantation procedures 
  contributed to the Statewide Services NSW Bone Marrow  
 Transplant Services Plan.

Relevant cancer data will identify key trends, successes and emerging cancer problems.
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The facts about cancer in NSW

In November 2008, we released the latest report documenting 
incidence and mortality data in NSW. In the report, Cancer in 
New South Wales: Incidence and Mortality 2006, we also give 
projections of the likely situation in 2008.

There were 35,159 new cases of cancer in 2006 and there 
are projected to be 38,807 in 2008. Trends show that cancer 
incidence in NSW has increased by around 10 per cent in men 
and 7 per cent in women over the past decade.

Cancer death rates have fallen by 14 per cent in men and 8 
per cent in women over the past 10 years. There is a marked 
decline in death rates in younger people, suggesting that some 
lifestyle risk messages are having a greater impact on the group. 
However, the report also presents a mixed picture with too 
many cancers still with poor outcomes, such as cancers of the 
lung, brain and pancreas.

The tumour series

We also made great headway in producing more reports in our 
tumour series. The publications, Oesophageal Cancer in NSW, 
Kidney Cancer in NSW, Bladder Cancer in NSW, Liver Cancer in 
NSW and Prostate Cancer in NSW were all published in 2009.

Future targets 
To provide a single, accessible, credible source of 

clinical and population data on cancer

f To seek additional funding for a potential six projects which 
 have been identified from the Structured Pathology Project.  
 The Cancer Institute NSW will be seeking funding from the  
 Quality Use of Pathology Program (Department of Health and  
 Ageing) to plan for these projects.

f To evaluate the Secure Cancer Notification Portal and 
 develop and implement a new version, if required,  
 incorporating recommendations of the evaluation.

f The Cancer Institute NSW is exploring opportunities to 
 share data between the Central Cancer Registry and the  
 Clinical Cancer Registry. Hunter New England Area Health  
 Service (AHS) has been identified as the pilot site. The  
 primary aim is to reduce duplication of effort and enable  
 Hunter New England AHS to focus on the collection of  
 clinical data, including stage and treatment.

Linking existing health data to enable others to answer 

important questions about the quality of services and 

document cancer outcomes

f The Master Linkage Key will grow by more than five 
 million records in 2009–10. Core datasets will be updated  
 more regularly to facilitate access to the most recent data  
 for research and evaluation.

f Further growth in demand for CHeReL services is 
 anticipated over 2009–10. 

Provision of accessible cancer data to key users

f Finalisation of the tender for the Online Analysis and 
 Reporting Solution, and designing and implementation  
 of the preferred solution.

f Development and review of a set of clinical indicators 
 with input from key stakeholders and reporting against  
 these indicators will occur on an ongoing basis.

f To undertake surgical end results studies in lung and bladder
  cancers, building on existing analyses but taking into account  
 co-morbidities and distance from treatment facility. 

f Further scheduled analyses and indicator reporting using
 ongoing linkage between the Cancer Registry data and the  
 Admitted Patient Data Collection.

f To publish long-term cancer incidence and mortality 
 projections by cancer site, clinical grouping, old and new  
 Area Health Service of residence and local government  
 area of residence at diagnosis for 2011 to 2021 in the 2007  
 NSW Cancer Incidence and Mortality Report.

f Publication of two more reports in the tumour series.

f To provide relevant and timely cancer services reporting to 
 Area Health Services, with the goal of creating reports to  
 meet the needs of chief executives and directors of  
 cancer services.
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Key Achievements
f Successful implementation of significant enhancements for 
 core information systems, including the Pap Test Register  
 and Central Cancer Registry.

f Development and deployment of a number of web-based 
 portals and information systems with a focus on secure  
 electronic exchange of information.

f Deployment of the initial phase on the online Grants 
 Management system.

f Implementation of all ICT related infrastructure and 
 high speed data communication services for the  
 centralised enterprise Picture Archiving and Communication 
  (PACs) systems to support BreastScreen’s statewide digital  
 mammography screening program.

f Significant ICT infrastructure improvements to improve 
 robustness and maintain high availability of information  
 systems by implementing server virtualisation technology. 

f External review to confirm our compliance with Section 
 4-8 of ISO27001-2006 Standard, which demonstrates  
 that the IT Department has a sound Information Security  
 Management System in place. In addition the IT Department 
 complies with all controls as required by the Standard for  
 Sections 4–8. 

f Successful review by our auditors of our Business 
 Continuity and Information Technology Recovery Plans.  
 This review confirmed that we have a sound Business  
 Continuity Management system in place which is consistent  
 with the Australian Standards and good practice guidelines.

Plans for 2009–10
We will continue to maintain high quality professional ICT 
services to all lines of business and other key stakeholders. To 
achieve this in the period, we will:

f Focus on maintaining front line services with a particular 
 emphasis on delivering web based solutions and information  
 systems to better serve our external stakeholders.

f Collaborate with the Division of Cancer Screening to evaluate 
 and select an appropriate statewide BreastScreen Information  
 System, and the integration with digital mammography.

f Provide ongoing enhancements to existing legacy information 
 systems with the long term objective of migrating these  
 systems to state of the art supportable technologies.

f Continue to implement strategic ICT infrastructure 
 initiatives, which includes hardware virtualisation, high  
 availability failover systems and maintain continuity of  
 business.

f Maintain, monitor and continually improve our ICT 
 governance and Information Security Management System  
 in order to maintain our compliance with the ISO27001- 
 2006 standards.

f Provide high quality operational ICT support services 
 in accordance with service level agreements to all lines  
 of business.

Our objectives
To assist the Institute reach the goals set out in the Cancer Plan by providing high quality professional 
information and communication technology (ICT) services, day-to-day operational support and 
ongoing assistance in the development, enhancement and maintenance of the organisation’s ICT 
applications.

Information technology
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Communication

Achievements:
f We issued 49 media releases (49 in 2007–08), including 
 statements in collaboration with the Minister Assisting the  
 Minister for Health (Cancer), containing important cancer  
 information in NSW for health professionals, cancer patients,  
 their carers and survivors and the general public.

f We held the Premier’s Awards for Outstanding Cancer 
 Research 2009. The event was hosted by Adam Spencer and 
  included special guest Sir Gustav Nossal. It celebrated the work  
 of dedicated cancer researchers in NSW who received  
 grants from the Cancer Institute NSW. The awards attracted  
 a 25 per cent increase in sponsorship revenue and a 20 per  
 cent increase in ticket sales on the previous year.

 Sponsors of the event were: 
 • Amgen
 • Novartis Oncology
 • Roche
 • Sanofi-aventis
 • Charm Health
 • GlaxoSmithKline Oncology
 • Varian Medical Systems
 • Merk Serono

f We released 12 monographs, nine reports, three literature 
 reviews and three discussion papers. 

f We published a series of fact sheets about specific cancers 
 for the public and worked with Vision Australia to produce 
 large text, e-text, Braille and audio versions for the visionally 
 impaired. 

f We produced a quarterly staff newspaper called The 
 Indicator to increase employee engagement and enhance 
 internal communication.

f The total number of visitors to the Cancer Institute NSW 
 website increased by 46 per cent to 472, 353 (324,624  
 in 2007–08). 

Plans for 2009–10
f Build and deliver an intranet for the Cancer Institute NSW.

f Build and deliver a new website for the Cancer Institute 
 NSW.

f Build and deliver an extranet for stakeholders of the 
 Cancer Institute NSW.

f Produce a new quarterly online journal of the Cancer 
 Institute NSW called incite.

f Roll out an internal communications plan to enhance 
 employee engagement.

f Launch the eviQ brand to the public.

Our objectives
f To position the Cancer Institute NSW as the authoritative source of information on cancer in NSW.

f To build meaningful connections with key audiences including health professional and cancer researchers.

f To enhance the effectiveness of the Cancer Institute NSW website and develop a strong email 
 platform to provide information and advice on cancer in NSW.

f To release new and impactful information about cancer in NSW through monographs, reports, 
 fact sheets and other materials.
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Finance and administration

Achievements
f Financial reporting has been further streamlined and we are
  now able to provide more detailed reports.

f Expenditure of programs was within the Cancer Institute 
 allocated budget for 2008–09. An unqualified audit report  
 was achieved for 2008–09. 

f Completed the implementation of online payroll system 
 KIOSK, thereby minimising the use of paper based forms,  
 and reducing the risk of errors. 

f Effective cash management, maximising interest earned and 
 minimal outstanding payables.

Plans for 2009–10
f Design and implementation of analytical reports for budget 
 modelling in order to accommodate strategic planning and  
 the new Cancer Plan.

f In collaboration with our third party financial services provider; 
 to transition to the new integrated financial system SAP.

f Prudent cash management to minimise major fluctuations in 
 cash balances, and to manage payables effectively.

f Explore fundraising capabilities and options for the Cancer 
 Institute NSW.

f Implement actions and processes to mitigate risks identified 
 through risk assessment.

f Continue to provide a high level of service and support to 
 the divisions within the Cancer Institute NSW.    

Our objectives
To provide support and services in relation to developing and monitoring budget, meeting statutory financial reporting 
obligations and ensuring compliance with relevant policies and directives.  
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The Board of the Cancer Institute NSW
The Cancer Institute NSW is a statutory body governed by the 
Cancer Institute NSW Board appointed by the NSW Minister for 
Health and the Minister Assisting the Minister for Health (Cancer).

The Board membership consists of nine non-executive 
members and the Chief Cancer Officer/CEO. Board Members 
are appointed for a term of three years by the Minister under 
the Cancer Institute (NSW) Act 2003. 

The Board seeks to ensure that at any point in time its 
membership comprises persons with the appropriate mix of 
skills, knowledge, specialist expertise and availability to maximise 
its effectiveness and contribution to the organisation.

The role of the Board

The Board has responsibility for the organisation’s broad 
policies and determines strategic priorities and exercises its 
functions, responsibilities and obligations under the Cancer 
Institute (NSW) Act 2003. 

The Board delegates responsibility for the management of 
the Cancer Institute NSW through the Chief Cancer Officer. 
The Chief Cancer Officer is accountable to the Board for all 
authority delegated to executive management. Following the 
resignation of Professor Jim Bishop AO as Chief Cancer Officer 
and CEO, Laureate Professor Robert Sanson-Fisher AO was 
appointed as Acting Chief Cancer Officer and CEO pending 
the appointment of a permanent position holder.

Board Meetings

MEMBERS MEETINGS NUMBER OF  
 ATTENDED MEETINGS  
  ELIGIBLE

Dr Helen Zorbas 7 9

Ms Jill Boehm AM 7 9

Ms Liza Carver 5 9

Dr Patrick Cregan 6 9

Professor Peter Gunning 6 8

Dr Paul Moy 6 9

Professor John Simes 4 9

Mr John Stubbs 7 9

Ms Lucy Turnbull 3 8

Professor Jim Bishop 
Chief Cancer Officer (to April 2009) 4 4
Professor Rob Sanson-Fisher 
Acting Chief Cancer Officer (from April 2009) 2 2
Professor Robert Sutherland 
(to 31 September 2008) 1 1

Board governance instruments

The Board has developed a number of key governance 
instruments to provide guidance for the organisation and to 
ensure a high level of accountability:

f Statement of Strategic Intent

The Statement of Strategic Intent defines strategic priorities 
through to govern and guide the organisation’s strategic 
position in cancer control in NSW in conjunction with the 
State Cancer Plan. The Statement of Strategic Intent was last 
reviewed and approved in February 2008.

f Board Charter

A Board Charter has been drawn up to ensure consistency 
with Board objectives, responsibilities and governance 
standards. The Charter outlines key responsibilities of 
the Board to: Develop the policies and identify strategies 
necessary to enable the Cancer Institute NSW to 
improve cancer control in NSW; Review and monitor the 
performance of the CEO; Ensure appropriate policies and 
procedures are in place to manage risks and comply with 
applicable laws and regulations; and approve and monitor 
financial reporting and budgets. The Board Charter was last 
reviewed and approved in February 2008.

f Code of conduct

The Board of the Cancer Institute NSW has adopted a 
comprehensive Code of Conduct and Ethics that is consistent 
with best practice. The code outlines the fundamental 
values and principles that define the standards of behaviour 
expected of the Board of the Cancer Institute NSW.

f Register of interests 

In accordance with the Cancer Institute (NSW) Act 2003 
a register of interests and a conflict of interest register is 
maintained and updated for all Board Members. Board 
Members are required to advise of any perceived or actual 
conflicts of interest at the commencement of all Board meetings.

Corporate Governance
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Committees of the Board

The Board is advised on specific matters by a number of 
committees. These include the Audit Committee; the Ethics 
Committee; the Clinical Services Advisory Committee; the 
Research Advisory Committee; the Quality and Clinical 
Effectiveness Advisory Committee; and other committees 
as the Board considers appropriate to provide advice and 
assistance to the Board in carrying out its functions.  

Each committee has the function of providing independent 
advice, in its respective area of expertise, to the Board on: 

(a) the priorities of the Cancer Institute NSW in achieving its 
objectives, and 

(b) such other matters as the Board from time to time 
requests.  

The Ethics Committee, Clinical Services Advisory Committee, 
Quality and Clinical Effectiveness Committee and Research 
Advisory Committee in additional to being statutory are all 
independent of the Board and non-board Members serve as 
the majority of committee members and as the Chair of each 
committee. Details of these committees are included on pages 
118–120.

Changes in Board membership

During the year, the Hon Peter Collins AM QC completed his 
term of office and retired from the position of Chairperson 
in August 2008. From October 2008, Dr Helen Zorbas was 
appointed as Acting Chairperson of the Board pending the 
appointment of a permanent Chairperson. Professor Peter 
Gunning and Ms Lucy Turnbull were appointed to the Board to 
fill an existing vacancy and to replace Professor Rob Sutherland 
who retired from the Board.

Remuneration of Board members

The Chairperson and Board Members receive no remuneration 
for service on the Board however travel expenditure and 
reasonable costs incurred in discharging their role as Board 
Members are reimbursed in accordance with the Cancer 
Institute NSW Travel Policy.

Audit and risk management

The Cancer Institute NSW identifies and manages its business 
and operational risks within an integrated risk management 
framework including the following elements:

f Periodic risk assessment and analysis performed as part of 
 the Internal Audit Program.

f Periodic updates of the risk register and risk action plan and 
 ongoing monitoring of risk management strategies.

f Oversight of all elements of the risk management framework 
 by the Audit Committee of the Board (page 118).
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Dr Helen Zorbas MBBS FASBP MAICD

Acting Chairperson of the Board of the Cancer Institute NSW

Dr Helen Zorbas is CEO and Executive Director of the National 
Breast and Ovarian Cancer Centre, and holds a Staff Specialist 
position at Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Sydney.  

Helen has been responsible for directing a number of national 
cancer control initiatives to improve evidence-based practice, policy 
and health service delivery in both the clinical and psycho-social 
aspects of cancer care.

Helen has been appointed to a number of key national cancer and 
government health committees, most notably: Chair, BreastScreen 
Australia Evaluation Advisory Committee; member, National Health 
Committee of the NHMRC; member, NHMRC Health Advisory 
Committee; Chair, Australian Screening Advisory Committee, Quality 
Improvement & Workforce Working Group; and Chair, Microwave 
Cancer Review Committee of the NHMRC.  

Helen was appointed to the Board of the Cancer Institute 
NSW in November 2006.

Chief Cancer Officer 
Laureate Professor Rob Sanson-Fisher  
AO B.Psych. M.Psych. PhD FAPS 

Acting Chief Cancer Officer and CEO (from April 2009)

Laureate Professor Rob Sanson-Fisher has published more than 
320 peer review research papers and 16 chapters in books and has 
obtained numerous research grants from the NHMRC and other 
competitive funding agencies. He was the inaugural Director of the 
New South Wales Cancer Education Research Program whose 
research training and publications received national and international 
recognition and was designated a WHO Centre of Excellence. 

More recently he finished a term as Dean of the Faculty of 
Medicine & Health Sciences at the University of Newcastle. He 
has served as a consultant for the National Institute of Clinical 
Studies, CDC and NIH in the United States and national 
research groups in Canada and is a Fellow of the Australian 
Psychological Society. In 2007 the University of Newcastle 
awarded him Laureate Professorship in recognition of his 
research leadership. In 2008 the University of Waterloo in 
Canada awarded him an Honorary Doctorate in Science.

In January 2009 Rob was made an Officer of the Order of 
Australia (AO) for service to improving public health outcomes 
through research and education in the areas of behavioural 
science, cancer control and indigenous health. 

Members 
Ms Jill Boehm OAM, RN, CM, C ORTH, M Mgt, FAICD 
Ms Jill Boehm resigned in 2003 as CEO of the Cancer Patients 
Assistance Society of NSW, which runs the Jean Colvin Hospital 
in Darling Point, a facility for patients travelling from rural areas to 
Sydney to receive cancer treatment. She has been instrumental 
in developing additional rural branches of the Society and 
improving communication links between head office and rural 
branches. Jill is a registered nurse and representative of the NSW 
Nurses Registration Board on Professional and Tribunal matters, 
a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and 
has been appointed to the Board of The Cancer Council NSW. 
Jill was awarded the Order of Australia Medal in 2007 for service 
to the community through advocacy and support for people 
with cancer, their families and carers. She was nominated for 
the NSW Women’s Honour Role in 2005 for role as CEO of 
CanAssist and as a member of the Steering Committee building 
the accommodation facility for cancer patients and their carers 
at Wagga Wagga NSW. She has also been a member of the 
Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, Gene 
Technology, Ethics and Community Consultation Committee 
since 2008. Jill was appointed to the Board of the Cancer 
Institute NSW in 2003 and reappointed in 2006.

Ms Liza Carver BEc, LLB LLM 

Ms Liza Carver is a Partner in the law firm, Gilbert + Tobin, and 
is a Director of Air Services Australia. She is a former Non-
Executive Director of RailCorp NSW, a former Non-Executive 
Director of the Rail Infrastructure Corporation, a former 
Non-Executive Director of State Rail Authority of NSW, a 
former Non-Executive Director of Rail Access Corporation and 
has served as an Associate Commissioner with the Australian 
Competition and Consumer Commission and a member of the 
NSW Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal. Between 
2005 and 2008 Liza was part-time Commissioner of the 
Australian Energy Market Commission. Liza was appointed to 
the Board of the Cancer Institute NSW in November 2006.

Dr Patrick Cregan MBBS, FRACS

Dr Patrick Cregan is a specialist surgeon with a major interest in 
endocrine and endoscopic surgery based at Nepean Hospital. 
He has a particular interest in surgical robotics, having performed 
Australia’s first and the world’s sixth Telesurgical procedure.

Other interests include research interest in mathematical 
modelling of cancer, patient communication and the application 
of advanced technologies.

Pictured from left to right

Board of the Cancer Institute NSW
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Patrick has served on a number of committees/boards including 
the Royal Australian College of Surgeons, Wentworth Area Health 
Service, NSW Health Clinical Council and the Australasian Medical 
Simulation Society. Patrick is currently the Chairman of the Board of a 
private medical technology and research company, Medicvision. Patrick 
was appointed to the Board of the Cancer Institute NSW in 2003.

Professor Peter Gunning BSc (Hons), PhD 

Professor Peter Gunning is the Head of the Oncology Research 
Unit in the Department of Pharmacology at the University of New 
South Wales. His research is focussed on the development of new 
therapeutic strategies for the treatment of childhood cancer. These 
strategies target the skeleton of the cancer cell and build on the 
principles of cell architecture that Peter’s group has discovered over 
the last 20 years. Peter has published over 100 primary research 
articles and has recently edited the first book devoted to his field 
of research. Previous appointments have included leadership roles 
as Chair of the Division of Research at The Children’s Hospital 
at Westmead, Chair of the Westmead Research Hub Executive 
and Chair, Board of Bio-Link, a company established by the NSW 
Government to support commercialisation of biomedical intellectual 
property. Peter was appointed to the Board of the Cancer Institute 
NSW in August 2008.

Dr Paul Moy BA (Hons-Ec), Dip Ed, PhD(Ec)

Dr Paul Moy is a senior executive with UBS Global Asset 
Management and has extensive experience in investment banking, 
the energy, transport and utility industries. He is a former Executive 
Director of UBS Warburg, Deputy Secretary - NSW Treasury, a 
former Chairman of the Innovation Investment Fund, a former 
Director of Western Power Corporation, the Commonwealth 
Rehabilitation Service, the State Rail Authority of NSW, Railcorp, 
and the Diversified Utility and Energy Trust (DUET) and Transgrid 
Corporation. He is also a former Member of the National 
Competition Council and Australian Statistics Advisory Council.

Currently Paul is a director of Centennial Coal and Chairman 
of Austral Coal. Paul was appointed to the Board of the Cancer 
Institute NSW in 2005.

Professor John Simes BSc, MBBS, VQE, SM, FRACP, MD

Professor John Simes is a Senior Principal Research Fellow and 
Professor of Clinical Epidemiology, School of Public Health, 
University of Sydney; Medical Oncologist, Royal Prince Alfred 
Hospital; Board Member and Coordinating Statistician, ANZ 
Breast Cancer Trials Group Incorporated; and Board member, 
Australasian Gastro-Intestinal Trial Group Incorporated. 

He participates in a wide range of scientific committees including: 
Medicare Services Advisory Committee; Project Grants Committee, 
NHMRC, and the International Breast Cancer Intervention Study 
Steering Committee. John was appointed to the Board of the 
Cancer Institute NSW in November 2006.

Mr John Stubbs BA Dip Acct 

Mr John Stubbs is the Executive Officer of Cancer Voices Australia 
and Manager of the NSW Bone Marrow Transplant Network. John 
is a survivor of leukaemia and an active representative of cancer 
consumers. He has served on the ANZ Clinical Trials Advisory 
Committee, the Radiation Oncology Jurisdictional Implementation 
Group (ROJIG) and the Therapeutic Goods Committee under the 
Department of Health and Ageing and the Australian Leukaemia 
Lymphoma Group Clinical Trials Data Monitoring Committee. He 
has also served on the Complementary Therapies Committee of 
the Cancer Institute NSW. John was appointed to the Board of the 
Cancer Institute NSW in November 2006.

Ms Lucy Turnbull LLB MBA 

Ms Lucy Turnbull was Lord Mayor of the City of Sydney from 2003 
to 2004 and Deputy Lord Mayor from 1999 to 2003. She served as 
an Administrator of Tweed Shire Council until the Council elections 
in September 2008. Lucy currently chairs a number of companies, 
both private and public, including WebCentral Group Limited, 
and Pengana Holdings Limited. She is a former chair of the NSW 
Government’s Ministerial Advisory Committee on Biotechnology 
and also served on the NSW Government’s Information Industry 
Business Advisory Board. Lucy has served as a Director of the 
Sydney Cancer Foundation and as president of the Sydney 
Children’s Hospital Foundation. She is currently a Board member  
of the Waterloo Redfern Authority. Lucy was appointed to the 
Board of the Cancer Institute NSW in August 2008.

The Hon. Peter Collins AM QC BA LLB

Peter Collins retired from the Board of the Cancer Institute 
NSW in August 2008.

Professor Jim Bishop AO MD MMed MBBS FRACP FRCPA

Chief Cancer Officer and CEO 

Professor Jim Bishop resigned from the Board of the Cancer 
Institute NSW in April 2009.

Professor Robert Sutherland BAgrSc, MAgrSc, PhD, FAA

Professor Robert Sutherland retired from the Board of the 
Cancer Institute NSW in September 2008.
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Prof Jim Bishop AO MD MMed MBBS FRACP FRCPA

Chief Cancer Officer and CEO (until April 2009)

Laureate Professor Rob Sanson-Fisher 
AO B.Psych. M.Psych. PhD FAPS 

Acting Chief Cancer Officer and CEO (from April 2009)

Ms Beth Macauley BA GCHSM RN 
Chief Operating Officer  
Beth Macauley was appointed Chief Operating Officer, 
Cancer Institute NSW in September 2003. Beth has extensive 
professional experience in strategic health services management, 
medical relations management and administration in the private 
hospital sector. She directs the financial management and 
reporting of the Cancer Institute NSW, as well as direction of 
human resources and information management. Beth also leads 
strategic planning and corporate governance processes.

Divisional directors

Ms Anita Dessaix MA

Program Manager, Cancer Prevention  
Anita Dessaix joined the Cancer Institute NSW in January 2005 
and was appointed Program Manager, Cancer Prevention in 2006. 
Over the years her focus has been in the area of primary prevention, 
managing the Tobacco Control, Melanoma Awareness and 
Lifestyle Cancers portfolios. In 2009, her role expanded to include 
managing the Cancer Prevention Division. Anita’s experience and 
knowledge is in social marketing, health promotion, communication 
management and public relations. Prior to joining the Cancer 
Institute, she held senior positions at NSW Health and prior to that 
at Western Sydney Area Health Service. Anita has a Master of Arts 
in Communication Management, a Diploma in Public Relations and is 
completing her Masters in Public Health. 

Dr Peter Webjora Grad Dip (Arts Mgt) MA PhD

Director of Cancer Research 
Peter Wejbora joined the Cancer Institute NSW in February 
2008 as Director of Research. Prior to his appointment, Peter 
held senior positions within the university sector, most recently 
as Research Development Manager at the University of Western 
Sydney, where he was responsible for facilitating the increase 
of research activity and external research income across all 
colleges. Prior to his return to academe, Peter gained extensive 
experience in project management and policy development 
within the public and private sectors, including the Sydney 
Olympics Bid Company, the Ethnic Affairs Commission of NSW 
and two leading commercial galleries.

Dr Robyn Godding MB BS MPH FRACMA

Acting Director of Cancer Screening  
Robyn Godding joined the Cancer Institute in 2007 in the role 
of manager of the NSW Cervical Screening Program and NSW 
Pap Test Register. She is currently acting in the divisional director 
role. Robyn’s prior work experience includes being Director of 
the BreastScreen NSW Northern Sydney Lower Central Coast 
Service, Director of the Australian Government Health Service 
and 11 years spent in general practice. 

Ms Sue Sinclair RN MHM

Director of Cancer Services and Education  
Sue Sinclair is the current Director of Cancer Services and 
Education. Within her time at the Cancer Institute NSW, she 
has been responsible for leading core programs to improve the 
coordination of patient care, providing comprehensive patient 
support, demonstrating sustainable models of care and supporting 
cancer health professionals through funding initiatives. Prior to 
joining the Cancer Institute NSW three years ago, Sue worked as 
a Director of Clinical Services at St George Private Hospital. She 
has a broad clinical nursing experience, which includes managing 
a coronary care unit, clinical trials management and nursing 
education. Sue’s skills and academic experience includes a Masters 
of Health Management, Graduate Diploma in Cardiac Nursing and 
registration as a nurse.

Our Executive Team

Pictured from left to right
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Dr Yiqun Chen BMed, MSc, PhD

Director of Cancer Information and Registries  
Yiqun Chen joined the Cancer Institute NSW in December 2008 
and is leading the collection, integration, access, and reporting of 
the Cancer Institute NSW’s core data sources, which provide high 
quality and comprehensive cancer information for the planning, 
monitoring and evaluation of cancer control in NSW. Yiqun holds 
a Clinical Medicine degree in China, plus an MSc in Occupation 
Health and a PhD in Epidemiology from Manchester University, 
UK. Prior to her appointment, Yiqun had worked as the Project 
Manager for the UK occupational and work-related disease 
surveillance system and the Leader of Cancer Surveillance for 
Alberta Cancer Board, Canada.

Dr Catherine Bourgeois BSc, PhD

Director NSW Clinical Trials Business Development Centre 
Catherine Bourgeois joined the Cancer Institute NSW in April 
2008 with the responsibility of setting up the Clinical Trials 
Business Development Centre. She holds a science degree and 
a PhD in oncology. Catherine’s immediate postgraduate years 
were spent as a researcher in the discipline oncology followed 
by a period of 15 years in the pharmaceutical industry. She has 
held Clinical Research positions in companies such as Pfizer, 
Sanofi-Aventis and Faulding.

Executive office and administration

Mr Adrian Grundy 
Manager, Cancer Communications  
Adrian Grundy joined the Cancer Institute NSW in 2007 
and has 14 years’ experience in journalism, political advisory 
and marketing. Prior to the Cancer Institute NSW he held 
communications and marketing positions with FedEx Express 
in Asia and Australia. Adrian is responsible for the publication, 
marketing and promotion of cancer information.

Mr Charles Latimer BA BEc MPubPol GAICD

Manager Policy and Executive Support/Executive Officer to the 
Chief Cancer Officer and CEO, Secretary to the Board  
Charles Latimer joined the Cancer Institute NSW in October 
2005 and has held positions in a range of public sector and 

private organisations for more than 20 years. For the past eight 
years Charles has worked in the health sector, mainly in cancer 
control policy. Together with the Chief Cancer Officer, he is 
responsible for Government liaison, stakeholder management for 
health consumers and the NSW cancer charities sector. Charles 
is also secretary to the Board of the Cancer Institute NSW.

Ms Mirjana Juka MBusHRM, CAHRI

Manager, Human Resources  
Mirjana Juka joined the Cancer Institute NSW in October 
2005 and has held the position of Manager, Human Resources 
since November 2007. She has extensive experience and 
knowledge as a human resources generalist, having worked 
previously in the IT industry and has experience consulting in 
the private and public sector across a broad range of human 
resource management practices. Mirjana has a keen interest in 
organisation development and talent management.

Mr David Sabanayagam MBA PNA

Financial Controller  
David Sabanayagam joined the Cancer Institute NSW as Finance 
and Administration Manager in 2004 and has had the position 
of Financial Controller since September 2008. He has 19 years’ 
experience in finance roles in communications, information 
technology, publishing and advertising industries in the private sector. 
David has a Masters in Business Administration from Macquarie 
University and is a member of the National Institute of Accountants.

Mr Michael Schmitz MPD

Manager, Information Technology  
Michael Schmitz joined the Cancer Institute NSW in July 2004 
and has been involved in the information technology and 
communications industry for more than 25 years. Michael has an 
Advanced Diploma in Project Management, is a Master Project 
Director and a member of the Australian Institute of Project 
Management. Prior to joining the public sector, he held senior 
positions with several major information technology organisations 
and niche consultant firms in the areas of system integrations and 
project management.
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The employment market continues to change and to make 
certain that we have the best people in the right jobs we 
are developing programs to ensure that not only are we 
offering meaningful work, but we have a strong employment 
proposition that allows us to develop and retain our people.

Recruitment and staffing

Number of staff

The NSW government implemented a recruitment freeze 
throughout the public sector in the past financial year. This has, 
in essence, brought our recruitment initiatives to a standstill as 
we ensure we work in line with the current freeze recruitment 
restrictions. A direct result of the recruitment freeze is the 
reduction in the number of employees at the Cancer Institute 
NSW in 2008–09.

During the year:

f The average sick leave for employees was 5.70 (if basing 
 on FTE) or 5.22 (if basing on headcount).

f Seven claims were lodged for worker’s compensation with 
 minimal time lost.

f Staff received a 3.9 per cent salary increase.

f The value of untaken recreation leave was $1,312,000.

f The value of untaken long service leave was $692,000. 

f There was one industrial dispute involving the Cancer 
 Institute NSW during the year.

f Staff turnover at the Cancer Institute NSW was 20.67 
 per cent (down from 23.8 per cent in the previous year).

A reduction in staff turnover In 2008–09, there was 
a 3 per cent reduction in staff turnover (1 per cent reduction 
in 2007–08). While our yearly staff turnover is still too high at 
20.67 per cent, we aim to reduce this further with a number 
of employee engagement and reward programs in the coming 
year. These initiatives will prove more crucial if the recruitment 
freeze remains in place and we lose valuable corporate 
knowledge and skills through attrition.

Staff turnover

Our people

YEAR WOMEN MEN TOTAL

2008-09 97.10 34.17 131.27 

2007-08 113.33 35.15 148.48

2006-07 90.62 26.43 117.05

2005-06 75.95 27.19 103.14

2004-05 44.3 19 63.3

Number of staff = permanent/fixed term/active on payroll (i.e. not on leave without pay)

• excludes anyone not on our payroll (i.e. temps/contractors/consultants)

• excludes maternity leave duplication i.e. in instances where an  
 officer is on maternity leave, the relieving officer is counted in the  
 above figures as they are on active payroll.

Our people – with their combined expertise, capability and commitment – entirely underpin our 
organisational success. The skills required to develop and implement effective statewide cancer 
control and cure programs are complex and not readily available in the Australian market.

Because of this, our human resource strategies are strongly focussed around attraction, talent 
management and development.
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Staff Profile
 

LEVEL 2004-05 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09
 TOTAL MEN WOMEN TOTAL MEN WOMEN TOTAL MEN WOMEN TOTAL MEN WOMEN TOTAL MEN WOMEN

SES 4 2 2 6.9 2 4.9 5.9 1 4.9 6.6 2 4.6 6.6 2.6 4

HSM 4-6 14.63 7 7.63 20.26 7 13.26 26.4 9 17.4 29.89 9 20.89 27.89 7 20.89

HSM 1-3 21.77 5 16.77 52.54 15.84 36.7 68.28 16.43 51.85 86.48 22.47 64.01 73.93 22.89 51.04

Admin Officers 20.9 3 17.9 21.54 2.05 19.49 14.07 - 14.07 23.11 1.68 21.43 21.45 1.68 19.77

Staff Specialists 2 2 0 0.9 0.3 0.6 0.4 - 0.4 0.4 0 0.4 0.4 0 0.4

Career Medical Officer - - - - - - 1 - 1 1 0 1 1 0 1

Medical Radiation Scientist - - - 1 - 1 1 - 1 1 0 1 0 0 0

Total 63.3 19 44.3 103.14 27.19 75.95 117.05 26.43 90.62 148.48 35.15 113.33 131.27 34.17 97.1

CEO and Senior Executive Officers

LEVEL 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09
 TOTAL MEN WOMEN TOTAL MEN WOMEN TOTAL MEN WOMEN TOTAL MEN WOMEN TOTAL MEN WOMEN

6 1 1 - 1 1 - 1 1 - 1 1 - 0.6 0.6 0

3 - - - - - - 1 - 1 2 - 2 1 0 1

2 3 1 2 3 1 2 2 - 2 3.6 1 2.6 4 1 3

1 - - - 3 - 3 1.9 - 1.9 0 - - 1 1 0

Total 4 2 2 7 2 5 5.9 1 4.9 6.6 2 4.6 6.6 2.6 4
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Engaging employees In 2008–09, we introduced a 
reward and recognition program. As well as our successful 
‘Purple Jersey’ award, which rewards employees who have 
demonstrated outstanding performance and dedication to their 
work, we now also provide ‘thank you’ cards that any member 
of staff can receive from someone they have helped in their 
day-to-day work. As the Cancer Institute NSW is now six 
years old, we were able to introduce long service recognition 
certificates to employees who have worked at the organisation 
for five years.

We also launched a new internal newsletter The Indicator, which 
will be published four times a year, is designed to bring to life 
the work of everyone at the Cancer Institute. It includes stories 
of inspiring people, projects that epitomise our commitment 
and ultimately, the difference we make in the community of 
New South Wales in our goal to control and cure cancer. 

Improving staff satisfaction As part of our commitment 
to the continuous improvement of our organisation, the Cancer 
Institute NSW completed a staff satisfaction survey in 2008–09. 
This was the first survey of staff since the organisation was 
established in 2004. The overall response rate for our survey 
was an extremely pleasing 82 per cent (127 responses).

The survey enabled us to have a more accurate picture of how 
employees feel about working at the Cancer Institute NSW. The 
results have provided us with detailed information regarding 
their opinions about our performance, culture, relationships, 
how we go about our work and where we are headed. 

As a result of the survey, 36 per cent of staff agree that overall 
they are satisfied working at the Cancer Institute NSW, with 
12 per cent strongly agreeing. We intend to work on improving 
these results by a series of initiatives throughout the year. The 
next survey will take place in 2010–2011 and we will report 
back on any achievements in the 2011 annual report.

Overall results 
Overall, the results reflect an organisation that is 

performing well in:

Clarity of Vision and Mission: Staff are aware and aligned to our 
long-term directions. Good alignment with the organisational 
culture in terms of people being clear about how to go about 
achieving the organisational goals.

Strategies and plans: Alignment of strategies and plans with 
the organisation’s vision, mission and culture. Strong alignment 
with leadership strategies and plans, i.e. leaders behaving 
appropriately, trusting staff, displaying confidence in the 
organisation’s future.

IT Systems: Staff feel their computer software works well; 
back office systems work well (i.e. payroll and accounting); any 
concerns regarding IT systems are addressed appropriately. 

Pay and Personal Development Plan (PDP): Staff feel they are 
paid fairly and that their PDP is handled effectively.

Areas that represent potential opportunities for 

improvement include:

Communication: Improving team and divisional communication.

Commitment: Improving long-term plans for retaining and 
developing staff and improving engagement of staff through 
mutual contract.

More recognition: Improving formal and informal recognition; 
rewarding and celebrating high performance.

Customer satisfaction: Improving long-term customer loyalty.

Performance development and management 
Performance development and management continues to be a 
key organisational objective and the Performance Development 
Process (PDP) framework allows for the development of our 
employees’ competency and capability. Every employee at the 
Cancer Institute NSW has individual objectives and measures 
that relate to the delivery of the Cancer Plan and individual 
development plans. All employees participated in a review of 
their performance at the end of the financial year, as well as 
mid-year reviews.

In 2008–09, we introduced an online PDP process to enhance 
this system, make it easier to use and to reduce the use of 
paper and, therefore, our impact on the environment.



Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) tables

A. REPRESENTATION OF EEO GROUPS BENCHMARK OR 2004–05 2005–06 2006–07 2007–08 2008–09
 GOVERNMENT 
 TARGET

Women 50%  75% 75% 77% 77% 75%

Aboriginal People & Torres Strait Islanders 2% - - - - 0.7%

People Whose Language First Spoken as a Child was not English 20% 3% 21% 11% 15% 23%

People with a Disability 12% - - 2% - 1%

People with a Disability Requiring Work-related Adjustment 7% - - 0.9% - 0.7%

           

B. DISTRIBUTION OF EEO GROUPS BENCHMARK 2004–05 2005–06 2006–07 2007–08 2008–09

Women 100 n/a 81 85 91 91

Aboriginal People & Torres Strait Islanders 100 - - - - n/a

People Whose Language First Spoken as a Child was not English 100 n/a 112 - 89 88

People with a Disability 100 - - - n/a n/a

People with a Disability Requiring Work-related Adjustment 100 - - - n/a n/a
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Professional development Our employees are highly 
skilled when they start work at the Cancer Institute NSW and 
we consider it essential that they continue to develop their 
competency and capability throughout their career. All staff 
are encouraged to take responsibility for their development 
and negotiate an individual development plan that assists them 
deliver their objectives and increase their capability. The Cancer 
Institute NSW has invested $180,000 ($251,443 in 2007–08) in 
professional development this year.

In September 2008, we launched a Leadership and Middle 
Management Development Program to help our leaders develop 
critical management and leadership competencies. As managers 
are the main source of information and inspiration for staff, it 
is important that we assist them in encouraging and leading 
their staff members. We engaged Development Dimensions 
International to implement best practice training in management 
areas such as coaching for success and influential leadership.

We also implemented an official mentoring program among 
staff, which we will report back on in the next financial year.

Occupational health and safety There were seven 
claims (four in 2007–08) lodged for worker’s compensation 
with minimal time lost, and most relating to incidences that 
occurred off-site.

The Occupational Health and Safety Committee continues to 
promote a safe working environment. Hazard inspections were 
carried out for all Cancer Institute NSW premises: speed humps, 
pedestrian crossings and pedestrian ‘Give Way’ signs were fitted 
around the premises; and signage about flu precautions were 
placed around the office in response to the swine flu pandemic.

Assessments
Regular ergonomic assessments continue to be carried out to 
ensure that our workplace practices are safe.

Swine flu and Pandemic Response Plan 
We have a Pandemic Response Plan in place as part of our 
Business Continuity Planning. The Cancer Institute’s response 
to the swine flu situation is reflective of advice provided by the 
Commonwealth’s Chief Medical Officer and all precautionary 
actions match those of the federal alerts.

Future plans
f Re-survey staff for satisfaction and implement initiatives based on 2009 feedback.

f Evaluation of rewards and recognition and further enhancement to the program.

f Implement a skills audit – identification of skill requirements across the organisation.

f Introduce a skill gap analysis – identify training priorities in line with skills and attributes required for the NSW Cancer Plan 2011–2015.

f Develop a learning and development curriculum to address learning priorities. 

f Introduce flexible working arrangements.
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Our business processes

The following sections define some of the key components of our 
IMS which have been applied and which are continually improved.

Complaints management system The Cancer 
Institute NSW has developed and applied a complaints 
management system aligned with the AS/ISO 10002 and 
complient with the NSW Ombudsman’s Complaints 
Management Guidelines. 

Our complaints management system helps ensure that 
complaints are received, handled and resolved in an effective 
and efficient manner. A key aspect of our complaints management 
system includes a continual improvement process whereby our 
lessons learnt are actively applied to our products and services 
to enable us to better serve the needs of the community and 
our stakeholders.

Over the past 12 months, we received and resolved the 
following types of complaints:

Type Number

Complaints about our campaigns 38 

Other complaints 4

 

Integrated Management System

AS ISO 10002 AS ISO 20002 AS ISO 3806 HB 221 ISO 24762 AS ISO 27001 AS ISO 5037 AS ISO 14001

Complaints
Management

Policy

Complaints
Management
Procedures

Record Record Record

ICT Service
Management

Policy

Ict Service
Management
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Record Record Record

Compliance
Management

Policy

Compliance
Management
Procedures

Record Record Record

Business 
Continuity

Management
Policy

Business
Continuity

Management
Procedures

Record Record Record

ICT Recovery
Management

Policy

Ict Recovery
Management
Procedures

Record Record Record

Information
Security

Management
Policy

Information
Security

Management
Procedures

Record Record Record

Knowledge
Management

Policy

Knowledge
Management
Procedures

Record Record Record

Environmental
Management

Policy

Environmental
Management
Procedures

Record Record Record

Over the past year, the Cancer Institute NSW implemented its Integrated Management System (IMS) framework across the organisation. 
The IMS framework incorporates various Australian and International Standards pertaining to governance, risk, quality and compliance. 

The following diagram depicts our existing IMS framework and shows the various individual management systems which were 
developed and applied over the past year. Corresponding references are made to relevant International (ISO) and Australian 
Standards (AS) with which we intend to comply: 
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Business continuity management system The Cancer 
Institute NSW has an HB 221 and ISO 27031 aligned Business 
Continuity Management framework in place which incorporates 
business process continuity, IT recovery and pandemic  
response planning. 

Our Business Continuity Management framework, plans 
and procedures were tested and independently assured 
by our auditors to ensure that we can continue to deliver 
our products and services in the event of an incident which 
jeopardises our ability to serve the needs of the community 
and our stakeholders.

Information security management system
The Cancer Institute NSW has an AS ISO 27001 aligned 
Information Security Management System (ISMS) in place to 
ensure that the confidentiality, integrity and availability of our 
key information assets are preserved and continually improved.

Our ISMS ensures that formal and audited controls are in 
place to mitigate threats to our information resources and ICT 
systems. These include controls pertaining to network and IT 
infrastructure, databases and application systems, management 
and administrative procedures, as well as our capabilities to 
identify and respond to actual and suspected breaches.

Our ISMS has been tested and independently assured by 
our auditors to ensure that our information security posture 
remains steadfast and effective.

Compliance management system The Cancer 
Institute NSW has developed and applied an AS/ISO 3806 
aligned Compliance Management System to ensure that 
we remain aware of, and are compliant with, our various 
compliance obligations. These include legislative and statutory 
obligations, contractual requirements, central NSW government 
mandates, NSW Health policies and directives, as well as the 
Cancer Institute’s internal policies and procedures.

The Cancer Institute NSW has a process in place to ensure 
that we remain aware of changes in our compliance obligations 
and that we can apply those changes to our workflows in a 
timely, effective and non disruptive manner.

Our Compliance Management System is reviewed and tested 
by our auditors to ensure that we remain compliant with our 
various obligations.

Knowledge management system The Cancer 
Institute NSW has developed and applied an AS/ISO 5037 
aligned Knowledge Management System which helps ensure 
that organisational knowledge is identified, cultivated, shared and 
continually improved across the Institute. It also helps ensure that 
knowledge is preserved in the event that key staff leave.

This ensures greater efficiency and effectiveness by allowing 
staff across the Cancer Institute to access tacit and explicit 
knowledge, avoid ‘reinventing wheels’, and minimise business 
disruptions and loss as a result of staff turnover.

Environmental management system The Cancer 
Institute NSW has developed and applied an AS/ISO 14001 
aligned Environmental Management System to help reduce 
and manage the environmental impacts associated with our 
activities, products, and services.

Our Environmental Management System includes provision for 
the definition of ‘green’ targets and measurement approaches 
for paper, energy and water resources, in-house recycling 
procedures, as well as staff transportation, supplier management 
and purchasing considerations. 

Over the coming year, as part of our ongoing cycle of continual 
improvement, these initiatives will be further refined and 
applied across all divisions and units of the Cancer Institute. 
Training will be provided to all staff so that they are aware 
of their roles and responsibilities pertaining to the Cancer 
Institute’s green office initiatives.

Data governance and privacy management  
The Cancer Institute NSW recognises the importance and 
sensitivities of its various data holdings including those held within 
the Registries. As part of our commitment to the people of NSW, 
the Institute has developed and applied formal disciplines over 
our data holdings including those which govern data collection, 
stewardship, quality, storage, reporting, disclosure, archiving  
and disposal. 

We have formalised our business practices and controls by 
introducing universal good practices such as Privacy Impact 
Assessments, Data Governance Protocols for our cancer data 
registers, and disciplines to ensure that we continue to operate 
within the boundaries defined by the Public Health Act, the Health 
Records and Information Privacy Act, the Privacy and Personal 
Information Protection Act, and the NSW Health Privacy Manual.
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Understanding our financials

What do financial statements show?

Our financial statements provide an insight into the Cancer 
Institute NSW’s financial health by indicating

• how the Institute performed during the year

• the value of assets held by the Institute

• the ability of the Institute to pay its debts.

Why do we have two sets of financial statements?

Attached are two sets of financial statements, namely

• Cancer Institute NSW

• Cancer Institute Division

The Cancer Institute Division is a controlled entity of the 
Cancer Institute NSW. It was set up in March 2006 to provide 
personnel services to the Cancer Institute NSW. This was 
established pursuant to Part 2 of Schedule 1 to the Public 
Sector Employment and Management Act 2002. All employee 
related expenses and liabilities are assumed by the Division. 

What’s in the financial statements?

The financial statements of the Institute consist of the following, 
and explanatory notes to support the financial statements. 
It also includes an endorsement statement by the Board and 
the CEO of the Cancer Institute NSW, and an Independent 
Auditor’s Report issued by the Auditor General of NSW.

Included in the statements are:

• Income Statement – This lists the main sources of 
revenue, and the operating costs from our day to day running 
of the Institute. This does not include cost of asset purchases; 
however it does include deprecation of asset expenses.

• Balance Sheet – This shows the value of the assets 
that we hold, as well as the liabilities or claims against these 
assets. These are expressed as current or non-current. Current 
means these are assets or liabilities that will be expected to be 
paid or converted into cash within the next 12 months.

• Statement of Recognised Income and Expense – 
This statement summarises the change in the Cancer Institute 
NSW’s net worth. Changes to our net worth occur mainly as a 
result of a Surplus or Deficit recorded in the income statement.  
A change may also occur in net worth due to the revaluation 
of assets that results in the increased value of  
non-current assets. 

• Cash Flow Statement – This statement summarise 
our cash receipts and payments for the financial year and 
shows the net increase or decrease in cash held by the Cancer 
Institute NSW. This statement is prepared on a ‘cash’ basis; 
whereas the operating statement is prepared on an accrual 
basis which includes money not yet received or spent.
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Income Statement 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Consolidated Cancer Institute NSW

2009 2008 2009 2008

Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue

Interest Income 2(a) 2,399 1,840 2,399 1,840

Grants and contributions 2(b) 147,396 136,349 147,396 136,349

Other revenue 2(c) 869 550 869 550

Total revenue 150,664 138,739 150,664 138,739

Expenses

Employee related expenses 3(a) 17,495 16,426 18,208 16,807

Operating expenses 3(b) 30,245 30,888 30,245 30,888

Depreciation and amortisation 
expenses 3(c) 873 708 873 708

Grants and subsidies 3(d) 96,362 87,482 96,362 87,482

Total Expenses 144,975 135,504 145,688 135,885

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 5,689 3,235 4,976 2,854

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Refer Note 8. Superannuation actuarial losses of $713k (2008: $381k) are recognised in the ‘Statement of Recognised In-
come and Expense’. 2008 figures have been amended to reflect this – refer to Note 1 (r).



CANCER INSTITUTE NSW  FINANCIAL REPORT 2009 /55ff ff

CANCER INSTITUTE NSW ANNUAL REPORT 2009

Statement of Recognised Income and Expense 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

          Consolidated          Cancer Institute NSW

2009 2008 2009 2008

Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Actuarial Gains / (Losses) on Superannuation (713) (381) - -

NET INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED 
DIRECTLY IN EQUITY 9 (713) (381) - -

Surplus for the year 5,689 3,235 4,781 2,854

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED 
FOR THE YEAR 9 4,976 2,854 4,781 2,854

4,976 2,854 4,781 2,854

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

2008 figures have been amended to reflect superannuation actuarial losses – refer to Note 1 (r).

2008

$’000

Effect of change in accounting policy

Surplus for the period as reported in 2008 2,854

Change of policy – actuarial losses 381

Restated surplus for the period 3,235
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Balance Sheet
as at30 June 2009

                  Consolidated                  Cancer Institute NSW

2009 2008 2009 2008

Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 12 (a) 34,583 36,464 34,583 36,464

Receivables 4 4,542 4,472 4,542 4,472

Total current assets 39,125 40,936 39,125 40,936

Non current assets

Plant and Equipment 5 2,491 1,696 2,491 1,696

Intangible assets 6 438 10 438 10

Total non current assets 2,929 1,706 2,929 1,706

Total assets 42,054 42,642 42,054 42,642

Current liabilities

Payables 7 5,236 11,587 8,256 13,942

Provisions 8 2,980 2,312 - -

Total current liabilities 8,216 13,899 8,256 13,942

Non current liabilities

Provisions 8 425 306 385 263

Total non current liabilities 425 306 385 263

Total liabilities 8,641 14,205 8,641 14,205

Net assets 33,413 28,437 33,413 28,437

EQUITY

Accumulated funds 9 33,413 28,437 33,413 28,437

Total Equity 33,413 28,437 33,413 28,437

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.



CANCER INSTITUTE NSW  FINANCIAL REPORT 2009 /57ff ff

CANCER INSTITUTE NSW ANNUAL REPORT 2009

Cash Flow Statement 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

                  Consolidated                  Cancer Institute NSW

2009 2008 2009 2008

Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM  
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts

Grants 175,121 159,446 175,121 159,446

Interest 2,145 2,119 2,145 2,119

Other 708 156 708 156

Total Receipts 177,974 161,721 177,974 161,721

Payments

Employee Related (17,613) (16,214) (17,613) (16,214)

Grants & Subsidies (124,951) (110,149) (124,951) (110,149)

Suppliers (35,316) (31,835) (35,316) (31,835)

Total Payments (177,880) (158,198) (177,880) (158,198)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 12 94 3,523 94 3,523

CASH FLOWS FROM  
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of Property, Plant  
and Equipment (1,975) (218) (1,975) (218)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM  
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (1,975) (218) (1,975) (218)

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE)  
IN CASH (1,881) 3,305 (1,881) 3,305

Opening cash and cash equivalents 36,464 33,159 36,464 33,159

CLOSING CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS 12 (a) 34,583 36,464 34,583 36,464

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Reporting entity

The Cancer Institute NSW (the Institute), as a reporting entity, comprises the Institute and its controlled entity, the 
Cancer Institute Division.  The Cancer Institute NSW is a not-for-profit entity.

In the process of preparing the consolidated financial report for the economic entity, all inter entity transactions and 
balances have been eliminated.

The consolidated financial report for the year ended 30 June 2009 has been authorised for issue by the Board of the 
Cancer Institute NSW on 20 October 2009.

(b) Basis of preparation

The Institute’s financial statements are a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with:

• Australian Accounting Standards and Australian Accounting Interpretations;

• the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (the Act) and Regulation; and

• the Financial Reporting Directions issued by the New South Wales Treasurer.

Property, plant and equipment, investment property, assets (or disposal groups) held for sale and financial assets 
held for trading and available for sale are measured at fair value. Other financial statements items are presented in 
accordance with the historical cost convention.

Judgements, key assumptions and estimations that management has made are disclosed in the relevant notes to the 
financial report.

All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars (except for the Superannuation disclosure in Note 8, 
which is provided by Pillar in whole dollars) and are expressed in Australian currency. 

(c) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contribution received or receivable. Additional comments 
regarding the accounting policies for the recognition of income are discussed below.

(i) Grants Revenue

Grants are generally recognised as income when the Institute obtains control over the assets and grants are 
normally recognised upon the receipt of cash.

(ii) Rendering of services

Revenue is recognised when the service is provided or by reference to the stage of completion.

(iii) Investment revenue

Interest revenue is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method as set out in AASB 139 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

(d) Employee benefits and other provisions

(i) Salaries and wages, annual leave, sick leave and on costs

Liabilities for salaries and wages (including non monetary benefits), annual leave and paid sick leave that fall due 
wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised and measured in respect of employees’ services 
up to the reporting date at undiscounted amounts based on the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled.

Unused non vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave 
taken in the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009
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(ii) Long service leave and superannuation

Long service leave is measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits. This is based 
on the application of certain factors (specified in NSWTC 09/04) to employees with 5 or more years of 
service, using current rates of pay. Long service liability was determined based on the short hand method to 
approximate the present value.

The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the 
Treasurer’s Directions.  The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State 
Super) is calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salary.  For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State 
Superannuation Scheme and State Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple 
of the employees’ superannuation contributions.

(iii) Other provisions

Other provisions exist when: the Institute has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

(e) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except that:

• the amount of GST incurred by the Institute as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation 
Office is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense.

• receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis.  However, the GST components of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office are 
classified as operating cash flows.

(f) Acquisitions of assets

The cost method of accounting is used for the initial recording of all acquisitions of assets controlled by the Institute.  
Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration given to acquire the 
asset at the time of its acquisition or construction or, where applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when 
initially recognised in accordance with the requirements of other Australian Accounting Standards.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s 
length transaction.

(g) Capitalisation thresholds

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets costing $5,000 and above individually (or forming part of a 
network costing more than $5,000) are capitalised.

(h) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

As a not-for-profit entity with no cash generating units, the Institute is effectively exempted from AASB 136 Impairment 
of Assets and impairment testing. This is because AASB 136 modifies the recoverable amount test to the higher of fair 
value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost. This means that, for an asset already measured at fair value, 
impairment can only arise if selling costs are material. Selling costs are regarded immaterial.

(i) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation is provided for on a straight line basis for all depreciable assets so as to write off the depreciable amount 
of each asset as it is consumed over its useful life to the Institute.  

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009
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30 June 2009

Depreciation Rates % Rate

Plant & Equipment

Computer equipment 25

Office equipment 14

Leasehold Improvements – Amortised over the period of the lease. -

(j) Restoration costs

The estimated cost of dismantling and removing an asset and restoring the site is included in the cost of an asset, to the 
extent it is recognised as a liability.

(k) Maintenance

Day to day servicing costs or maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the 
replacement of a component of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated.

(l) Leased assets

Operating lease payments are charged to the operating statement in the periods in which they are incurred.

(m) Intangible assets

The Institute recognises intangible assets only if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the agency and 
the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired 
at no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be finite.

Intangible assets are subsequently measured at fair value only if there is an active market. As there is no active market 
for the agency’s intangible assets, the assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation.

The Institute’s intangible software assets are amortised using the straight line method over a period of 4 years.

(n) Receivables

Receivables are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. These financial assets are recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face 
value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance for any 
impairment of receivables. Any changes are accounted for in the Income Statement when impaired, derecognised or 
through the amortisation process.

Short term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.

(o) Investments

Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs. The agency determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, when 
allowed and appropriate, re evaluates this at each financial year end.

(p) Payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Institute and other amounts. Payables are 
recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Short term payables with no stated interest rate are measured at 
the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009



CANCER INSTITUTE NSW  FINANCIAL REPORT 2009 /61ff ff

CANCER INSTITUTE NSW ANNUAL REPORT 2009

(q) Recognition of Grants and Subsidies Expenditure

(i) Grants to NSW Area Health Services

Grants to NSW Area Services are recognised as an expenditure in the relevant year based on an agreed 
payment schedule at the time when all formal contract documentation has been fully executed by all parties.

(ii) Hospital and Research Grants

Hospital and Research grants are recognised at the time the Institute becomes liable to make payment 
according to the funding agreement. Grants that have not been paid are accrued at balance date.

(r) Changes in Accounting Policies

According with NSW Treasury policy (TC09/01) , the entity has changed its policy on the recognition of 
superannuation actuarial gains and losses. Such actuarial gains and losses are now recognised outside of profit or loss 
in the ‘Statement of Recognised Income and Expense’. Previously, actuarial gains and losses were recognised through 
profit or loss. Both options are permissible under AASB 119 Employee Benefits. 

The change in policy has been adopted on the basis that recognition outside profit or loss provides reliable and more 
relevant information as it better reflects the nature of actuarial gains and losses. This is because actuarial gains/losses are 
re-measurements, based on assumptions that do not necessarily reflect the ultimate cost of providing superannuation. 

Recognition outside profit or loss also harmonises better with the Government Finance Statistics / GAAP 
comprehensive income presentation for the whole of government and general government sector, required under 
AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting. A comprehensive income 
presentation will also be available at the entity level from 2009/10 under AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements. 

The change in accounting policy increases 2009 ‘profit for the period’ from $4.976m to $5.689m (2008: from $2.854m 
to $3.235m), by excluding from profit the superannuation actuarial loss line item (2009: $713k, 2008: $381k). This item 
is now recognised in the ‘Statement of Recognised Income and Expense’ rather than the ‘Income Statement’.

(s) New Australian Accounting Standards issued but not effective

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2009 
reporting period. The Institute did not early adopt any of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations that are not 
yet effective:

• AASB 3 (March 2008), AASB 127 and AASB 2008-3 regarding business combinations; 

• AASB 8 and AASB 2007-3 regarding operating segments; 

• AASB 101 (Sept 2007), AASB 2007 8 and AASB 2007-10 regarding presentation of financial statements; 

• AASB 123 (June 2007) and AASB 2007-6 regarding borrowing costs; 

• AASB 1039 regarding concise financial reports; 

• AASB 2008-1 regarding share based payments;

• AASB 2008-2 regarding puttable financial instruments.

• AASB 2009-2 regarding financial instruments.

It is considered that the impact of these new Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no material 
impact on the financial statements of the Institute.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009



62/ CANCER INSTITUTE NSW  FINANCIAL REPORT 2009ff ff

CANCER INSTITUTE NSW ANNUAL REPORT 2009

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

2 REVENUES

                      Consolidated                   Cancer Institute NSW

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Interest Income

Interest 1,598 617 1,598 617

TCorp Hour Glass Investment facilities 801 1,223 801 1,223

2,399 1,840 2,399 1,840

(b) Grants and contributions

NSW Dept of Health 146,292 134,622 146,292 134,622

Commonwealth Government 834 777 834 777

Membership contribution 270 950 270 950

147,396 136,349 147,396 136,349

(c) Other revenue

Recoveries 869 550 869 550

869 550 869 550

3 EXPENSES

                Consolidated                Cancer Institute NSW

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Employee related expenses

Salaries and wages (including recreation leave) 15,346 14,490 - -

Superannuation – defined benefit plans 64 37 - -

Superannuation – defined contribution plans 962 876 - -

Long service leave 199 189 - -

Payroll tax, fringe benefit tax and workers 
compensation 873 834 - -

Redundancy Payments 51 - - -

Personnel Services - - 18,208 16,807

17,495 16,426 18,208 16,807

Refer Note 8. Superannuation actuarial losses of $713k (2008: $381k) are recognised in the ‘Statement of Recognised Income 
and Expense’. 2008 figures have been amended to reflect this – refer to Note 1 (r).
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for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

3 EXPENSES cont’d

             Consolidated              Cancer Institute NSW

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(b) Other operating expenses include the following:

Other 2,740 2,713 2,740 2,713

External Auditor’s remuneration 32 33 32 33

Corporate services provider fees 340 296 340 296

EDP expenses 331 527 331 527

Consultancy costs 204 140 204 140

General contractors 1,906 2,201 1,906 2,201

Cancer audits and reviews 2,520 2,399 2,520 2,399

Cancer Information Systems Development 855 859 855 859

Cancer Plans and Strategic Planning 210 23 210 23

Production of Cancer Prevention Campaigns 805 569 805 569

Operating lease rental expense – minimum 
lease payments 1,125 983 1,125 983

Postage 271 363 271 363

Printing 119 246 119 246

Stores and stationery 120 212 120 212

Travel 547 730 547 730

Cancer Prevention campaign advertising 17,357 17,517 17,357 17,517

Board and committee expenses 180 176 180 176

NSW Clinical Information Access Program 
journals 285 652 285 652

Sponsorships 247 215 247 215

Repairs and maintenance 51 34 51 34

30,245 30,888 30,245 30,888
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3 EXPENSES cont’d

                Consolidated               Cancer Institute NSW

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(c) Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation

Plant and Equipment 174 154 174 154

Amortisation

Leasehold improvements 689 543 689 543

Intangibles 10 11 10 11

873 708 873 708

(d) Grants and subsidies

Grants to NSW Area Health Services 59,675 56,810 59,675 56,810

Hospitals and Research 26,592 24,902 26,592 24,902

Capital grants 10,095 5,770 10,095 5,770

96,362 87,482 96,362 87,482

4 CURRENT ASSETS – RECEIVABLES

               Consolidated                Cancer Institute NSW

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Goods and Services Tax recoverable 1,354 489 1,354 489

Debtors 1,964 1,803 1,964 1,803

Accrued Interest 634 380 634 380

Prepayments 590 1,800 590 1,800

4,542 4,472 4,542 4,472

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

5 NON CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and Equipment

$’000

Consolidated and Cancer Institute NSW

At 1 July 2008 – Fair Value

Gross carrying amount 4,135

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (2,439)

Carrying amount 1,696

At 30 June 2009

At Valuation 5,793

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (3,302)

Carrying amount 2,491

Reconciliation

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the 
current reporting period is set out below.

Year ended 30 June 2009

Carrying amount at start of year 1,696

Additions 1,658

Disposals -

Depreciation expense (863)

Carrying amount at end of year 2,491

At 1 July 2007

At Valuation 4,002

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (1,820)

Carrying amount 2,182

At 30 June 2008

At Valuation 4,135

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (2,439)

Carrying amount 1,696

Reconciliation

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the 
previous reporting period is set out below.

Year ended 30 June 2008

Carrying amount at start of year 2,182

Additions 220

Disposals (81)

Reclassification to intangibles (6)

Recognition of restoration costs 2

Depreciation expense (697)

Writeback depreciation on disposals 76

Carrying amount at end of year 1,696
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6 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software

$’000

Consolidated and Cancer Institute NSW

At 1 July 2008

Cost (gross carrying amount) 44

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (34)

Carrying amount 10

At 30 June 2009

Cost (gross carrying amount) 55

Additions 427

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (44)

Carrying amount 438

Year ended 30 June 2009

Carrying amount at start of year 10

Additions 438

Amortisation expense (10)

Net carrying amount at end of year 438

At 1 July 2007

Cost (gross carrying amount) 38

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (21)

Carrying amount 17

At 30 June 2008

Cost (gross carrying amount) 44

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (34)

Carrying amount 10

Year ended 30 June 2008

Carrying amount at start of year 17

Reclassification 6

Amortisation on reclassification (2)

Amortisation expense (11)

Net carrying amount at end of year 10

7 CURRENT LIABILITIES   PAYABLES

                 Consolidated                Cancer Institute NSW

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Creditors 752 5 752 5

Accrued salary and oncosts 224 293 - -

Accruals 4,260 11,289 4,260 11,288

Personnel Services - - 3,244 2,649

5,236 11,587 8,256 13,942
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

8 CURRENT / NON CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS

                      Consolidated                Cancer Institute NSW

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current

Employee benefits and related on costs

Recreation leave 1,312 1,212 - -

Long service leave 651 820 - -

Fringe benefits tax 39 15 - -

Superannuation  
(see Superannuation funds below) 978 265 - -

2,980 2,312 - -

Non current

Employee benefits and related on costs

Long service leave 38 41 - -

Payroll tax 2 2 - -

Non current

Other provisions

Restoration costs 385 263 385 263

425 306 385 263

Reconciliation of Restoration costs

Carrying amount at the beginning of  
financial year 263 263 263 263

Additional provision recognised 122 - 122 -

Carrying amount at the end of financial year 385 263 385 263

Superannuation Funds as at  30 June 2009

Basis – AASB 119

SASS SANCS SSS TOTAL

30-Jun-09 30-Jun-09 30-Jun-09 30-Jun-09

Member Numbers

Contributors 5 6 1

Deferred benefits 0 0 1

Pensioners 0 0 0

Pensions fully commuted 0 0 0

Superannuation Position for AASB 119 purposes A$ A$ A$ A$

Accrued liability 978,907 223,487 1,249,649 2,452,043

Estimated reserve account balance (654,569) (131,148) (687,833) (1,473,550)

324,338 92,339 561,816 978,493

Future Service Liability # (376,745) (123,509) (25,422) (525,676)

Surplus in excess of recovery available from schemes 0 0 0 0

Net (asset)/liability to be recognised in balance sheet 324,338 92,339 561,816 978,493
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Superannuation Funds as at  30 June 2008

Basis – AASB 119

SASS SANCS SSS TOTAL

30-Jun-08 30-Jun-08 30-Jun-08 30-Jun-08

Member Numbers

Contributors 5 6 1

Deferred benefits 0 0 1

Pensioners 0 0 0

Pensions fully commuted 0 0 0

Superannuation Position for AASB 119 purposes A$ A$ A$ A$

Accrued liability 969,451 215,881 930,872 2,116,204

Estimated reserve account balance (902,517) (209,753) (738,848) (1,851,118)

66,934 6,128 192,024 265,086

Future Service Liability # (373,962) (93,889) (24,936) (492,787)

Surplus in excess of recovery available from schemes 0 0 0 0

Net (asset)/liability to be recognised in balance sheet 66,934 6,128 192,024 265,086

8 CURRENT / NON CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS (cont’d)

# The Future Service Liability (FSL) does not have to be recognised by an employer.  It is only used to determine if an asset ceiling 
limit should be imposed (AASB 119, para 58).  Under AASB 119, any prepaid superannuation asset recognised cannot exceed the 
total of any unrecognised past service cost and the present value of any economic benefits that may be available in the form of 
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.  Where the “surplus in excess of recovery” is zero, no asset 
ceiling limit is imposed.

AASB 119 
Disclosure Items 30 June 2009

Accounting policy {AASB 119 –  paragraph 120A(a) }

In 2008/09, NSW Treasury mandated a change in policy for all NSW public sector agencies to recognise actuarial gains and losses 
immediately outside profit and loss in the year in which they occur.  Previously actuarial gains and losses were recognised in profit 
or loss.  This change in policy must be applied retrospectively, as advised in NSW Treasury Circular NSWTC 09/01.

Fund information {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(b) }

The Pooled Fund holds in trust the investments of the closed NSW public sector superannuation schemes: 
State Authorities Superannuation Scheme (SASS) 
State Superannuation Scheme (SSS) 
Police Superannuation Scheme (PSS) 
State Authorities Non-contributory Superannuation Scheme (SANCS). 

These schemes are all defined benefit schemes – at least a component of the final benefit is derived from a multiple of member 
salary and years of membership.

All the Schemes are closed to new members.    
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8 CURRENT / NON CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS (cont’d)

Reconciliation of the present value of the defined benefit obligation {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(c)}

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

A$ A$ A$

Present value of partly funded defined benefit 
obligation at beginning of the year 969,451 215,881 930,872

Current service cost 56,858 11,851 10,420

Interest cost 62,941 13,801 61,264

Contributions by Fund participants 33,848 0 10,112

Actuarial (gains)/losses 59,153 48,037 244,944

Benefits paid (203,344) (66,083) (7,963)

Past service cost 0 0 0

Curtailments 0 0 0

Settlements 0 0 0

Business Combinations 0 0 0

Exchange rate changes 0 0 0

Present value of partly funded defined benefit 
obligation at end of the year 978,907 223,487 1,249,649

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

A$ A$ A$

Present value of partly funded defined benefit 
obligation at beginning of the year 770,987 162,726 850,857

Current service cost 50,331 9,364 7,491

Interest cost 49,058 10,180 54,596

Contributions by Fund participants 29,998 0 6,630

Actuarial (gains)/losses 140,576 21,173 22,735

Benefits paid (71,499) 12,438 (11,437)

Past service cost 0 0 0

Curtailments 0 0 0

Settlements 0 0 0

Business Combinations 0 0 0

Exchange rate changes 0 0 0

Present value of partly funded defined benefit 
obligation at end of the year 969,451 215,881 930,872
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8 CURRENT / NON CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS (cont’d)

Reconciliation of the fair value of Fund assets {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(e)}

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

A$ A$ A$

Fair value of Fund assets at beginning of the year 902,517 209,753 738,848

Expected return on Fund assets 75,227 17,184 61,077

Actuarial gains/(losses) (192,913) (39,676) (128,773)

Employer contributions 39,234 9,970 14,531

Contributions by Fund participants 33,848 0 10,112

Benefits paid (203,344) (66,083) (7,963)

Settlements 0 0 0

Business combinations 0 0 0

Exchange rate changes 0 0 0

Fair value of Fund assets at end of the year 654,569 131,148 687,832

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

A$ A$ A$

Fair value of Fund assets at beginning of the year 876,405 195,907 779,827

Expected return on Fund assets 67,121 15,273 61,337

Actuarial gains/(losses) (61,436) (26,051) (109,304)

Employer contributions 61,929 12,186 11,796

Contributions by Fund participants 29,998 0 6,630

Benefits paid (71,499) 12,438 (11,437)

Settlements 0 0 0

Business combinations 0 0 0

Exchange rate changes 0 0 0

Fair value of Fund assets at end of the year 902,517 209,753 738,848
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8 CURRENT / NON CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS (cont’d)

Reconciliation of the assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet {AASB 119 – paragraphs 120A(d) and (f)}

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

A$ A$ A$

Present value of partly funded defined benefit 
obligation at end of year 978,907 223,487 1,249,649

Fair value of Fund assets at end of year (654,569) (131,148) (687,833)

Subtotal 324,338 92,339 561,816

Unrecognised past service cost 0 0 0

Unrecognised gain/(loss) 0 0 0

Adjustment for limitation on net asset 0 0 0

Net Liability/(Asset) recognised in balance sheet at 
end of year 324,338 92,339 561,816

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

A$ A$ A$

Present value of partly funded defined benefit 
obligation at end of year 969,451 215,881 930,872

Fair value of Fund assets at end of year (902,517) (209,753) (738,848)

Subtotal 66,934 6,128 192,024

Unrecognised past service cost 0 0 0

Unrecognised gain/(loss) 0 0 0

Adjustment for limitation on net asset 0 0 0

Net Liability/(Asset) recognised in balance sheet at 
end of year 66,934 6,128 192,024
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8 CURRENT / NON CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS (cont’d)

Expense recognised in income statement {AASB 119 – paragraph 46 & 120A(g)}

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Components Recognised in Income Statement A$ A$ A$

Current service cost 56,858 11,851 10,420

Interest cost 62,941 13,801 61,264

Expected return on Fund assets (net of 
expenses) (75,227) (17,184) (61,077)

Actuarial losses/(gains) recognised in year 0 0 0

Past service cost 0 0 0

Movement in adjustment for limitation on net 
asset 0 0 0

Curtailment or settlement (gain)/loss 0 0 0

Expense/(income) recognised 44,572 8,468 10,607

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Components Recognised in Income Statement A$ A$ A$

Current service cost 50,331 9,364 7,491

Interest cost 49,058 10,180 54,596

Expected return on Fund assets  
(net of expenses) (67,121) (15,273) (61,337)

Actuarial losses/(gains) recognised in year 202,012 47,224 132,039

Past service cost 0 0 0

Movement in adjustment for limitation on  
net asset 0 0 0

Curtailment or settlement (gain)/loss 0 0 0

Expense/(income) recognised 234,281 51,495 132,789

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009
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8 CURRENT / NON CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS (cont’d)

Amounts recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(h)}

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

A$ A$ A$

Actuarial (gains)/losses 252,067 87,713 373,717

Adjustment for limit on net asset 0 0 0

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

A$ A$ A$

Actuarial (gains)/losses 202,012 47,224 132,039

Adjustment for limit on net asset 0 0 0

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Fund assets {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(j)}

The percentage invested in each asset class at the balance sheet date:

30-Jun-09 30-Jun-08

Australian equities 32.1% 31.6%

Overseas equities 26.0% 25.4%

Australian fixed interest securities 6.2% 7.4%

Overseas fixed interest securities 4.7% 7.5%

Property 10.0% 11.0%

Cash 8.0% 6.1%

Other 13.0% 11.0%

Fair value of Fund assets {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(k)}

All Fund assets are invested by STC at arm’s length through independent fund managers.

Expected rate of return  on assets {AASB119 – paragraph 120A(l)}

The expected return on assets assumption is determined by weighting the expected long-term return for each asset 
class by the target allocation of assets to each class.  The returns used for each class are net of investment tax and 
investment fees.
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8 CURRENT / NON CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS (cont’d)

Actual Return on Fund Assets {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(m)}

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

A$ A$ A$

Actual return on Fund assets (94,276) (22,492) (73,002)

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

A$ A$ A$

Actual return on Fund assets (50,865) (10,778) (50,412)

Valuation method and principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(n)}

a) Valuation Method

The Projected Unit Credit (PUC) valuation method was used to determine the present value of the defined benefit 
obligations and the related current service costs. This method sees each period of service as giving rise to an additional 
unit of benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up the final obligation.

b) Economic Assumptions
30-Jun-09 30-Jun-08

Salary increase rate (excluding promotional increases) 3.5% pa 3.5% pa

Rate of CPI Increase 2.5% pa 2.5% pa

Expected rate of return on assets 8.13% n/a

Expected rate of return on assets backing current 
pension liabilities n/a 8.3%

Expected rate of return on assets backing other liabilities n/a 7.3%

Discount rate 5.59% pa 6.55% pa

c) Demographic Assumptions

The demographic assumptions at 30 June 2009 are those that will be used in the 2009 triennial actuarial valuation.   
The triennial review report will be available from the NSW Treasury website, after it is tabled in Parliament in 
December 2009.
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8 CURRENT / NON CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS (cont’d)

Historical information {AASB119 – paragraph 120A(p)}

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

A$ A$ A$

Present value of defined benefit obligation 978,908 223,487 1,249,649

Fair value of Fund assets (654,569) (131,148) (687,833)

(Surplus)/Deficit in Fund 324,339 92,339 561,816

Experience adjustments – Fund liabilities 59,153 48,037 244,944

Experience adjustments – Fund assets 192,913 39,676 128,773

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

A$ A$ A$

Present value of defined benefit obligation 969,451 215,881 930,872

Fair value of Fund assets (902,517) (209,753) (738,848)

(Surplus)/Deficit in Fund 66,934 6,128 192,024

Experience adjustments – Fund liabilities 140,576 21,173 22,735

Experience adjustments – Fund assets 61,436 26,051 109,304

Expected contributions {AASB119 – paragraph 120A(q)}

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

A$ A$ A$

Expected employer contributions to be paid in 
the next reporting period 64,311 13,935 16,179

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

 A$ A$ A$

Expected employer contributions 0 0 0
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8 CURRENT / NON CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS (cont’d)

Funding Arrangements for Employer Contributions

(a) Surplus/deficit

The following is a summary of the 30 June 2009 financial position of the Fund calculated in accordance with AAS 25 
“Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans”:

SASS SANCS SSS

30-Jun-09 30-Jun-09 30-Jun-09

A$ A$ A$

Accrued benefits 905,569 198,046 853,338

Net market value of Fund assets (654,569) (131,148) (687,833)

Net (surplus)/deficit 251,000 66,898 165,505

 SASS SANCS SSS

30-Jun-08 30-Jun-08 30-Jun-08

 A$ A$ A$

Accrued benefits 972,491 216,832 873,028

Net market value of Fund assets (902,517) (209,753) (738,848)

Net (surplus)/deficit 69,974 7,079 134,180

(b) Contribution recommendations

Recommended contribution rates for the entity are:

SASS SANCS SSS

multiple of member 
contributions

% member salary multiple of member 
contributions

2009 1.90 2.50 1.60

2008 0.00 0.00 0.00

(c) Funding method

The method used to determine the employer contribution recommendations in the 2006 triennial actuarial review 
was the Aggregate Funding method.  The method adopted affects the timing of the cost to the employer.  Under the 
Aggregate Funding method, the employer contribution rate is determined so that sufficient assets will be available to 
meet benefit payments to existing members, taking into account the current value of assets and future contributions. 
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8 CURRENT / NON CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS (cont’d)

(d) Economic assumptions

The economic assumptions to adopted for the 2009 actuarial review of the Fund are:

Weighted-Average Assumptions  2009 2008

Expected rate of return on Fund assets backing 
current pension liabilities 8.3% pa 7.7% pa

Expected rate of return on Fund assets backing 
other liabilities 7.3% pa 7.0% pa

Expected salary increase rate 4.0% pa 4.0% pa

Expected rate of CPI increase 2.5% pa 2.5% pa

Nature of Asset/Liability

If a surplus exists in the employer's interest in the Fund, the employer may be able to take advantage of it in the form of 
a reduction in the required contribution rate, depending on the advice of the Fund's actuary.

Where a deficiency exists, the employer is responsible for any difference between the employer’s share of Fund assets 
and the defined benefit obligation.

9 EQUITY

                Accumulated Funds                Total Equity

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Consolidated

Balance at the beginning of the year 28,437 25,583 28,437 25,583

Changes in equity – other than transactions with owners as owners

Surplus for the year 5,689 3,235 5,689 3,235

Actuarial Gains / (Losses) 
* Actuarial Gains (Losses) on Superannuation (713) (381) (713) (381)

Total 4,976 2,854 4,976 2,854

Balance at the end of the financial year 33,413 28,437 33,413 28,437

Cancer Institute NSW

Balance at the beginning of the year 28,437 25,583 28,437 25,583

Surplus / (deficit) for the year 4,976 2,854 4,976 2,854

Total 4,976 2,854 4,976 2,854

Balance at the end of the financial year 33,413 28,437 33,413 28,437

Refer Note 8. Superannuation actuarial losses of $713k (2008: $381k) are recognised in the ‘Statement of Recognised 
Income and Expense’. 2008 figures have been amended to reflect this – refer to Note 1 (r).
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10 COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

                  Consolidated              Cancer Institute NSW

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Other Expenditure Commitments

Not later than one year 38,377 42,000 38,377 42,000

Later than one year and not later  
than five years 14,340 35,702 14,340 35,702

Later than five years - - - -

Total (including GST) 52,717 77,702 52,717 77,702

(b) Operating Lease Commitments

Future non cancellable operating lease rentals not provided for and payable

Not later than one year 1,812 1,351 1,812 1,351

Later than one year and not later  
than five years 2,148 1,676 2,148 1,676

Later than five years - - - -

Total (including GST) 3,960 3,027 3,960 3,027

Commitments above include input tax credits of $5,152K that are expected to be recovered from the Australian 
Taxation Office ($7,339K in 2008).

11 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS

There are no known contingent assets and contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2009 (Nil at 30 June 2008).
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12 NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of cash

              Consolidated           Cancer Institute NSW

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash at bank and on hand 18,802 21,485 18,802 21,485

Treasury Corporation deposits 15,781 14,979 15,781 14,979

Closing Cash and Cash Equivalents 34,583 36,464 34,583 36,464

(b) Reconciliation of Net Cash Flows provided by Operating Activities to Operating Surplus

Consolidated Cancer Institute NSW

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Operating Surplus 5,689 3,235 4,976 2,854

Actuarial Gain / (Loss) on Superannuation (713) (381) - -

Depreciation & amortisation 873 708 873 708

Increase in Employee Entitlements and  
other provisions 665 370 - -

Increase / (decrease) in creditors (6,350) (729) (5,685) (38)

(Increase) / decrease in receivables (70) 315 (70) (6)

Net  (gain) / loss on sale of plant and  
equipment - 5 - 5

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 94 3,523 94 3,523

Refer Note 8. Superannuation actuarial losses of $713k (2008: $381k) are recognised in the ‘Statement of Recognised 
Income and Expense’. 2008 figures have been amended to reflect this – refer to Note 1 (r).
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13 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Institute’s principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from the 
Institute’s operations or are required to finance the Institute’s operations. The Institute does not enter into or trade 
financial instruments for speculative purposes. The Institute does not use financial derivatives.

The Institute’s main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the Institute’s objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are included 
throughout this financial report.

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews and agrees 
policies for managing each of these risks. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced 
by the Institute, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor risks. Compliance with policies is reviewed by the internal 
auditors on a continuous basis.

(a) Financial instrument categories

Note Category Carrying 
Amount

Carrying 
Amount

Consolidated and Cancer Institute NSW 2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents N/A 34,583 36,464

Receivables 4 Loans and receivables (at 
amortised cost)

2,598 2,183

Financial Liabilities

Payables 7 Financial liabilities 
measured at amortised 
cost

5,173 11,405

The 2008 ‘Payables’ figure has been amended to include ‘Other Payables’ as stated in Treasury guidelines to AASB 7.

The 2008 ‘Receivables’ figure has been amended to include ‘Accrued Interest’ as stated in Treasury guidelines to AASB 7.

(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Institute, including cash, receivables and authority deposits. No collateral 
is held by the Institute. The Institute has not granted any financial guarantees. Credit risk arises when there is the 
possibility of the Institute’s debtors defaulting on their contractual obligations, resulting in a financial loss to the Institute. 
The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the carrying amount of the financial assets (net of any 
allowance for impairment).

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009
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Cash
 
Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances within the NSW Treasury Banking System. Interest is earned on daily 
bank balances at the monthly average NSW Treasury Corporation (TCorp) 11am unofficial cash rate, adjusted for a 
management fee to NSW Treasury. The TCorp Hour Glass cash facility is discussed in paragraph (d) below. 
 
Receivables – trade debtors 
 
All trade debtors are recognised as amounts receivable at balance date. Collectability of trade debtors is reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Procedures as established in the Treasurer’s Directions are followed to recover outstanding amounts, 
including letters of demand. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. An allowance for impairment is 
raised when there is objective evidence that the entity will not be able to collect all amounts due. This evidence includes 
past experience, and current and expected changes in economic conditions and debtor credit ratings. No interest is 
earned on trade debtors. Sales are made on 30 day terms. 
 
The Institute is not materially exposed to concentrations of credit risk to a single trade debtor or group of debtors. 
Based on past experience, debtors that are not past due (2009: $1,751,000; 2008: $1,761,000) and less than 3 months 
past due (2009: $202,000; 2008: $31,000) are not considered impaired and together these represent 99% of the total 
trade debtors. There are no debtors which are currently not past due or impaired whose terms have been renegotiated. 
 
The only financial assets that are past due or impaired are ‘’recoveries’’ in the ‘’receivables’’ category of the balance sheet.

$’000

Total Past due but not impaired Considered impaired

Consolidated 
2009

< 3 months overdue 202 202 -

3 months – 6 months overdue - - -

> 6 months overdue 11 11 -

$’000

Total Past due but not impaired Considered impaired

Consolidated 
2008

< 3 months overdue 31 31 -

3 months – 6 months overdue 3 3 -

> 6 months overdue 8 8 -

$’000

Total Past due but not impaired Considered impaired

Cancer Institute NSW 
2009

< 3 months overdue 202 202 -

3 months – 6 months overdue - - -

> 6 months overdue 11 11 -
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13 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

$’000

Total Past due but not impaired Considered impaired

Cancer Institute NSW 
2008

< 3 months overdue 31 31 -

3 months – 6 months overdue 3 3 -

> 6 months overdue 8 8 -

Authority Deposits 
 
The Institute has placed funds on deposit with TCorp, which has been rated ‘’AAA’’ by Standard and Poor’s. These 
deposits are similar to money market or bank deposits and can be placed “at call” or for a fixed term. For fixed term 
deposits, the interest rate payable by TCorp is negotiated initially and is fixed for the term of the deposit, while the 
interest rate payable on at call deposits can vary. The deposits at balance date were earning an interest rate of 5.35% 
(2008   6.25%), while over the year the weighted average interest rate was 4.45% (2008 – 5.84%) on a weighted 
average balance during the year of $15.8M (2008 – $17.8M). None of these assets are past due or impaired.

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Institute will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The Institute 
continuously manages risk through monitoring future cash flows and maturities planning to ensure adequate holding of 
high quality liquid assets.  
 
The Institute’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment  
of risk. 
 
The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or 
not invoiced. Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in 
Treasurer’s Direction 219.01. If trade terms are not specified, payment is made no later than the end of the month 
following the month in which an invoice or a statement is received. Treasurer’s Direction 219.01 allows the Minister to 
award interest for late payment. No penalty interest was paid during the year (2008 – $Nil).

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009
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The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Institute’s financial liabilities.

Maturity Analysis of financial liabilities

$’000

Maturity Dates

Nominal 
Amount

< 1 yr 1–5 yrs > 5 yrs

Consolidated 
2009

Payables:

Creditors 5,173 5,173 - -

5,173 5,173 - -

Consolidated 
2008

Payables:

Creditors 11,405 11,405 - -

11,405 11,405 - -

The 2008 ‘Payables’ figure has been amended to include ‘Other Payables’ as stated in Treasury guidelines to AASB 7.

(d) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices. The Institute’s exposure to market risk is primarily through price risks associated with the movement in 
the unit price of the Hour Glass Investment facilities. The Institute has no exposure to foreign currency risk and does not 
enter into commodity contracts.

The effect on profit and equity due to a reasonably possible change in risk variable is outlined in the information below, 
for interest rate risk and other price risk. A reasonably possible change in risk variable has been determined after taking 
into account the economic environment in which the Institute operates and the time frame for the assessment (i.e. 
until the end of the next annual reporting period). The sensitivity analysis is based on risk exposures in existence at the 
balance sheet date. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2008. The analysis assumes that all other variables 
remain constant. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
The Institute does not account for any fixed rate financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss or as available 
for sale. Therefore, for these financial instruments, a change in interest rates would not affect profit or loss or equity. A 
reasonably possible change of +/-1% is used, consistent with current trends in interest rates. The basis will be reviewed 
annually and amended where there is a structural change in the level of interest rate volatility. The Institute’s exposure to 
interest rate risk is set out over page.
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13 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

$’000

Carrying Amount            -1%         +1%

Profit Equity Profit Equity

Consolidated 
2009

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 34,583 (346) (346) 346 346

Receivables 2,598 - - - -

Financial liabilities

Payables 5,173 - - - -

42,354 (346) (346) 346 346

Consolidated 
2008

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 36,464 (365) (365) 365 365

Receivables 2,183 - - - -

Financial liabilities

Payables 11,405 - - - -

50,052 (365) (365) 365 365

The 2008 ‘Payables’ figure has been amended to include ‘Other Payables’ as stated in Treasury guidelines to AASB 7.

The 2008 ‘Receivables’ figure has been amended to include ‘Accrued Interest’ as stated in Treasury guidelines to AASB 7.

$’000

Carrying Amount            -1%         +1%

Profit Equity Profit Equity

Cancer Institute NSW 
2009

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 34,583 (346) (346) 346 346

Receivables 2,598 - - - -

Financial liabilities

Payables 8,193 - - - -

45,374 (346) (346) 346 346

Cancer Institute NSW 
2008

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 36,464 (365) (365) 365 365

Receivables 2,183 - - - -

Financial liabilities

Payables 11,405 - - - -

50,052 (365) (365) 365 365

The 2008 ‘Payables’ figure has been amended to include ‘Other Payables’ as stated in Treasury guidelines to AASB 7.

The 2008 ‘Receivables’ figure has been amended to include ‘Accrued Interest’ as stated in Treasury guidelines to AASB 7.
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Other price risk – TCorp Hour Glass facilities 
 
Exposure to ‘other price risk’ primarily arises through the investment in the TCorp Hour Glass Investment facilities, which are 
held for strategic rather than trading purposes. The Institute has no direct equity investments. The Institute holds units in the 
following Hour Glass investment trusts:

Facility Investment Sectors Investment Horizon 2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

Consolidated and 
Cancer Institute 
NSW

Cash facility Cash, money market instruments Up to 1.5 years  
(pre June 2008 – Up to 2 years)

15,781 14,979

The unit price of each facility is equal to the total fair value of net assets held by the facility divided by the total number of 
units on issue for that facility. Unit prices are calculated and published daily. 
 
NSW TCorp is trustee for each of the above facilities and is required to act in the best interest of the unit holders and also 
to administer the trusts in accordance with the trust deeds. As trustee, TCorp has appointed external managers to manage 
the performance and risks of each facility in accordance with a mandate agreed by the parties. However, TCorp acts as 
manager for part of the Cash Facility. A significant portion of the administration of the facilities is outsourced to an external 
custodian. 
 
Investment in the Hour Glass facilities limits the Institute’s exposure to risk, as it allows diversification across a pool of funds 
with different investment horizons and a mix of investments. 
 
NSW TCorp provides sensitivity analysis information for each of the investment facilities, using historically based volatility 
information collected over a ten year period, quoted at two standard deviations (i.e. 95% probability). The TCorp Hour Glass 
Investment facilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss and therefore any change in unit price impacts directly 
on profit (rather than equity). A reasonably possible change is based on the percentage change in unit price (as advised by 
TCorp) multiplied by the redemption value as at 30 June each year for each facility (balance from Hour Glass statement).

  

                                                                    Impact on profit/loss                     

Change in unit price 2009  
$’000

2008  
$’000

Consolidated and Cancer Institute NSW

Hour Glass Investment – Cash facility +/-1% 158 150

(e) Fair Value

Financial instruments are generally recognised at cost, with the exception of the TCorp Hour Glass facilities, which are 
measured at fair value. As discussed, the value of the Hour Glass Investments is based on the Institute’s share of the 
value of the underlying assets of the facility, based on the market value. All of the Hour Glass facilities are valued using 
‘redemption’ pricing.
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14 AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS

Announcements on Government public sector reforms indicate agencies will amalgamate into 13 ‘Super Departments’. 
Cancer Institute NSW has not been listed in any Administrative Orders documenting amalgamations at the time of 
signing the financial statements with the Audit Office. As a result, no specific information is available in regard to future 
impact on Cancer Institute NSW.

End of audited financial statements

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009
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Income Statement 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

2009 2008

Notes $’000 $’000

Revenue

Rendering of services 2 18,208 16,807

Total revenue 18,208 16,807

Expenses excluding losses

Employee related expenses 3(a) 17,495 16,426

Total expenses excluding losses 17,495 16,426

OPERATING SURPLUS FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 713 381

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 713 381

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Refer Note 7. Superannuation actuarial losses of $713k (2008: $381k) are recognised in the ‘Statement of Recognised Income 
and Expense’. 2008 figures have been amended to reflect this – refer to Note 1 (h).
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2009 2008

Notes $’000 $’000

Actuarial Gains / (Losses) on Superannuation (713) (381)

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY 7 (713) (381)

Surplus / (Deficit) for the year 713 381

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED  
FOR THE YEAR 7 - -

- -

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Refer Note 7. 2008 figures have been amended to reflect superannuation actuarial losses – refer to Note 1 (h).

2008 
$’000

Effect of change in accounting policy

Surplus for the period as reported in 2008 -

Change of policy – actuarial losses 381

Restated surplus for the period 381
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Balance Sheet 
as at 30 June 2009

2009 2008

Notes $’000 $’000

ASSETS

Current assets

Receivables 4 3,244 2,649

Total current assets 3,244 2,649

Total assets 3,244 2,649

Current liabilities

Payables 5 224 293

Provisions 6 2,980 2,313

Total current liabilities 3,204 2,606

Non current liabilities

Provisions 6 40 43

Total non current liabilities 40 43

Total liabilities 3,244 2,649

Net assets - -

EQUITY

Accumulated funds 7 - -

Total Equity - -

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Cash Flow Statement 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Total Payments - -

Total Receipts - -

Net Cash Flows From Government - -

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES - -

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES - -

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH - -

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - -
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Reporting entity

The Cancer Institute Division is a Division of the Government Service, established pursuant to Part 2 of Schedule 1 
to the Public Sector Employment and Management Act 2002. It is a not for profit entity as profit is not its principal 
objective. It is consolidated as part of the NSW Total State Sector Accounts. It is domiciled in Australia and its principal 
office is at Level 1, Biomedical Building, Australian Technology Park, Sydney. 
 
The Cancer Institute Division’s objective is to provide personnel services to Cancer Institute NSW. 
 
The Cancer Institute Division commenced operations on 17 March 2006 when it assumed responsibility for the 
employees and employee related liabilities of the Cancer Institute NSW. The assumed liabilities were recognised on 17 
March 2006 together with an offsetting receivable representing the relating funding due from the former employer. 
 
The financial report for the year ended 30 June 2009 has been authorised for issue by the Chief Cancer Officer and 
Chief Executive Officer on 20 October 2009.

(b) Basis of preparation

The Division’s financial statements are a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with:

• applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations)

• the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and Regulation; and

• specific directions issued by the Treasurer. 

Generally, the historical cost basis of accounting has been adopted and the financial report does not take into account 
changing money values or current valuations. However, certain provisions are measured at fair value. 
 
The accrual basis of accounting has been adopted in the preparation of the financial report, except for cash flow 
information. 
 
Judgements, key assumptions and estimations that management has made are disclosed in the relevant notes to the 
financial statements. 
 
All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency except for the 
Superannuation disclosure which is rounded to the nearest dollar.

(c) Statement of compliance

The Division’s financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian 
Accounting Interpretations.

(d) Income recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contribution received or receivable. Revenue from the 
rendering of personnel services is recognised when the service is provided and only to the extent that the associated 
recoverable expenses are recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(e) Employee benefits and other provisions

(i) Salaries and wages, annual leave, sick leave and on costs

Liabilities for salaries and wages (including non monetary benefits), annual leave and paid sick leave that fall due wholly 
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised and measured in respect of employees’ services up to the 
reporting date at undiscounted amounts based on the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
 
Unused non vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability, as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in the 
future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future. 
 
The outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance premiums and fringe benefits tax, which are 
consequential to employment, are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which they 
relate have been recognised. 

(ii) Long service leave and superannuation 

Long service leave is measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits. This is based on the 
application of certain factors (specified in NSWTC 09/04) to employees with 5 or more years of service, using current 
rates of pay. Long service liability was determined based on the short hand method to approximate the present value.

(iii) Other provisions

Other provisions exist when: the Division has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event; it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation.

(f) Loans and receivables

Receivables are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. These financial assets are recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face value. 
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance for any impairment 
of receivables. Any changes are accounted for in the operating statement when impaired, derecognised or through the 
amortisation process. 
 
Short term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.

(g) Payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Institute and other amounts. Payables are 
recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Short term payables with no stated interest rate are measured at 
the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

(h) Changes in Accounting Policy

According with NSW Treasury policy, the entity has changed its policy on the recognition of superannuation actuarial 
gains and losses. Such actuarial gains and losses are now recognised outside of profit or loss in the ‘statement of 
recognised income and expense’. Previously, actuarial gains and losses were recognised through profit or loss. Both 
options are permissible under AASB 119 Employee Benefits.  
 
The change in policy has been adopted on the basis that recognition outside profit or loss provides reliable and more 
relevant information as it better reflects the nature of actuarial gains and losses. This is because actuarial gains/losses are 
re-measurements, based on assumptions that do not necessarily reflect the ultimate cost of providing superannuation.  
 
Recognition outside profit or loss also harmonises better with the Government Finance Statistics / GAAP 
comprehensive income presentation for the whole of government and general government sector, required under 
AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting. A comprehensive income 
presentation will also be available at the entity level from 2009/10 under AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements. 
 
The change in accounting policy increases 2009 ‘profit for the period’ from NIL to $713k (2008: from NIL to $381k), by 
excluding from profit the superannuation actuarial loss line item (2009: $713k, 2008: $381k). This item is now recognised 
in the ‘Statement of Recognised Income and Expense’ rather than the ‘Income statement’. 

(i) New Australian Accounting Standards issued but not effective

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2009 
reporting period. The Division did not early adopt any of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations that are not 
yet effective:

• AASB 3 (March 2008), AASB 127 and AASB 2008-3 regarding business combinations;

• AASB 8 and AASB 2007 3 regarding operating segments;

• AASB 101 (Sept 2007), AASB 2007-8 and AASB 2007-10 regarding presentation of financial statements; 

• AASB 123 (June 2007) and AASB 2007-6 regarding borrowing costs;

• AASB 1039 regarding concise financial reports; 

• AASB 2008-1 regarding share based payments;

• AASB 2008-2 regarding puttable financial instruments;

• AASB 2009-2 regarding financial instruments.

It is considered that the impact of these new Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no material 
impact on the financial statements of the Division.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

2 REVENUES

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Personnel Services 18,208 16,807

18,208 16,807

3 EXPENSES

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

(a) Employee related expenses

Salaries and wages (including recreation leave) 15,397 14,490

Superannuation – defined benefit plans 64 37

Superannuation – defined contribution plans 962 876

Long service leave 199 189

Payroll tax, fringe benefit tax and workers compensation 873 834

17,495 16,426

4 RECEIVABLES

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Current

Personnel Services 3,244 2,649

3,244 2,649
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

5 PAYABLES

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Payables

Accrued salary and oncosts 224 293

224 293

6 PROVISIONS

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Current

Employee benefits and related on costs

Recreation leave 1,312 1,213

Long service leave 651 820

Fringe benefits tax 39 15

Superannuation 978 265

2,980 2,313

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Non current

Employee benefits and related on costs

Long service leave 40 43

40 43
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

6 PROVISIONS (cont’d)

Superannuation Funds as at  30 June 2009

Basis – AASB 119

SASS SANCS SSS TOTAL

30-Jun-09 30-Jun-09 30-Jun-09 30-Jun-09

Member Numbers

Contributors 5 6 1

Deferred benefits 0 0 1

Pensioners 0 0 0

Pensions fully commuted 0 0 0

Superannuation Position for AASB 119 purposes A$ A$ A$ A$

Accrued liability 978,907 223,487 1,249,649 2,452,043

Estimated reserve account balance (654,569) (131,148) (687,833) (1,473,550)

324,338 92,339 561,816 978,493

Future Service Liability # (376,745) (123,509) (25,422) (525,676)

Surplus in excess of recovery available from schemes 0 0 0 0

Net (asset)/liability to be recognised in balance sheet 324,338 92,339 561,816 978,493

Superannuation Funds as at  30 June 2008

Basis – AASB 119

SASS SANCS SSS TOTAL

30-Jun-08 30-Jun-08 30-Jun-08 30-Jun-08

Member Numbers

Contributors 5 6 1

Deferred benefits 0 0 1

Pensioners 0 0 0

Pensions fully commuted 0 0 0

Superannuation Position for AASB 119 purposes A$ A$ A$ A$

Accrued liability 969,451 215,881 930,872 2,116,204

Estimated reserve account balance (902,517) (209,753) (738,848) (1,851,118)

66,934 6,128 192,024 265,086

Future Service Liability # (373,962) (93,889) (24,936) (492,787)

Surplus in excess of recovery available from schemes 0 0 0 0

Net (asset)/liability to be recognised in balance sheet 66,934 6,128 192,024 265,086
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# The Future Service Liability (FSL) does not have to be recognised by an employer.  It is only used to determine if an asset ceiling 
limit should be imposed (AASB 119, para 58).  Under AASB 119, any prepaid superannuation asset recognised cannot exceed the 
total of any unrecognised past service cost and the present value of any economic benefits that may be available in the form of 
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.  Where the “surplus in excess of recovery” is zero, no asset 
ceiling limit is imposed.

AASB 119 
Disclosure Items 30 June 2009

Accounting policy {AASB 119 –  paragraph 120A(a) }

In 2008/09, NSW Treasury mandated a change in policy for all NSW public sector agencies to recognise actuarial gains and losses 
immediately outside profit and loss in the year in which they occur.  Previously actuarial gains and losses were recognised in profit 
or loss.  This change in policy must be applied retrospectively, as advised in NSW Treasury Circular NSWTC 09/01.

Fund information {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(b) }

The Pooled Fund holds in trust the investments of the closed NSW public sector superannuation schemes: 
State Authorities Superannuation Scheme (SASS) 
State Superannuation Scheme (SSS) 
Police Superannuation Scheme (PSS) 
State Authorities Non-contributory Superannuation Scheme (SANCS). 

These schemes are all defined benefit schemes – at least a component of the final benefit is derived from a multiple of member 
salary and years of membership.

All the Schemes are closed to new members.    

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

6 PROVISIONS (cont’d)
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

6 PROVISIONS (cont’d)

Reconciliation of the present value of the defined benefit obligation {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(c)}

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

A$ A$ A$

Present value of partly funded defined benefit 
obligation at beginning of the year 969,451 215,881 930,872

Current service cost 56,858 11,851 10,420

Interest cost 62,941 13,801 61,264

Contributions by Fund participants 33,848 0 10,112

Actuarial (gains)/losses 59,153 48,037 244,944

Benefits paid (203,344) (66,083) (7,963)

Past service cost 0 0 0

Curtailments 0 0 0

Settlements 0 0 0

Business Combinations 0 0 0

Exchange rate changes 0 0 0

Present value of partly funded defined benefit 
obligation at end of the year 978,907 223,487 1,249,649

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

A$ A$ A$

Present value of partly funded defined benefit 
obligation at beginning of the year 770,987 162,726 850,857

Current service cost 50,331 9,364 7,491

Interest cost 49,058 10,180 54,596

Contributions by Fund participants 29,998 0 6,630

Actuarial (gains)/losses 140,576 21,173 22,735

Benefits paid (71,499) 12,438 (11,437)

Past service cost 0 0 0

Curtailments 0 0 0

Settlements 0 0 0

Business Combinations 0 0 0

Exchange rate changes 0 0 0

Present value of partly funded defined benefit 
obligation at end of the year 969,451 215,881 930,872
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6 PROVISIONS (cont’d)

Reconciliation of the fair value of Fund assets {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(e)}

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

A$ A$ A$

Fair value of Fund assets at beginning of the year 902,517 209,753 738,848

Expected return on Fund assets 75,227 17,184 61,077

Actuarial gains/(losses) (192,913) (39,676) (128,773)

Employer contributions 39,234 9,970 14,531

Contributions by Fund participants 33,848 0 10,112

Benefits paid (203,344) (66,083) (7,963)

Settlements 0 0 0

Business combinations 0 0 0

Exchange rate changes 0 0 0

Fair value of Fund assets at end of the year 654,569 131,148 687,832

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

A$ A$ A$

Fair value of Fund assets at beginning of the year 876,405 195,907 779,827

Expected return on Fund assets 67,121 15,273 61,337

Actuarial gains/(losses) (61,436) (26,051) (109,304)

Employer contributions 61,929 12,186 11,796

Contributions by Fund participants 29,998 0 6,630

Benefits paid (71,499) 12,438 (11,437)

Settlements 0 0 0

Business combinations 0 0 0

Exchange rate changes 0 0 0

Fair value of Fund assets at end of the year 902,517 209,753 738,848

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

6 PROVISIONS (cont’d)

Reconciliation of the assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet {AASB 119 – paragraphs 120A(d) and (f)}

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

A$ A$ A$

Present value of partly funded defined benefit 
obligation at end of year 978,907 223,487 1,249,649

Fair value of Fund assets at end of year (654,569) (131,148) (687,833)

Subtotal 324,338 92,339 561,816

Unrecognised past service cost 0 0 0

Unrecognised gain/(loss) 0 0 0

Adjustment for limitation on net asset 0 0 0

Net Liability/(Asset) recognised in balance sheet at 
end of year 324,338 92,339 561,816

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

A$ A$ A$

Present value of partly funded defined benefit 
obligation at end of year 969,451 215,881 930,872

Fair value of Fund assets at end of year (902,517) (209,753) (738,848)

Subtotal 66,934 6,128 192,024

Unrecognised past service cost 0 0 0

Unrecognised gain/(loss) 0 0 0

Adjustment for limitation on net asset 0 0 0

Net Liability/(Asset) recognised in balance sheet at 
end of year 66,934 6,128 192,024
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6 PROVISIONS (cont’d)

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Components Recognised in Income Statement A$ A$ A$

Current service cost 56,858 11,851 10,420

Interest cost 62,941 13,801 61,264

Expected return on Fund assets (net of 
expenses) (75,227) (17,184) (61,077)

Actuarial losses/(gains) recognised in year 0 0 0

Past service cost 0 0 0

Movement in adjustment for limitation on net 
asset 0 0 0

Curtailment or settlement (gain)/loss 0 0 0

Expense/(income) recognised 44,572 8,468 10,607

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Components Recognised in Income Statement A$ A$ A$

Current service cost 50,331 9,364 7,491

Interest cost 49,058 10,180 54,596

Expected return on Fund assets  
(net of expenses) (67,121) (15,273) (61,337)

Actuarial losses/(gains) recognised in year 202,012 47,224 132,039

Past service cost 0 0 0

Movement in adjustment for limitation on  
net asset 0 0 0

Curtailment or settlement (gain)/loss 0 0 0

Expense/(income) recognised 234,281 51,495 132,789

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

6 PROVISIONS (cont’d)

Amounts recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(h)}

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

A$ A$ A$

Actuarial (gains)/losses 252,067 87,713 373,717

Adjustment for limit on net asset 0 0 0

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

A$ A$ A$

Actuarial (gains)/losses 202,012 47,224 132,039

Adjustment for limit on net asset 0 0 0

Fund assets {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(j)}

The percentage invested in each asset class at the balance sheet date:

30-Jun-09 30-Jun-08

Australian equities 32.1% 31.6%

Overseas equities 26.0% 25.4%

Australian fixed interest securities 6.2% 7.4%

Overseas fixed interest securities 4.7% 7.5%

Property 10.0% 11.0%

Cash 8.0% 6.1%

Other 13.0% 11.0%

Fair value of Fund assets {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(k)}

All Fund assets are invested by STC at arm’s length through independent fund managers.

Expected rate of return  on assets {AASB119 – paragraph 120A(l)}

The expected return on assets assumption is determined by weighting the expected long-term return for each asset 
class by the target allocation of assets to each class.  The returns used for each class are net of investment tax and 
investment fees.
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6 PROVISIONS (cont’d)

Actual Return on Fund Assets {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(m)}

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

A$ A$ A$

Actual return on Fund assets (94,276) (22,492) (73,002)

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

A$ A$ A$

Actual return on Fund assets (50,865) (10,778) (50,412)

Valuation method and principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(n)}

a) Valuation Method

The Projected Unit Credit (PUC) valuation method was used to determine the present value of the defined benefit 
obligations and the related current service costs. This method sees each period of service as giving rise to an additional 
unit of benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up the final obligation.

b) Economic Assumptions

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

30-Jun-09 30-Jun-08

Salary increase rate (excluding promotional increases) 3.5% pa 3.5% pa

Rate of CPI Increase 2.5% pa 2.5% pa

Expected rate of return on assets 8.13% n/a

Expected rate of return on assets backing current 
pension liabilities n/a 8.3%

Expected rate of return on assets backing other liabilities n/a 7.3%

Discount rate 5.59% pa 6.55% pa

c) Demographic Assumptions

The demographic assumptions at 30 June 2009 are those that will be used in the 2009 triennial actuarial valuation.   
The triennial review report will be available from the NSW Treasury website, after it is tabled in Parliament in 
December 2009.
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for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

6 PROVISIONS (cont’d)

Historical information {AASB119 – paragraph 120A(p)}

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

A$ A$ A$

Present value of defined benefit obligation 978,908 223,487 1,249,649

Fair value of Fund assets (654,569) (131,148) (687,833)

(Surplus)/Deficit in Fund 324,339 92,339 561,816

Experience adjustments – Fund liabilities 59,153 48,037 244,944

Experience adjustments – Fund assets 192,913 39,676 128,773

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

A$ A$ A$

Present value of defined benefit obligation 969,451 215,881 930,872

Fair value of Fund assets (902,517) (209,753) (738,848)

(Surplus)/Deficit in Fund 66,934 6,128 192,024

Experience adjustments – Fund liabilities 140,576 21,173 22,735

Experience adjustments – Fund assets 61,436 26,051 109,304

Expected contributions {AASB119 – paragraph 120A(q)}

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

Financial Year to  
30 June 2009

A$ A$ A$

Expected employer contributions to be paid in 
the next reporting period 64,311 13,935 16,179

SASS SANCS SSS

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

Financial Year to  
30 June 2008

 A$ A$ A$

Expected employer contributions 0 0 0
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for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

6 PROVISIONS (cont’d)

Funding Arrangements for Employer Contributions

(a) Surplus/deficit

The following is a summary of the 30 June 2009 financial position of the Fund calculated in accordance with AAS 25 
“Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans”:

SASS SANCS SSS

30-Jun-09 30-Jun-09 30-Jun-09

A$ A$ A$

Accrued benefits 905,569 198,046 853,338

Net market value of Fund assets (654,569) (131,148) (687,833)

Net (surplus)/deficit 251,000 66,898 165,505

 SASS SANCS SSS

30-Jun-08 30-Jun-08 30-Jun-08

 A$ A$ A$

Accrued benefits 972,491 216,832 873,028

Net market value of Fund assets (902,517) (209,753) (738,848)

Net (surplus)/deficit 69,974 7,079 134,180

(b) Contribution recommendations

Recommended contribution rates for the entity are:

SASS SANCS SSS

multiple of member 
contributions

% member salary multiple of member 
contributions

2009 1.90 2.50 1.60

2008 0.00 0.00 0.00

(c) Funding method

The method used to determine the employer contribution recommendations in the 2006 triennial actuarial review 
was the Aggregate Funding method.  The method adopted affects the timing of the cost to the employer.  Under the 
Aggregate Funding method, the employer contribution rate is determined so that sufficient assets will be available to 
meet benefit payments to existing members, taking into account the current value of assets and future contributions. 
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6 PROVISIONS (cont’d)

(d) Economic assumptions

The economic assumptions to adopted for the 2009 actuarial review of the Fund are:

Weighted-Average Assumptions  2009 2008

Expected rate of return on Fund assets backing 
current pension liabilities 8.3% pa 7.7% pa

Expected rate of return on Fund assets backing 
other liabilities 7.3% pa 7.0% pa

Expected salary increase rate 4.0% pa 4.0% pa

Expected rate of CPI increase 2.5% pa 2.5% pa

Nature of Asset/Liability

If a surplus exists in the employer's interest in the Fund, the employer may be able to take advantage of it in the form of 
a reduction in the required contribution rate, depending on the advice of the Fund's actuary.

Where a deficiency exists, the employer is responsible for any difference between the employer’s share of Fund assets 
and the defined benefit obligation.

7 CHANGES IN EQUITY

Superannuation actuarial losses of $713k (2008: $381k) are recognised in the ‘Statement of Recognised Income and 
Expense’. 2008 figures have been amended to reflect this – refer to Note 1 (h).

                    Accumulated Funds               Total Equity

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Surplus for the year 713 381 713 381

Other increases 
* Actuarial (Losses) on Superannuation (713) (381) (713) (381)

Balance at the end of the financial year - - - -
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8 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Cancer Institute Division’s principal financial instruments are short term receivables and payables. These financial 
instruments expose the Division primarily to credit risk on short term receivables. The Division does not enter into or 
trade financial instruments for speculative purpose and does not use financial derivatives. 
 
The Chief Executive Officer has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and 
reviews and agrees policies for managing risk. Compliance with policies is reviewed by the internal auditors on a 
continuous basis.

(a) Financial instrument categories

Financial Assets Note Category Carrying Amount Carrying Amount

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Receivables 4 Loans and receivables (at amortised 
cost)

3,244 2,649

Financial Liabilities Note Category Carrying Amount Carrying Amount

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Payables 5 Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost

224 293

The 2008 ‘Payables’ figure has been amended to include ‘Employee Payables’ as stated in Treasury guidelines to AASB 7.

(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Division, which are receivables. No collateral is held by the Division. The 
Division has not granted any financial guarantees. 
 
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Division’s debtors defaulting on their contractual obligations, 
resulting in a financial loss to the Division. The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the carrying 
amount of the financial assets (net of any allowance for impairment). 
 
Receivables – trade debtors 
 
All trade debtors are recognised as amounts receivable at balance date. The balance owing represents monies due from 
the Cancer Institute NSW. Debtors’ invoices are issued on 14 day terms. 
 
No financial assets are past due or impaired.
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8 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Division will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The Division 
continuously manages risk through monitoring future cash flows and maturities planning to ensure adequate holding of 
high quality liquid assets. 
 
The Division’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment  
of risk. 
 
The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or 
not invoiced. Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in 
Treasurer’s Direction 219.01. If trade terms are not specified, payment is made no later than the end of the month 
following the month in which an invoice or a statement is received. Treasurer’s Direction 219.01 allows the Minister to 
award interest for late payment. No interest for late payment was paid during the 2009 financial year (2008 – $Nil). 
 
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Division’s financial liabilities.

Maturity Analysis of financial liabilities

$’000

Maturity Dates

Nominal Amount < 1 yr 1–5 yrs > 5 yrs

Consolidated 
2009

Payables:

Accrued salaries, wages and on costs 224 224 - -

224 224 - -

Consolidated 
2008

Payables: 
Accrued salaries, wages and on costs 293 293 - -

293 293 - -

The 2008 ‘Payables’ figure has been amended to include ‘Employee Payables’, as stated in Treasury guidelines to AASB 7.
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(d) Market risk

The Division has no cash and cash equivalents. The Division has no exposure to foreign currency risk and does not enter 
into commodity contracts.

(e) Fair Value

Financial instruments are generally recognised at cost.

9 AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS

Announcements on Government public sector reforms indicate agencies will amalgamate into 13 ‘Super Departments’. 
The Cancer Institute Division has not been listed in any Administrative Orders documenting amalgamations at the time 
of signing the financial statements with the Audit Office. As a result, no specific information is available in regard to future 
impact on the Cancer Institute Division.

End of audited financial statements

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009
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Accounts payable performance report

QUARTER CURRENT (I.E 

WITHIN DUE DATE)

LESS THAN 30 

DAYS OVERDUE

BETWEEN 30 DAYS 

AND 60 DAYS 

OVERDUE

BETWEEN 60 

DAYS AND 90 

DAYS OVERDUE

MORE THAN 90 DAYS 

OVERDUE

$ $ $ $ $

September 1,313,421 0 0 0 0

December 1,156,924 0 0 0 0

March 141,408 0 0 0 0

June 524,700 0 0 0 0

 
Accounts paid on time within each quarter 
 

QUARTER TOTAL ACCOUNTS PAID ON TIME TOTAL AMOUNT 

PAID ($)TARGET ACTUAL $

September 88% 95% 33,472,039 34,889,351

December 88% 97% 28,774,012 30,221,385

March 88% 92% 27,044,627 30,048,700

June 88% 98% 51,213,622 55,617,746

During 2008–09 there were no instances where penalty interest was paid in accordance with section 18 of the Public Finance and  
Audit (General) Regulation 1995. There were no significant events that affected payment performance during the reporting period.

ffff

Aged analysis at the end of each quarter

Credit card certification 2008–09

It is affirmed that for the 2008–09 financial year  
credit card use within the Cancer Institute NSW  
was in accordance with Premier’s memoranda  
and Treasurer’s Directions.

Credit card use

Credit card use within the Cancer Institute NSW is largely  
limited to:

• The reimbursement of travel and subsistence expense.

•  The purchase of books and publications.

•  Seminar and conference deposits.

•  Travel bookings deposits.

•  Official business use whilst engaged in 
 overseas travel.

 

Documenting credit card use

The following measures are used to  
monitor the use of credit cards within the  
Cancer Institute NSW:

•  The organisation’s credit card policy is documented.

•  Reports and statements on the appropriateness of credit 
 card usage are periodically lodged for management  
 consideration.

•  Six-monthly reports/compliance surveys are submitted to
  Treasury, certifying that the Institute’s credit card  
 use is within the guidelines issued.
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Freedom of information

The Cancer Institute NSW was prescribed under the Freedom 
of Information Act 1989 in 2007–08. We had two applications 
for information during this time (one in 2007–08).

•  A request for information in relation to a review 
of the Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS) items for 
cancer conferencing. We were able to provide details 
of several areas of work by the Cancer Institute NSW 
in supporting multidisciplinary teams in NSW, relating 
to: funding of cancer care co-ordinators to support 
multidisciplinary teams; a study of taxation issues related 
to the MBS remuneration for cancer case conferencing; 
and financial support to employ administrative support for 
multidisciplinary team meetings in 2008–09.

•  A request for information in relation to amounts owed to 
businesses in unpaid bills or overdue bills. The information 
is in accordance with the annual report requirement for 
accounts payable performance and was released.

We also received one third party request through the 
Department of Health and Ageing.

Guarantee of Service

The Cancer Institute NSW has established standards and 
guidelines for responding to requests from health consumers 
for information and non-medical advice concerning 
cancer; whether received by phone, fax, email or written 
correspondence.

These standards ensure that informative, timely responses are 
provided to inquiries.

Privacy management plan

The Cancer Institute NSW Privacy Management Plan  
identifies how the Cancer Institute NSW and all agencies  
and health services funded by the Institute will comply with 
privacy legislation.

The Plan provides detail of how the organisation intends to 
protect the privacy of its clients, staff and the public when it 
processes personal information, to assist people who may 
wish to exercise their rights under the Privacy and Personal 
Information Protection (PPIP) Act 1998 or the Health Records and 
Information Privacy (HRIP) Act 2002 and make a complaint or 
request for an internal review.

For the reporting period there have been no complaints 
received by the Cancer Institute NSW regarding its dealings 
with personal information under the PPIP Act and personal 
health information under the HRIP Act that have resulted in the 
requirement for a request for an internal review.

 
 

Consumer participation

The Cancer Institute NSW actively engages and supports the 
participation of people affected by cancer in our programs. 
Consumer interests are represented through the membership 
and participation of people affected by cancer on all 
committees. Consumers are also represented on the Board of 
the Cancer Institute NSW by Mr John Stubbs (see page 38).

Consultants

During the year the Cancer Institute NSW engaged 34 
consultants to provide expert advice on cancer research and 
clinical programs. The total consultancy cost was $203,793.68 
(2007–08: $140,324.96). One consultancy assignment relating 
to Professor Richard Fox, Chair of the Research Grants Review 
Committee, costed $30,000 or more.

Electronic Service Delivery

As part of our commitment to electronic service delivery, the 
Cancer Institute NSW implemented a range of initiatives in 
2008–09:

•  Implemented and enhanced core information systems, 
including the Pap Test Register and the Central  
Cancer Registry.

•  Developed a number of web-based portals and 
information systems with a focus on secure electronic 
exchanges of information.

•  Deployed the initial phase of the online grants 
management system.

•  Published a series of fact sheets about specific cancers for 
the visually impaired.

•  Loaded more than 100 key reports, monographs, 
literature reviews, fact sheets, discussion papers and 
posters to cancerinstitute.org.au.

•  Hosted and/or maintained websites, including:

 - cancerinstitute.org.au (including statistics module) 
 - Challenges in Cytology (www.challengesincytology.com) 
 - CHeReL (www.cherel.org.au) 
 - NSW Cervical Screening Program (www.csp.nsw.gov.au) 
 - Dark Side of Tanning (www.darksideoftanning.com.au)  
 - Clinical Trials Business Development Centre  
    (www.clinicaltrials.org.au) 
 - Cancer Notification Portal  
   (www.notification.cancerinstitute.org.au) 
 - 13 Quit (www.13quit.org.au) 
 - BreastScreen NSW (www.bsnsw.org.au)

ffff
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Sponsorships and community grants

PURPOSE ORGANISATION AMOUNT

Rock Eisteddfod Challenge Rock Eisteddfod Challenge Foundation $75,000

Sponsorship of Annual Information and Support Day for 
individuals and families living with increased cancer risk 
due to BRCA 1/2 gene changes

Association of Genetic Support Australasia Inc 
(ASGA)

$5,000

COSA Annual Scientific Meeting Clinical Oncological Society of Australia (COSA) $40,000

Australasian Gastro-Intestinal Trials Group -  
Scientific Meeting

Australasian Gastro-Intestinal Trials Group $12,500

Australian Society of Cytology - Annual Scientific and 
Business Meeting

Australian Society of Cytology $9,090.91

Australian Lung Cancer Conference The Australian Lung Foundation $20,000

Sponsorship of seminar - Integrated Drug and Biological 
Preclinical Strategies

The University of Queensland $1,500

Sponsorship of Workshop on Research Development in 
Palliative care

NSWOG Palliative Care Clinical Trials Group $5,000

Sponsorship of conference on Translational Cancer 
Research - Pathways to Tailored Therapies

Hunter Medical Research Institute $10,000

Sponsorship of workshop - Australia & Asia Pacific Clinical 
Oncology Research Development

Medical Oncology Group of Australia $15,000

Sponsorship of Australasian Biospecimen  
Network Meeting

Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre $750

Sponsorship of NSW Radiotherapy Club Meeting The Royal Australian and New Zealand College  
of Radiologists

$5,454.55

St Vincents and Mater Health Sydney  
Research Symposium

St Vincent’s Hospital Sydney Ltd $1,818.18

Sponsorship of worshop - Success in Clinical Trials: The 
Way Forward

Trans Tasman Radiation Oncology Group Inc $7,200

Sponsorship of worshop - RAVES Informed Consent  
& Communications

Trans Tasman Radiation Oncology Group Inc $7,280

Community Partnership Program for Cancer Screening 
Promotion for Chinese-Australian Women

The University of Sydney $12,880.80

Sponsorship of the study - Cognitive Rehabilitation for 
Cancer Survivors

The University of Sydney $18,000

TOTAL $246,474.44

ffff
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Agreements and Memorandums of 
Understanding

• Memorandum of Understanding between the Cancer 
Institute NSW and Cancer Voices NSW (CVN) to include 
at least one CVN consumer representative to sit on 
relevant Cancer Institute NSW committees and working 
parties to ensure the interests of people affected by 
cancer in NSW is represented.

• Memorandum of Understanding for the Implementation 
and Management of BreastScreen NSW between the 
New South Wales Department of Health and the Cancer 
Institute NSW.

• Under the Public Health Outcomes Funding Agreement 
(PHOFA), the NSW Government and the Australian 
Government jointly fund the Breast Screening service  
in NSW.

• The BreastScreen NSW program is delivered through 
Performance and Funding Agreements between the 
Cancer Institute NSW and Area Health Services. A 
contract with ACT Health provides services to women in 
the South East region of NSW.

• Memorandum of Understanding between the Cancer 
Institute NSW and Sydney West Area Health Service for 
the operation of the BreastScreen NSW Central Screen 
Reading Facility (CRF).

• Five-year partnership agreement between The Cancer 
Council NSW and the Cancer Institute NSW.

• Memorandum of Understanding between the Cancer 
Institute NSW and NSW Health to develop extra data 
entry fields to accommodate cancer services information 
in the HERO database. 

• Memorandum of Understanding between NSW Health, 
the Cancer Institute NSW and other partners for the 
establishment of a Centre for Health Record Linkage.

• Memorandum of Understanding for membership 
agreement between the University of Western Sydney, 
NSW Health and the Cancer Institute NSW for the 
Centre for Health Record Linkage.

• Agreement with Health Support Services extended to 
include personnel for radiotherapy application support.

• Memorandum of understanding with NSW Health for the 
operations of the Cervical Screening Program, PapTest 
Register and the NSW Central Cancer Registry.

• A deed of agreement with Family Planning NSW to fund 
practice nurse training in cervical screening and GP up-

skilling courses.

• Deeds of agreement with Area Health Services to fund 
cost of cytology.

• The Cancer Institute NSW also has a series of contracts 
with NSW General Practice Divisions to fund initiatives to 
increase participation in cervical screening.

• Memorandum of understanding with ACT Health for the 
management of ACT cancer registrations.

• A two-year Memorandum of Understanding with NSW 
Health to reduce tobacco-related morbidity and mortality 
among Aboriginal people in NSW.

• A Memorandum of Understanding with the Cancer 
Council NSW for the Melanoma Awareness Campaign.

• Deed of agreement with NSW Institute of Medical 
Education and Training (IMET) to review Registrar Training 
Networks.

• Memorandums of Understanding have been established 
to undertake ethical review of research proposals for 
individuals or organisations external to the public health 
system. The MOU sets out the terms and conditions 
on which such ethical review may be conducted and 
the requirements that must be met for external entities 
seeking to use the ethical review of a lead Human 
Research Ethics Committee. The MOU is for a five-year 
term. The organisations include: 
- Health Care Lingard Pty Ltd 
- Ramsay Health “Trading as Murray Valley Private 
Hospital 
- Border Medical Oncology 
- St Vincent’s Private Hospital 
- Southern Medical Day Care Centre 
- Sydney Haematology and Oncology Clinic

Joint Programs

• The Cancer Institute NSW has entered into an agreement 
with the Sydney Melanoma Unit to identify all new 
melanoma notifications relating to NSW residents over a 
one year index period. Information will the be gathered 
and analysed about the nature, utilisation and access to, 
diagnostic and pathology services, the quality of pathology 
services, the adherence to guidelines or best practice 
recommendations for treatment and psychosocial services, 
family history and referral patterns.

• A partnership with the Cancer Epidemiology Research 
Unit at The Cancer Council NSW has been established 
to analyse data collected for patterns of care studies on 
the management and treatment of colorectal, lung and 
prostate cancers.

Agreements and joint programs

ffff
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Statutory committees

Audit and Risk Committee

MEMBER POSITION ORGANISATION

Mr John Stubbs - Chair                  Executive Officer Cancer Voices Australia

Dr Paul Moy                                   Managing Director UBS Global Asset Management

Ms Beth Macauley                         Chief Operating Officer Cancer Institute NSW

Prof. Peter Gunning                       Head of Oncology Research University of NSW

Prof. Rob Sanson-Fisher               Acting Chief Cancer Officer and CEO Cancer Institute NSW

Mr David Sabanayagam - Secretary             Financial Controller Cancer Institute NSW

Mr Phil O’Toole - Advisor                           Director Risk Management Services IAB

Ms Sally Bond - Advisor                              Director, Financial Audit Services Audit Office of NSW

Cancer Research Advisory Committee 

MEMBER POSITION ORGANISATION

Prof Stephen Ackland Medical Oncologist Newcastle Mater Misericordiae Hospital

Prof Rob Sanson-Fisher Acting Chief Cancer Officer and CEO Cancer Institute NSW

Ms Mercia Bush                   Community Representative

A/Prof Christine Clarke Research Group Leader Westmead Institute for Cancer Research

Prof Enrico Coiera Director The Heart Research Institute

Prof Roger Daly Head, Signal Transduction Group Garvan Institute of Medical Research

Ms Cheryl Grant Consumer Representative Cancer Voices NSW

Prof Peter Gunning (Chair)  Head, Oncology Research Unit University of New South Wales

Prof Philip Hogg Senior Principal Research Fellow University of New South Wales

Prof Douglas Joshua Director, The Institute of Haematology Royal Prince Alfred Hospital

Dr Deborah Marsh Head, Functional Genomics Laboratory Kolling Institute of Medical Research

Prof Murray David Norris Executive Director Children’s Cancer Institute Australia

Prof John Rasko Haematologist Royal Prince Alfred Hospital

Prof Rodney Scott Director of the Division of Genetics John Hunter Hospital

Prof Robyn Ward Medical Oncologist St Vincent’s Hospital
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NSW Population and Health Services Research Ethics Committee 

MEMBER POSITION ORGANISATION

Prof Richard Madden Chairperson University of Sydney

Dr Sallie Pearson (Deputy Chair) Clinical Research University of NSW

Dr Vanessa Hayes Research Experience CCIA

Ms Patricia Kenny Research Experience UTS

Mr Anthony Kolbe Research Experience GSAHS

Prof Andrew Grulich Research Experience UNSW

Dr Madeleine King Research Experience University of Sydney

Dr Andrew Biankin Research Experience Garvan Medical Research Institute

Prof Kathryn Refshauge Professional Care University of Sydney

Dr Lyndal Trevena Professional Care University of Sydney

Dr Bettina Meiser Professional Care UNSW

Ms Rachel Willims Lay Member

Ms Alana Klingenberg Lay Member

Mr Michael Costello Lay Member

Dr Isabel Karpin Legal Member UTS

Rabbi Jeffrey Cohen Religious Member

Rev. Jonathon Humphries Religious Member

Daniel Belshaw Public Health Officer (Trainee) NSW Health

Dr Jo Mitchell CHO nominee NSW Health

 
Clinical Research Ethics Committee 

MEMBER POSITION ORGANISATION

Professor Ian Olver Chairperson Cancer Council Australia

Dr  Winston Liauw (Deputy Chair) Research Experience St George Hospital

Dr Meera Agar Research Experience Braeside Hospital

Dr Colum Smith Research Experience Hunter New England AHS

Clinical Professor Peter Shaw Professional Care Children’s Hospital

Dr Yaw Sinn Chin Professional Care St George Hospital

Prof Neil Merrett Professional Care UWS

Dr Stephen Goodall Professional Care UTS

Ms Trisha Brisley Professional Care RNSH

Mr  Chris Hodgkins Professional Care BMO

Mr Andrew Heys Lay member

Ms Lynn Hegarty Lay member

Ms Myree Schuman Lay member

Ms Simone Herbert-Lowe Legal Member Law Cover of NSW

Dr Kristin Savell Legal Member University of Sydney

Rabbi Dovid Slavin Religious Member

Dr Hazel Elliot Religious Member
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Statutory committees (continued)

Clinical Services Advisory Committee 
 
MEMBER POSITION ORGANISATION

A/Professor Paul Harnett Director Area Cancer Services Sydney West Area Health Service

Dr Henry Hicks Clinical Director for Cancer Services Greater Southern Area Health Service

Professor Clifford Hughes    CEO Clinical Excellence Commission

Ms Ruth Jones Manager Area Cancer and Palliative Care 
Services

Greater Western Area Health Service

Dr Catherine Mason Senior Staff Specialist, Director of Psycho-
Oncology

Sydney West Cancer Network

Ms Kathy Meleady Director, Statewide Services Development NSW Department of Health

Ms Christine Packer Cancer Services Development Manager Greater Southern Area Health Service

A/Professor Tom Shakespeare Director Area Cancer Services North Coast Area Health Service

Professor Colum Smith Director Area Cancer Services Hunter & New England Area Health Service

Professor Allan Spigelman Head Surgical Professorial Unit, Director of 
Cancer Services

St Vincent’s Hospital & Mater Health Sydney

Professor Robin Stuart-Harris Medical Oncologist Capital Region Cancer Service

Dr Craig Underhill Clinical Director for Cancer Services Greater Southern Area Health Service

Dr Amanda Walker Staff Specialist Camden Hospital

Professor Robyn Ward Director Area Cancer Services South Eastern Sydney & Illawarra Area 
Health Service

Professor Kate White Cancer Institute of NSW Chair Cancer Nursing Sydney Cancer Centre, Royal Prince Alfred 
Hospital & University of Sydney

 
 
Quality and Clinical Effectiveness Advisory Committee

MEMBER POSITION ORGANISATION

Professor Cliff Hughes Chief Executive Officer Clinical Excellence Commission

Dr Karen Luxford Program Director National Breast and Ovarian Cancer Centre

Dr Craig Underhill Clinical Director, Cancer Services Border Medical Oncology

Ms Elisabeth Kochman Consumer Representative Cancer Voices

Ms Christina Brock Consumer Representative

Dr David Townend Breast Surgeon St Vincent’s, Lismore

Ms Maureen Mcgovern Cancer Services Development Manager North Coast Area Health Service

Ms Kathleen Ryan Associate Director, Quality and Safety Branch NSW Department of Health

A/Professor Paul Harnett Director of Area Cancer Services Sydney West Area Health Service

Other committees and working parties for 2008–09 can be found on our website at: cancerinstitute.org.au
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DATE MEDIA RELEASE

5 July 2008 Graphic new anti-smoking ad on screens this weekend

23 July 2008 $1 Million for Cancer Innovations

30 July 2008 Iemma makes Australia’s toughest tobacco laws even stronger

03 August 2008 Olympic-sized Assault on Tobacco

15 August 2008 Everybody knows smoking kills

28 August 2008 Biennial Bowel Cancer Screening life saving and cost effective: New Cancer Institute NSW Report

7 September 2008 Men Urged - Be Aware of Prostate Cancer

10 September 2008 NSW Women at Risk

02 October 2008 Minister Urges: “Have a Mammogram This Month”

16 October 2008 Don’t Just Sit There cervical cancer campaign saving lives across the State

17 October 2008 Rees Government tackles gynaecological cancer practices

21 October 2008 Put 10 years on your life and save NSW billions

27 October 2008 Forum to focus on brain tumour patients and carers

28 October 2008 Minister declares brain tumour forum a meeting of great minds

29 October 2008 Statement regarding the Chief Cancer Officer

13 November 2008 Young Men Are New Focus of Dark Side Of Tanning Campaign 

13 November 2008 Cancer Death Rates Continue to Fall In NSW

14 November 2008 Rees Government protects children from exposure to smoking in cars

30 November 2008 Shave The Mo And Have A Test

30 November 2008 New UV Tool Reports On Daily Skin Cancer Risk

9 December 2008 Minister Welcomes Figures Showing Reduced Smoking Among Young People

10 December 2008 $9 Million for NSW Cancer Specialists

15 December 2008 McKay Endorses Renewed Push for Plain Tobacco Packaging

20 December 2008 Minister announces Best intentions campaign - ‘Never a perfect time to quit smoking’

12 January 2009 Minister announces new research links maternal smoking to childhood cancers

13 January 2009 Digital Mammography in Cootamundra

14 January 2009 Hunter cancer research recognised with funding boost

3 February 2009 $7 million boost for NSW cancer researchers

4 February 2009 Healthier lifestyles needed to avoid the double-dip of cancer on lives and the economy

4 February 2009 NSW launches cutting-edge BreastScreen Reading and Radiology Training and Education Centre

5 February 2009 Call for top cancer award nominations

8 February 2009 Get off cigarettes for good

12 February 2009 Lifestyle Cancers Continue to Increase in NSW

19 February 2009 Minister McKay congratulates Professor Jim Bishop on Federal appointment

22 February 2009 Cigarettes are eating you alive

25 February 2009 Release of new clinical guidelines to coincide with Ovarian Cancer Month and Teal Ribbon Day

27 February 2009 Illawarra to go digital

 

Media releases
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Media releases (continued)

DATE MEDIA RELEASE

27 March 2009 National Youth Tobacco Free Day - Cigarettes will eat you alive

2 April 2009 NSW Government welcomes Pap test figures

5 April 2009 Tough new tobacco laws come into force

5 April 2009 NSW sees light on the dark side of tanning

21 April 2009 Deputy Premier launches new campaign: Take the time for a mammogram before breast cancer Takes 
You Away

2 May 2009 Minister McKay announces release of cancer prevention guidelines

4 May 2009 First ever academic chair in cancer nursing for NSW

11 May 2009 Strengthening Safety Requirements for Tanning Units

21 May 2009 Professor Philip Hogg Receives State’s Top Cancer Research Honour

31 May 2009 World No Tobacco Day ... Graphic Health Warnings

5 June 2009 Tribute to Chris O’Brien

13 June 2009 Time running out for free cervical cancer vaccine

Ministerial representations received 
 

ITEM 2008–09

Ministerial correspondence and brief requests (NSW Health) Ministerials = 52

Briefs  = 29
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Reports
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Tracey E, Alam N, Chen W, Bishop J,. Cancer in New South 
Wales: Incidence and Mortality 2006. Sydney:  Cancer Institute 
NSW, November 2008.
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February 2009.

Perez D, Hardy M, Pimenta N, Walsberger S, Dessaix A, Lewis 
S, Cotter T, Bishop J. BreastScreen NSW Cherry and 
Pea Campaign 2006–07. Sydney: Cancer Institute NSW, 
March 2009.

Adams P, Pearse J, Sinclair S, Bishop J. Ambulatory / Outpatient 
Chemotherapy and Haematology Services in New South Wales. 
Sydney: Cancer Institute NSW, April 2009.

Bullivant C. NSWOG Evaluation Report: New South Wales 
Oncology Group – Program Evaluation 2006–2008. Sydney: 
Cancer Institute NSW, April 2009.

NSW Cancer Research Achievement Report 2009, Cancer 
Institute NSW, Sydney, May 2009.

Monographs

Bishop J, Glass P, Tracey E, Hardy M, Warner K, Makino K, 
Gordois A, Wilson J, Guarnieri C, Feng J, Sartori L . Health 
Economics Review of Bowel Cancer Screening in Australia. Cancer 
Institute NSW, August 2008.

Perez D, Cotter T, Makino K, Bhatti T, Gordois A, Guarnieri C, 
Lewis S, Glass P, Bishop J. Pharmacotherapy Evaluation: Drugs 
that assist smoking cessation. Sydney: Cancer Institute NSW, 
October 2008.

Glass P, Tracey E, Smetanin P, Kobak P, Pavlichev A, Bishop J.  
Lives at Risk from Cancer in NSW 2007–2036. Sydney: Cancer 
Institute NSW, December 2008.

 

Perez D, Cotter T, Pennay D, Honey N, Hardy M, Lewis S, 
Bishop JF. Bowel Cancer Awareness in NSW: Evaluation of the 
2007 Bowel Cancer Awareness Campaign. Sydney: Cancer 
Institute NSW, December 2008.

Perez D, Hardy M, Walsberger S, Morell S, Hung A, Pennay D, 
Cotter T, Bishop J. NSW Cervical Screening Campaign Evaluation. 
Sydney: Cancer Institute NSW, February 2009

Stavrou E, Baker D, Bishop J.  Kidney Cancer in New South 
Wales. Sydney: Cancer Institute NSW, February 2009.

Alam N, Chen W, Baker D, Bishop J.  Liver Cancer in New South 
Wales. Sydney: Cancer Institute NSW, February 2009.

Stavrou EP, Baker D, Bishop J, McElroy HJ.  Oesophageal 
Cancer in New South Wales. Sydney: Cancer Institute NSW, 
February 2009.

Duncombe J, Stavrou E, Chen W, Baker D, Tracey E, Bishop 
JF.  Bladder cancer in New South Wales. Sydney: Cancer Institute 
NSW, February 2009.

Perez D, Hardy M, Walsberger S, Morrell S, Hung A, Pennay D, 
Cotter T, Lewis S, Bishop J.  Don’t Just Sit There: NSW Cervical 
Screening Campaign Evaluation. Sydney: Cancer Institute NSW, 
February 2009.

Bullivant C, O’Brien T, Anns M, Lean C, Sinclair S, Bishop J. 
Adolescents, Young Adults and Cancer in New South Wales. 
Sydney: Cancer Institute NSW, April 2009.

Alam N, You H, Banks C, Baker D, Bishop J.  Prostate Cancer in 
New South Wales. Sydney: Cancer Institute NSW,  June 2009.

Literature reviews

Rushton S, Bichel-Findlay J, Ward R, Sinclair S. Using an IT 
Platform to Deliver Standardised Cancer Information at The Point 
of Care, August 2008.

Smoking and Mental Illness, Other Drug and Alcohol Addictions 
and Prisons.  Sydney: Cancer Institute NSW, September 2008.

Adams P, Hardwick J, Embree V, Sinclair S, Bishop J. Literature 
Review: Models of Cancer Services for Rural and Remote 
Communities. Sydney: Cancer Institute NSW, March 2009.

Discussion papers

Shared Care Models: A high-level literature review, February 2009.

The transition of the basic sciences in oncology course: 
Incorporating stakeholder feedback, June, 2009.

Strategic leadership, culture and change in health services, 
June, 2009.

Publications
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Publications (continued)

Abstracts (posters for conferences)

August 2008 
 
Multidisciplinary Teams working in a Clinical Network of Services 
 
Cancer Care Satisfaction Survey: Understanding the Australian  
experience 
 
Ten-year Projections of Burden of Breast Cancer in NSW 
 
September 2008
 
Stakeholder Focussed Evaluation of a Pilot Cancer Services Accreditation 
Program in NSW Informs Program Direction 
 
Redefining Care - A Cancer Institute NSW Initiative 
 
October 2008 
 
Methods in Achieving Best Clinical Practice in Haematology 
 
Development and Pilot Evaluation of an Accreditation Program for 
Cancer Services 
 
Burden of Lung Cancer in NSW 
 
Oesophageal cancer and survival associated with surgery 
 
November 2008 
 
Anomalies in Registering Bladder Cancer in NSW 
 
NSW Cancer Outpatient Satisfaction Survey: Improved Information on 
treatment and daily living required 
 
Challenging misperceptions about melanoma: outcomes of the Dark 
Side of Tanning Campaign 
 
The impact of cognitive and behavioural sequelae in patients with 
primary brain tumour on family members 
 
Adolescent & Young Adult (AYA) cancer in NSW 
 
Challenges & opportunities for urological cancer services in NSW 
 
Survival from cancer in NSW adolescents & young adults 
 
Prognosis of long term survivors of cancer in NSW & Dutch patients 
1980 to 2004 
 
Evaluation of a pilot NSW Cancer Services accreditation program 
 
Melanoma Research Activity in NSW: 2001-2006 
 
Enrolment of patients to clinical trials in haematological cancer in NSW: 
Current status, perceived barriers and opportunities for improvement 
 

Multidisciplinary teams in cancer care: outcome measures and perfor-
mance indicators - what is meaningful?

Upper GI Research Activity in NSW: 2001-2006 
 
Understanding Young People’s attitudes to melanoma 
 
Utilising commonwealth rebates for medical practitioners participation in 
Cancer Case Conferences 
 
A survey of the information needs of people with head and neck cancer 
and their relatives resident in the south west of Sydney 
 
NSW Cancer Trials Network - Trial Portfolio and Web listing 
 
Evidence, Collaboration and Consensus IN - Standardised Nursing Proto-
cols, Procedures and Information OUT 
 
Developing a national standard for structured pathology reporting of 
cancer 
 
February 2009
 
Process Oriented Sharing of Resources 
 
Squeezing new life out of an old Sponge 
 
March 2009
 
Radiotherapy Business Improvement Process 
 
April 2009
 
Multi-tiered intervention study for patients, carers and health providers 
to address challenging behaviours after brain tumour 
 
May 2009
 
 Patient Functional Status is Strongest Correlate of Challenging Behaviour 
After Brain Tumour 
 
The prevalence of Behavioural and Executive Cognitive Sequelae in 
Patients with Primary Brain Tumour and the Development of Information 
Resources
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Factsheets

Contacting family members about hereditary cancer

Review of access to complementary therapies in NSW  
cancer services

Hereditary Non-polyposis Colorectal Cancer – HNPCC

Neuro-oncology factsheets

Can’t seem to get yourself going…?

Are you having trouble with your temper?

Are you feeling tense, nervous and overwhelmed?

Do you feel exhausted or tired a lot of the time?

Can’t seem to think straight?

Can’t seem to say or do the right things at the right time?

Do you feel that you are on an emotional roller coaster?

When you keep forgetting things?

Are you having difficulty staying on task?

When you can’t find the word or talk too much?

Feeling lost, not knowing where you are?

When you repeat yourself or get stuck like a broken record

Do you only think about yourself and not see anyone else’s point 
of view?

When how you look no longer seems to be important

Do you feel sad, tearful, can’t seem to enjoy yourself?

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The facts about cancer in NSW

Bladder cancer in NSW

Bowel cancer in NSW

Brain cancer in NSW

Breast cancer in NSW

Cancer of unknown primary in NSW

Cervical cancer in NSW

Head and neck cancer in NSW

Kidney cancer in NSW

Leukaemia in NSW

Liver cancer in NSW

Lung cancer in NSW

Melanoma in NSW

Mesothelioma in NSW

Multiple myeloma in NSW

Non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma in NSW

Oesophageal cancer in NSW

Ovarian cancer in NSW

Pancreatic cancer in NSW

Prostate cancer in NSW

Stomach cancer in NSW

Testicular cancer in NSW

Thyroid cancer in NSW

Uterine cancer in NSW
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Journal articles

DATE JOURNAL ARTICLE

October 2008 Australia and New Zealand 
Journal of Public Health

Degree-of-spread artefact in the NSW Central Cancer Registry

Barraclough H, Morrell S, Arcorace M, McElroy HJ, Baker DF

November 2008 International Journal of Cancer Risk of second primary cancer among patients with head and neck 
cancers: A pooled analysis of 13 cancer registries

Chuang SC, Scelo G, Tonita JM, Tamaro S, Jonasson JG, Kliewer EV, 
Hemminki K, Weiderpass E, Pukkala E, Tracey E, Friis S, Pompe-Kirn V, 
Brewster DH, Martos C, Chia KS, Boffetta P, Brennan P, Hashibe M.

May 2009 International Journal of Cancer Large differences in patterns of breast cancer survival between 
Australia and England: A comparative study using cancer registry data

Woods LM, Rachet B, O’Connell D, Lawrence G, Tracey E, Willmore A, 
Coleman MP.

May 2009 BJU International Bladder cancer survivals in New South Wales, Australia: why do 
women have poorer survival than men?

Tracey E, Roder D, Luke C, Bishop J.

May 2009 International Medical Journal Exploring contrary trends in bladder cancer incidence, mortality and 
survival: implications for research and cancer control

Luke C, Tracey E, Stapleton A and Roder D

May 2009 International Journal of 
Gynaecological Cancer

Reasons for Improved Survival From Ovarian Cancer in New South 
Wales, Australia, Between 1980 and 2003: Implications for Cancer 
Control 

Tracey, Elizabeth A. BSc, MPH; Roder, David M. BDS, MPH, DDSc; 
Francis, Jane MA, MPH; Zorbas, Helen M. MBBS, FASBP, MAICD; 
Hacker, Neville F. MD, CGO, FRANZCOG, FRCOG, FACOG, FACS; 
Bishop, James F. MD, MMed, MBBS, FRACP, FRCPA
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Performance Statement

Prof. James F Bishop, AO MD MMed MBBS FRACP FRCPA
Chief Cancer Officer and CEO,
Cancer Institute NSW
Professor of Cancer Medicine, University of Sydney
Contract commenced on 18 August 2003
Total remuneration package: $392,250

Cancer Institute NSW Board, Acting Chair, Jill Boehm, 
conducted Professor Bishop’s mid-year performance review in 
December 2008. The Acting Chair determined that Professor 
Bishop will meet all his objectives as the CEO and Chief 
Cancer Officer.

Professor Bishop resigned as CEO and Chief Cancer Officer of 
the Cancer Institute NSW in April 2009.

Key activities undertaken and achievements of Prof Bishop 
during 2008–09 include:

 
 

Cancer Prevention: 
A Smoking and Health Survey was conducted in March–
April 2009, which included extensive qualitative research 
to understand smokers’ intentions and barriers to quitting; 
the Public Health (Tobacco) Bill was introduced to NSW 
Parliament in September 2008; a new Dark Side of Tanning 
campaign targeting young men was launched November 2008; 
a new breast screening ad Take you away was implemented in 
May–June 2009.

Cancer Screening: 
The number of after hours appointments was increased 
by BreastScreen NSW by more than 13,000 to offer more 
flexibility to women; the BreastScreen NSW client satisfaction 
survey was completed, with 95 per cent of existing clients 
reporting overall satisfaction with BreastScreen services; in 
June 2009, the rollout of digital mammography technology 
across NSW was close to completion with seven of the eight 
Screening and Assessment Services fully equipped with digital 
units in their fixed and mobile sites; BreastScreen NSW and 
the Sydney South West Area Health Service collaborated 
to establish a Screen Reading Centre and a State Radiology, 
Training, Research and Education Centre.
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STAFF PURPOSE/CONFERENCE PLACE DATE

Aisling Kelly The 45th American Society Of Clinical Oncology 
Annual Meeting

Florida, USA 29/05/2009 - 02/06/2009

Catherine Bourgeois DIA 45th Annual Conference San Diego, USA 21/06/2009 - 25/06/2009

Catherine Bourgeois Bio 09 Conference Atlanta, USA 18/05/2009 - 21/05/2009

Catherine Bourgeois HOSPIMedica Asia Conference Singapore 17/09/2008 - 19/09/2008

Jill Miller The 3rd International PACS and Teleradiology 
Symposium 2009

Singapore 03/04/2009 - 05/04/2009

Peter Wejbora Annual conference of the American Association 
of Cancer Research (AACR)

Denver, USA 18/04/2009 - 22/04/2009

Philippa Cahill International Conference on Cancer Nursing 
(ICCN)

Singapore 17/08/2008 - 21/08/2008

Prof Jim Bishop International Union Against Cancer - UICC 
World Cancer Congress 2008 

Geneva, Switzerland 27/08/2008 - 31/08/2008

Shelly Rushton The 14th Annual National Comprehensive 
Cancer Network (NCCN) Conference

Florida, USA 11/03/2009 - 15/03/2009

Sue Sinclair International Union Against Cancer - UICC 
World Cancer Congress 2008 

Geneva, Switzerland 27/08/2008 - 31/08/2008

NON-STAFF PURPOSE/CONFERENCE PLACE DATE

Bill Evans Attend Cancer Services Review of South Eastern 
Sydney Illawarra AHS

Travelled From 
Toronto, Canada

15/02/2009 - 19/02/2009

John Srigley Structured Pathology Reporting - Working Party Travelled from 
Wellington, New 
Zealand

25/03/2009 - 26/03/2009

ffff

Cancer Services and Education: 
2008 patient satisfaction survey completed; the Cancer 
Institute NSW provided funding for 132.7 clinical positions; 
between 2006 and 2008, 16 new multidisciplinary teams 
(MDTs) were established; the first academic chair in cancer 
nursing for NSW was appointed. 

Cancer Research: 
18 Research Innovation grants were funded out of a total of 
78 applications; 16 equipment grants were awarded; six new 
clinical trial nurse and data manager positions were established 
as well as top up funding provided for a further three 
positions to upgrade them from 0.5 to full-time status; the 
Gastroenterology and Hepatology unit at Westmead Hospital 
was funded to conduct clinical trials.

Cancer Information and Registries:  
Five new reports in the tumour series were published; two 
bladder cancer papers were published; a comparative study 
of breast cancer in the UK and NSW was published in March 

and May 2009; the Cancer Notification Portal (CNP) was 
implemented in more than 60 per cent of private hospitals; 
the Centre for Health Record Linkage (CHeReL) has enabled 
more than 35 linkage projects; we received170 ad hoc requests 
for data from the NSW Central Cancer Registry.

Corporate Governance: 
An integrated management system was introduced across 
the organisation that incorporated: complaints management, 
ICT service management, ICT recovery management, 
compliance management, business continuity management, 
information security management, knowledge management and 
environmental management policies. The implementation and 
monitoring of these policies will be ongoing.

Financial and budgetary management was well managed with 
the external audit resulting in an unmodified outcome.

Overseas visits
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Disability action planning

The Cancer Institute NSW is committed to ensuring that people 
with a disability in NSW are able to access our services, facilities and 
jobs on an equitable basis through the delivery of better services 
that promote fairness and opportunity for all citizens. 
 
Over the past year, the Cancer Institute has formalised and 
documented its Disability Action Plan in line with the guidelines 
and frameworks published by the NSW Department of Ageing, 
Disability and Home Care (DADHC).  
 
Our Disability Action Plan includes initiatives which support the 
NSW government’s commitments to:

• identifying and removing barriers to services for people with a 
disability

• providing information in a range of formats that are accessible 
to people with a disability

• making our workplaces and facilities physically accessible to 
people with a disability

• assisting people with a disability to participate in public 
consultations and to apply for and participate in government 
advisory boards and committees

• providing information about cancer for the visually impaired: in 
large text, Braille, e-text and audio formats available at: www.
cancerinstitute.org.au/cancer_inst/factsheets/

•  increasing employment participation of people with a disability 
in the NSW public sector.

Ethnic Affairs Priorities Statement

The Cancer Institute NSW recognises the cultural and linguistic 
diversity of the NSW community and we are committed to 
ensuring that our services are provided in a culturally appropriate 
and competent manner.

Our Ethnic Affairs Priority Statement (EAPS) Management Plan 
sets out strategies for ensuring our services are accessible to 
all members of the public, including those from culturally and 
linguistically diverse communities who may otherwise face difficulties 
in finding out about our services and understanding how we may be 
able to help them.

Specifically, our EAPS Management Plan aims to improve community 
access to cancer services across NSW thus enhancing the quality of 
care and the health of the community.

The Cancer Institute NSW also works closely with NSW Health 
and Area Health Services across NSW who are responsible for 
the delivery of cancer services. Each of these organisations have 
implemented measures that are aimed at improving community 
access to cancer services across NSW that recognise the cultural 
and linguistic diversity of the NSW community. 
 

NSW Government Action Plan for Women
The NSW Government Action Plan for Women outlines the 
Government’s commitments, priorities and initiatives for women. 
The Action Plan focuses on initiatives specially designed to meet 
women’s needs and ways in which Government agencies take 
account of women in delivering their core services.

In the case of the Cancer Institute NSW this is especially relevant 
with respect to women’s health issues and in particular our 
programs and services that address the prevention, early detection 
and treatment of cancers in women.

The Cancer Institute NSW has statutory responsibilities to 
substantially improve cancer control in NSW and has developed, 
through the NSW Cancer Plan 2007–2010, initiatives and programs 
that are directly aimed at improving the health and quality of life of 
women in NSW.

Our programs aimed at women also recognise the Women’s 
Health Outcomes Framework developed by NSW Health, which 
provides a framework for advancing the health and wellbeing of 
disadvantaged women in NSW. Our major program and campaign 
areas that address the prevention, early detection and treatment of 
cancers in women are:

BreastScreen NSW

BreastScreen NSW is a free breast screening service targeting 
women aged 50 to 69 years and is available to all women over 40 
years of age. This service is managed by the Cancer Institute NSW 
and aims to detect breast cancer in its early stages, when treatment 
can be most effective.

NSW Pap Test Register

The Pap Test Register provides a followup and reminder service  
to women to encourage them to have regular Pap tests every  
two years.

NSW Cervical Screen Program

Develops and implements strategies to recruit all women in the 
target groups to undergo regular two-yearly Pap tests, including 
providing appropriate information and ensuring access to 
appropriate services.

• Supports general practitioner structures and activities to  
facilitate their primary role in developing acceptable Pap test 
services to women.

• Works with laboratories to optimise their role in  
cervical screening.

• Promotes best clinical practice in cervical screening.

• Undertakes ongoing operations-oriented research,  
monitoring and evaluation to support and guide the  
directions of the Program.

ffff



CANCER INSTITUTE NSW  APPENDIXES /129

CANCER INSTITUTE NSW ANNUAL REPORT 2009

Accreditation 
The process by which a private or public agency evaluates and 
recognises an institution as fulfilling applicable standards. The 
determination that an institution meets these standards is also 
referred to as accreditation of the program or institution.

Ambulatory care 
Health services provided without the patient being admitted to 
hospital. Also called outpatient care.

Cancer control 
An integrated and coordinated approach to reducing cancer 
incidence, morbidity and mortality through prevention, early 
detection, treatment, rehabilitation and palliation.

Cancer incidence 
The number of new cases of cancer occurring in a defined 
population during a given period.

Cancer mortality 
Deaths from cancer in a defined population during a specified 
period. It may be used to denote numbers or rates.

Cancer nurse coordinator 
A nurse with specialist and expert training in cancer care who 
facilitates patient centred cancer care, and continuity of care 
throughout the patient’s care journey.

Cancer prevalence 
Cancer prevalence is defined as the number of people alive 
on a certain date in a population who have been previously 
diagnosed with the disease. It includes new cancers (incidence) 
and pre-existing cancers and represents the number of people 
both newly diagnosed and surviving.

Cases 
These are individual cancers. A person may have more than 
one cancer, giving rise to multiple cases in the same person. 
Second cases in one person are counted only if they are of 
different cell type or originate in a different organ.

Central Cancer Registry 
Also known as a population-based cancer registry. Central cancer 
registries collect incidence and survival data on all cancer patients 
who reside in a defined geographical area or who are diagnosed 
and/or treated for cancer in a geographical area. Population-
based cancer registries are essential for assessing the extent of 
cancer burden in a specific geographic area.

Clinical Cancer Registry 
Cancer information system that allows monitoring of quality of 
care and outcomes for cancer patients and their carers.

Clinical practice guidelines 
Published guidelines issued by a central authority that are 
aimed at informing medical practitioners of treatment and 
investigation methods preferred by experts and/or proven  
by research.

 
 
 
 

Clinical trial 
Research conducted with the patient’s permission, usually 
involving a comparison of two or more treatments or diagnostic 
methods, with the aim of gaining better understanding of the 
underlying disease process and/ or methods by which it may  
be treated. A clinical trial is conducted with rigorous scientific 
method for determining the effectiveness of a proposed treatment.

Community 
The broad range of stakeholders with an interest in health 
services. This includes individual consumers, organisations and 
groups, health professionals and specific populations. (Source: 
NSW Department of Health, Circular 2003/1, January 2003).

Consumer 
An individual who uses or is a potential user of health services, 
including the family and carers of patients and clients. (Source: 
NSW Department of Health, Circular 2003/1, January 2003).

Crude rate 
An estimate of the proportion of a population that is diagnosed 
with (or dies from) cancer during a specified period. It is usually 
expressed per 100,000 people in the population per year.

Multidisciplinary care 
An approach combining the knowledge, skills and expertise of a 
range of organisations and professionals, whereby all members 
of the team liaise and cooperate together with the patient to  
diagnose, treat and manage the condition to the highest 
possible standard of care.

Oncology 
The science of the treatment of malignant cancers, either  
with surgery, radiotherapy, chemotherapy or combinations  
of these modalities.

Population health

The health of groups, families and communities. Populations 
may be defined by locality, biological criteria such as age or 
gender, social criteria such as socioeconomic status, or cultural 
criteria.

Population health outcomes 
Used to describe a change in the health status of a population 
due to a planned program or series of programs, regardless of 
whether such programs were intended to change health status.

Population screening 
The process of looking for disease in a defined population that 
has no obvious symptoms.

Quitline 
Australia-wide telephone information and advice service for 
people who want to quit smoking.

Site 
The place in the body where the cancer occurs.

Glossary
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Dear Minister,

We have pleasure in submitting the Cancer Institute NSW Annual Report 
2009 for presentation to the Parliament of New South Wales in accordance 
with the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984.

This report summarises our performance for 2008–09 against our  
objectives and targets set out in the NSW Cancer Plan 2007–10. It also 
includes our corporate governance processes, comments on our financial 
results and discusses the year ahead.

We commend to you this report on the progress being achieved in the 
cure and control of cancer in NSW.

Dr Helen Zorbas Prof Rob Sanson-Fisher AO  
MBBS FASBP MAICD BPsyc MPsych PhD FAPS

Acting Chairperson  Acting Chief Cancer Officer and 
Board of the Cancer Institute NSW Chief Executive Officer 
 Cancer Institute NSW
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Cancer Institute NSW
Australian Technology Park 

Biomedical Building 
Suite 101, 1 Central Avenue 

Eveleigh NSW 2015
Australia

PO Box 41
Alexandria NSW 1435
Tel: + 61 2 8374 5600
Fax: + 61 2 8374 5700

Email: information@cancerinstitute.org.au
Web: www.cancerinstitute.org.au

Service and business hours: 8.30am – 5.00pm

Quitline: 13 7848 (13 QUIT)

BreastScreen NSW: 13 2050
info@bsnsw.org.au

Cervical Screening: 13 1556
cervicalscreening@cancerinstitute.org.au

Bowel Screening: 1800 118 868
(National Bowel Cancer Screening Program Information Line)

C
ancer Institute N

SW
 A

nnual R
epo

rt 2009 
T

he cancer jo
urney

Prevention

Screening

Data  
collection

Patient care
Research

Cure

ANNUAL REPORT 2009

The cancer journey

!




